e

!
|




"With our solid business model, continued profitability and
diligent management of expenses, we are confident we
will continue to offer positive results to stockholders.”

- Kevin C. Hell

Chief Executive Officer
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THE DIVX CONSUMER DIGITAL MEDIA EXPERIENCE

From the PC

.-to the living room

...and on the go

DivX: The standard for high-quality digital video on any device

(o [\V5 7

The gaming conscle market opened up for DivXin a
meaningful way in 2007 with the Sony PlayStation 3.
Over nine million units of the 53 shipped worldwide
during 2007, alt of which are now able to play DivX
video through a simple firmware upgrade. Our PS3
relationship is key in another respect, given the fact
that the device is the best-selling Blu-ray player

in the world.

The mobile category represents another significant
area of facus for our licensing business. In 2007, the LG
Viewty, a sleek multimedia phene, was ameang the first
to receive DivX Certification. The LG Viewty outsold its
predecessor, the popular LG Chocolate phone, in key
markets and continues to draw a great deal of interest
and consumer demand.

Our second key area of focus is DivX Connected. An
important piece of our overall strategy, DivX Connected
is an early-stage initiative that enables consumers to
stream high-quality video, music, photos and Internet
services directly to the living room on affordable
consumer electronics devices from our partners. DivX
Connected provides an experience similar to that of
AppleTV but is not limited to a stand-alone box—it is
an experience that can be embedded in a wide variety
of different devices, potentially including digital
televisions, gaming consoles and others.

Content solutions, the third focus of our business, is

an area where we made real progress in the last half
of 2007. We signed a milestone agreement with Sony
Pictures Television, our first major Hollywood studio.

Through this deal, content retailers can securely
distribute the entire Sony Pictures television and
motion picture digital catalogue to the millions of DivX
certified devices, from a DVD player in the living room
to a mobile phone on the go. We are working diligently
to partner with major retailers and strike similar deals
with additional premium content providers as part of

our “powered by DivX" strategy.

With our solid business model, continued profitability
and diligent management of expenses, we are confident
we will continue to offer positive results to stockholders.
We are equally confident that throughout 2008 you will
see DivX develop an even stronger leadership position
as a true global standard for digital video that gives
consumers the freedom to enjoy their content not just
on one screen but anywhere they choose: from the PC to
the tiving room and on the go.

| want to express my gratitude to our dedicated team
of employees and to aur Board of Directors for their
guidance and support. | also extend a special thanks to
our stockholders for their
support and confidence.
We are proud of what we
have accomplished in 2007
and look forward to

a successful 2008,

T e

Kevin C. Hell
Chief Executive Officer
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DEAR DIVX STOCKHOLDERS,

2007 WAS A VERY GOOD YEAR FOR DIVX. WE EXPERIENCED SIGNIFICANT GROWTH ACROSS
ALL AREAS OF THE COMPANY AND MADE REAL STRIDES TOWARD OUR GOAL OF CREATING
A GLOBAL STANDARD FOR HIGH-QUALITY DIGITAL VIDEO ON ANY DEVICE. DIVX IS SOLVING
A VERY REAL PROBLEM FOR DIGITAL MEDIA CONSUMERS. DIVX GIVES CONSUMERS THE
FREEDOM TO ENJOY HIGH-QUALITY DIGITAL VIDEQO CONTENT FROM THE INTERNET ON ANY
DEVICE FROM ANY MANUFACTURER, ENSURING INTEROPERABILITY BETWEEN THE PC, DVD
PLAYERS, MOBILE PHONES, IN-CAR DEVICES, DIGITAL STILL CAMERAS, GAMING CONSOLES

AND MANY OTHER PRODUCTS THAT BEAR THE DIVX LOGO.

Building on a strong technolegy infrastructure and the
commitment and follow-through to execute a well-
defined strategy, DivX achieved a number of important
milestones in 2007.

* We signed a key agreement with Sony Pictures
Television that will enable consumers to purchase
and enjoy secure, high-quality premium content
from a major Hollywood studio in the DivX format
for the first time.

« We saw the first deployment of DivX technology on
a major gaming console with the addition of DivX
playback to the popular Sony PlayStation 3.

* We helped taunch the first consumer product
powered by the DivX Connected platform.

* We completed our first significant acquisition as a
pubtic company with the addition of MainConcept AG,
one of the world's leading suppliers of next-generation
H.264 video technology.

« And, we continued to grow the healthy and profitable
DivX licensing business, with high gross margins and
continued global penetration.

Moving forward, we will grow our business by
focusing on three key areas: the expansion of our
licensing business; the development of our BivX
Connected platform; and the launch of our content
solutions business.

In 2007, we grew our core DVD licensing player
business while making progress in emerging
product categories beyond DVD.

On the DVD front, we continue to solidify our position
as a must-have "checklist” feature on red-laser DYD
players from major manufacturers across the world.
We estimate the overall DivX penetration in the global
market rose to 41% in 2007, compared to approximately
30% in 2006. We successfully renewed or renegotiated
multiyear contracts with key OEM partners, including
Philips, Samsung and LG, which speaks to the heal:h
and vitality of our overall licensing business.

The DivX addressabte market for consumer electrenics
products now extends well beyond DVD to encompiiss
a wide range of devices capable of playing back and
recording digital video. We continue to make progress
in penetrating emerging product categories that will
become increasingly important to the success of our

business over time.

©2007 Sony Computer EnterLainment Inc. All (ghts feserved.
Cesign and specificalions are subject o Shange withgu! nolice.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, or Annual Report, contains forward-looking statements that are based on our
management’s beliefs and assumptions and on information currently available to our management. The forward-
looking statements are contained principally in Item 1—"Business,” Item 1A—"Risk Factors,” Item 7—
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and Item 7A—
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.” Forward-looking statements include informaticn
concerning our possible or assumed future results of operations, business strategies, financing plans, competitive
position, industry environment, potential growth opportunities and the effects of competition. Forward-looking
statements include all staternents that are not historical facts and can be identified by terms such as “anticipates,”
“believes,” “could,” “seeks,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts,”
“projects,” “should,” “will,” *would” or similar expressions and the negatives of those statements.

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause
our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performanczs
or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. We discuss certain of these risks in
greater detail in Item 1A.—"Risk Factors.” Given these uncertainties, you should not place undue reliance on
these forward-looking statements. Also, forward-looking statements represent our management’s beliefs and
assumptions only as of the date of this Annual Report. You should read this Annuai Report and the documents
that we reference herein and have filed as exhibits with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC,
completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we
expect.

Except as required by law, we assume no obligation to update these forward-looking statements publicly, or
to update the reasons actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking
statements, even if new information becomes available in the future.




PARTI
Item 1. Business

DivX overview

DivX was incorporated in Delaware in May 2000. Our principal offices are located at 4780 Eastgate Mail,
San Diego, California 92121, and our telephone number is (858) 882-0600.

DivX is a company making media better through the use of technology. We believe that media is undergoing a
profound transformation that will change how we get information, communicate and express ourselves. This
transformation changes how we think and who we are. We believe that there are opportunities within this
transformation—opportunities to generate tremendous value by meeting the needs of the new media and, more
importantly, opportunities to influence its evolution and development. Our successes to date have been the result
of creating value with and for a broad community of constituents including software vendors, consumer hardware
device manufacturers, content creators and consumers themselves. Like the evolving markets in which we
operate, DivX is open and dynamic.

We create products and services designed to improve the experience of media. Our long-term goal is to allow
creators to have the ability to capture their content in the DivX format using any device or software of their
choosing and to allow consutners of such content to playback and interact with it on any device or platform.

In 2000, the first step towards our goal was to build and release a high-quality video compression-decompression
software library, or codec, to enable distribution of media across the Internet and through recordable media. As a
result, we created the DivX codec, which has been actively sought out and downloaded by consumers over

250 million times, including over 80 million times during the last twelve months. These downloads include those
for which we receive revenue as well as free downloads, such as limited-time trial versions, and downloads
provided as upgrades or support to existing end users of our products. After the significant grass-roots adoption
of our codec, the next step towards our goal was to license similar technology to consumer hardware device
manufacturers and certify their products to ensure the interoperable support of DivX-encoded content. Through
December 31, 2007, over 100 million DivX Certified hardware devices have been shipped worldwide. Qur
customers include major consumer video hardware original equipment manufacturers. We are entitled to receive
a royalty and/for license fee for DivX Certified devices our customers ship. In addition to technology licensing to
consumer hardware device manufacturers, we currently generate revenue from software licensing, advertising
and content distribution.

Complementing our organic growth since 2000, in November 2007, we acquired MainConcept AG, a leading
provider of H.264 and other high-quality video codecs and technologies for the broadcast, film, consumer
electronics and computer software markets. Through integration, we expect to realize additional opportunities
both in our core markets and in related emerging markets that will help advance our long-term goal.

Our next steps, which we have begun working toward, are to bring together the millions of DivX consumers with
content creators both large and small to build communities around media, including through the development and
licensing of media distribution platforms and services for [nternet and consumer electronics devices. We are
optimistic about the future and believe the opportunity for DivX is enly beginning to be realized.

The DivX solution

DivX has developed a solution to address the opportunity created by the transformation of content. Specifically,
we have built the technological platform and galvanized the community necessary to enable a digital media
ecosystem of consumers, content creators, software vendors, hardware device manufacturers and advertisers,
allowing all to benefit from the participation of each other.




The following illustration depicts how DivX provides the foundation and connection for the participants in the
digital media ecosystem, all of whom ultimately work to benefit the consumer:

The benefits of DivX to the digital media ecosystem

To hardware manufacturers: Te content creators:

« Technoiogy licensing enabling the creation + A large and growing user community
and playback of DivX-encoded content * A large and growing consumar

s Commeon format for interoperability hardware device base
with multipla devices + A secure, high-quality

+ Access to millions of DivX users distribution format

To software vendors: To advertisers:

« Dlfferentiated creatlon and « A large user base famiilar
playbaci functlonality with digital media

« Interoperability with DivX-encoded » Product promation and
content and consumar hardware devices digtribution channels

Specifically, our ecosystem offers the following benefits to these various participants in the content industry:

To content consumers, the DivX ecosystem provides a high-quality, interoperable digital media format
supported by dozens of software products and over 2,000 models of consumer hardware devices. This
allows users to access a diverse range of content from large and small content creators and to play back this
content when, where and how they want. Moreover, the widespread availability of consumer hardware
devices, software and services within the DivX ecosystem makes creating and sharing content easier and
more fun for a growing community of DivX users.

To content creators, the DivX ecosystem provides the ability to cost-effectively and securely create and
distribute high-quality content to a large market of consumers, and to deliver that content when, where and
how consumers want it. The DivX platform gives content creators access to DivX Certified consumer
hardware devices as well as millions of digital video savvy consumers who have demonstrated their
willingness and ability to seek out high-quality content distributed via the Internet.

To digital media software vendors, the DivX ecosystem allows software vendors to provide easy-to-use
products for the creation and playback of content that is interoperable with all other DivX Certified devices.
By doing so, software vendors can differentiate their products by adding DivX media creation and playback
functionality, and thus providing useful products to maintain and augment their position in the face of
competition from generic operating system bundles.

To consumer hardware device manufacturers, the DivX ecosystem provides the ability to offer recorcing
and playback devices that are interoperable with millions of other DivX Certified devices in a high-qualizy,
secure digital media format that consumers want and use. Manufacturers can thus avoid the cost of
supporting many different incompatible formats, allowing them to remain competitive in the face of
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significant price pressures. Use of DivX technologies and association with the DivX brand enables
manufacturers to participate in new content business madels from content services provided by others in the
DivX ecosystem.

To advertisers, the DivX ecosystem provides access to a large and engaged group of DivX users.

Our strategy

Our strategy is to make media better by supporting the digital media ecosystem. Key elements of our strategy
include:

Growing our core licensing business. We believe that our software and consumer hardware partners are integral
to our success. In hardware, we will focus on increasing the penetration of DivX technologies into the current
and next-generation DVD player market, while simultaneously building on the initial success of DivX
technologies in new categories of consumer hardware devices such as digital video recorders, digital still
cameras, high definition recording and playback devices, mobile phones, portable media players and other
mobile devices. We also plan to advance our new DivX platform technologies into the consumer hardware device
market that will, for example, allow consumers to encode and play back high definition video and access content
on connected networks directly. In software, we plan to enhance the value of the DivX technologies to our
existing software partners by adding new features to the DivX media format and to increase partnerships across
the software market.

Provide platforms to communities of users centered around content. We believe it is a fundamental human desire
to share experiences and be emotionally connected with others. This desire is especially strong around media
experiences, which leads to the creation of communities of individuals with a shared interest in a specific piece
or genre of content. We intend to develop a set of producis and services that will give people a place to meet one
another and build strong relationships around content. We believe these communities, centered around online
video content, will give content creators the ability to build their content brands and generate revenue through
transactions, subscriptions, advertising and other methods.

Develop services around content and advertising that are valued by DivX users and economically valuable to the
larger DivX ecosystem. We plan 10 create services that offer access to content as well as useful and relevant
advertising to DivX users in a way that improves the overall media experience. Too often, advertising detracts
and distracts from the content it accompanies. We are optimistic that advertising can be done in a way that will
enhance the media experience and be valuable to consumers. We have direct access to millions of users to whom
content can be offered and advertising distributed. We intend to work with content creators and advertisers who
share our goal of providing DivX users with services that enhance their experience and respect their privacy.

Expand the DivX ecosystem through partnerships with the community of diverse content creators. We believe the
active engagement of content creators in the DivX ecosystem is essential to realizing the full potential of the
digital media transformation, We plan to continue to develop relationships with premium, mid-tier and individual
content creators. We intend to partner with creators based not only on the economic potential of their content, but
also on the potential for DivX to enhance the value of their content through the power of our platform and
community. We also plan to support our content partners in their plans to distribute their content in the DivX
format through their own various digital distribution channels.

Strengthen the DivX brand. We intend to continue building upon the strength of the DivX brand. We plan to
ensure that in the future the DivX brand continues to be associated only with those products and services that
offer high-quality media experiences, We may also invest in activities beyond our products that are consistent
with the DivX vision of better media.

Pursue selected complementary acquisitions, investments and strategic alliances. When the opportunity presents
itself, we intend to pursue selected acquisitions, investments or alliances that complement and further our
mission to make media better and improve the media experience for consumers. Qur primary objectives in these
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transactions would be to acquire complementary technologies and platforms and expand the consumer and
content portions of our ecosystem. Once we have accomplished such acquisitions, we will spend time and
resources integrating them into our businesses.

Our strengths

We believe that the following key strengths uniquely position DivX to continue to enhance and enrich the digital
media content experience:

Our demonstrated history of success, innovation and ecosystem creation. We have a history of technology
leadership on which we will continue to build. The success of DivX has been driven by the grassroots adoptioa
of our technologies by millions of consumers, due in large part to the strength of our technology. We also have a
demonstrated ability to build technologies that support an ecosystem of diverse participants that gain value frcm
their participation.

Our large installed base. DivX technologies and products have been adopted by millions of users who have
sought it out and chosen to download it. This success encouraged consumer hardware device manufacturers to
build support for DivX technologies into their products. Today over 200 consumer hardware device
manufacturers and over 20 integrated circuit manufacturers, support DivX technologies in over 2,000 models of
consumer hardware devices. Our original equipment manufacturer customers have shipped over 100 million units
worldwide. We believe our large user and consumer hardware installed base places us in a strong position to
benefit from the transformation of the content industry and growing digital content distribution. The DivX media
platform installed base represents a large addressable market for content creators interested in commercial digital
distribution of their content.

The DivX brand. The DivX logo appears on products that incorporate DivX technology and indicates to
consumers that the product meets our strict standards of interoperability and delivers a high-quality DivX media
experience. We believe that consumers recognize the value of the DivX logo, and that this increases the value of
the DivX brand to all other participants in the DivX ecosystem.

Our neutral media technology platform for software, hardware and content. Our technology platform for the
creation, distribution and consumption of media content is not tied exclusively to any specific consumer
hardware device manufacturer, software vendor or content provider. We license our encoding and decoding
technelogies to a wide array of such companies. We believe our neutral platform allows us to bring a diverse set
of powerful interests together in the DivX ecosystem.

Our abiliry to understand and parmer with various constituents of the digital media industry. We have a
demonstrated ability to work with industries that have very different prerogatives and goals. We are as
comfortable working within the explosiveness of the Internet industry as we are within the planned and deliberate
environment of the consumer hardware industry. We believe this ability will serve us well as we work to add
even more diverse participants and industries into the DivX ecosystem.

How we derive revenue

We have four revenue streams. Three of these revenue streams emanate from our technologies, including
technology licensing to producers of consumer hardware devices, licenses to independent software vendors and
consumers, and services we provide related to digital media distribution over the Internet. Additionally, we
derive revenues from advertising and distributing third-party products on our website.

Consumer hardware technology licensing. Qur technology licensing revenues from consumer hardware device
manufacturers comprise the majority of our total revenues and are derived primarily from royalties and/or license
fees received from original equipment manufacturers, although related revenues are derived from other membwrs
of the consumer hardware device supply chain. We license our technologies to original equipment manufacturers,
allowing them to build support of DivX technologies into their consumer hardware devices. A majerity of our
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original equipment manufacturer licensees pay us a per unit fee for each DivX Certified device they sell. Our
license agreements with original equipment manufacturers typically range from one to two years, and may
include the payment of initial fees, volume-based royalties and minimum guaranieed velume levels, To ensure
high-quality support of the DivX media format in finished consumer products, we also license our technologies
to those companies who create the major components in those products. These include the integrated circuit
manufacturers who supply the integrated circuits, and the original design manufacturers who create the reference
designs, for DVD players, digital still cameras and the other consumer hardware devices distributed by our
licensee original equipment manufacturers. One of our original equipment manufacturer customers, LG
Electronics, Inc. accounted for approximately 10% of our total net revenue in the fiscal years 2006 and 2007,

To ensure that our licensees’ products conform to our quality standards, we employ a rigorous certification
program. Integrated circuit manufacturers, original design manufacturers and original equipment manufacturers
are required to have their devices tested and certified prior to distribution, Only DivX Certified devices are
permitted to include our logo as evidence that they conform to our quality standards.

In the fiscal years 2005, 2006 and 2007, we derived 71%, 72% and 70%, respectively, of our total net revenues
from licensing our technology to original equipment manufacturers, original design manufacturers and integrated
circuit manufacturers.

Software licensing. We license our technologies to independent software vendors that incorporate our
technologies into software applications for computers and other consumer hardware devices. An independent
software vendor typically pays us an initial license fee, in addition to per-unit royalties based on the number of
products sold that include our technology. We also license our technologies directly to consumers through
several software bundles. We make certain software bundies available free of charge from our website. These
bundles incorporate a version of our codec technology, and allow consumers to play and create content in the
DivX format. We also make available from our website an enhanced version of the free software bundle,
including additional features that increase the quality and control of DivX media playback and creation. This
enhanced version is available free of charge for a limited trial period, which is generally 15 days. At the end of
the trial period, our wsers are invited to purchase a license to one or more components of the enhanced bundle by
making a one time payment to us. If they choose not to do so, they still enjoy playback and creation functionality
equivalent to our free software bundle.

In the fiscal years 2005, 2006 and 2007, we derived 11%, 8% and 8%, respectively, of our total net revenues
from licensing our technology to independent software vendors and licensing our software directly to consumers.

Advertising and third-party product distribution. We derive revenue from advertisements or third party software
applications that we embed in or include with the software bundles we offer to consumers. For example, through
most of 2007, we had agreed with Google to include and distribute the Mozilla Firefox Browser and certain
Google software products with our software products. Google paid us fees based on the number of downloads or
activations of the included software by consumers. This agreement expired on November 30, 2007. Revenues
earned under the Google agreement accounted for approximately 15%, 18% and 17% of our total net revenues in
the fiscal years 2003, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

Beginning in November 2007, we switched from distribution of the Google software, to instead include and
distribute a co-branded Yahoo! toolbar and Internet Explorer browser with our software products. Yahoo! pays
us fees based on the number of certain distributions or installations of the Yahoo! software by consumers.
Yahoo! may terminate the agreement, or the revenue we derive for such periods will be reduced, if we fail to
achieve certain minimum distribution volumes or certain minimum installations of the Yahoo! sofiware for
specific periods described in the agreement. This agreement expires on December 31, 2009, and Yahoo! is under
no obligation to renew this agreement.

In the fiscal years 2005, 2006 and 2007, we derived 15%, 18% and 21%, respectively, of our total net revenues
from the inclusion of advertisements and third party software applications in our software products.
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Digital media distribution. We derive revenue by acting as an application service provider for third party owners
of digital video content. We provide encoding, content storage and distribution services to these third parties in
exchange for a percentage of the revenue they receive from sales of digital content to consumers.

In the fiscal years 2005, 2006 and 2007, we derived 3%, 2% and 1%, respectively, of our total net revenues from
providing content distribution services to third parties.

Since the acquisition of MainConcept in November 2007, we also have generated revenues associated with
MainConcept’s licensing deals in arcas complementary to our existing revenue streams, including through
MainConcept’s focus on the professional sector. MainConcept is the worldwide leading provider of high-quality
codec technology for the broadcast, film, consumer electronics, computer software, medical imaging and security
markets. MainConcept solutions are optimized for various platforms including PCs, set-top boxes, portable
media players and mobile phones. MainConcept supports a wide range of industry standards, including H.26.

Geographic information.

We are a global company with a broad, geographically diverse market presence. For the years 2007, 2006 and
20085, our revenues outside North America comprised 77%, 76% and 78%, respectively, of our total net rever.ues.
In addition, a large number of our consumer hardware device manufacturers are located in Asia, which
comprised 56%, 63% and 59% of our total net revenues for 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

Technologies

Our digital media ecosystem utilizes a series of technologies designed for commercial and consumer users. These
technologies enable users to compress, secure and distribute digital video and otherwise participate in our digital
media ecosystem. The following is a description of the core technologies that form the basis for our digital media
ecosystem.

DivX media format. Our DivX media format is our primary commercial technology, and comprises our DivX
video compression technology, and the DivX file format with its advanced media features and digital rights
management.

DivX video compression technology. Our DivX video compression technology reduces the size of high-quality
video to a level that can be efficiently distributed over broadband networks. The technology utilizes a mixturs of
video compression tools, including some from the MPEG-4 standard, and is capable of producing high-quality
video using only a fraction of the amount of data required by a standard-length DVD. As a result, DivX
technology enables a user to store approximately two hours of high-quality video on a standard CD-R. DivX
technology is designed to offer a balance of compression, complexity and speed. Our technology offers superior
visual guality at a high level of compression. The computational efficiencies of our technology make it suitable
for integration into low-cost consumer hardware devices and its speed makes it useful in both consumer and
professional content creation and editing environments. DivX video technology can be used on video sources
with sizes ranging from high definition quality video to video resolutions suitable for a mobile environment.

DivX file format. Our DivX file format is designed to hold multimedia data and metadata. It is based on the
Resource Interchange File Format, which by design gives it some compatibility with other Resource Interchange
File Format based file formats such as the Audio Video Interleave file format.

DivX advanced media features. DivX advanced media features enable DivX users to create enhanced digitat
media files, including features in the files themselves that are normally associated with the physical media or
playback device used, such as DVD-like menus, user-selected multiple-language audio tracks, subtitles, and
metadata that altow the content creator to add descriptive information such as title, author and video
specifications.




Digital rights management. We have developed a digital rights management technology that encrypts and
manages the playback of protected DivX content on personal computers and consumer hardware devices. When
implemented, it ensures that digital video is delivered in a secure manner and used in accordance with rules
defined by its publisher. Our digital rights management technology is designed to require minimal system
resources, allowing it to be implemented on low-cost consumer hardware devices.

Products and services

Our technologies are incorporated into several software product bundles that we offer directly to consumers, as
well as software development kits that we license to hardware and software companies. We also offer
certification services to software and hardware companies, and operate a digital media distribution system in
which we act as an application service provider to third party content owners.

Consumer software

In addition to the third-party consumer software products that our technologies power, we offer several programs
to coensumers directly. These programs include the following:

DivX for Windows bundle. Our DivX for Windows bundle includes our DivX community codec, DivX Player
and DivX Web Player. The bundle also includes free trial versions of the Windows versions of the DivX
Converter and the DivX Pro video codec.

DivX Pro for Windows bundle. Like our DivX for Windows bundle, the DivX Pro for Windows bundle includes
our DivX Player, and DivX Web Player. However, instead of our DivX community codec, this bundle includes
our DivX Pro video codec and additionally includes the DivX Converter application.

DivX for Mac bundie. Our DivX for Mac bundle includes Mac OS versions of our DivX community codec, DivX
Player and DivX Web Player. The bundle also includes free trial versions of the Mac OS versions of the DivX
Converter and the DivX Pro video codec. The DivX for Mac software bundle does not yet support the advanced
media features of the DivX format.

DivX Pro for Mac bundie. Our DivX Pro for Mac bundle includes all of the components of the DivX for Mac
bundle as well as Mac OS versions of the DivX Converter application and the DivX Pro video codec.

DivX Mobile Player. Gur DivX Mobile Player is available for certain mobile handsets, and allows users to
playback DivX videos on their handsets from a variety of sources, including side-loading from memory
cards or downloaded from the Internet, including DivX’s own mobile portal.

DivX Author. Our DivX Author application is available for the Windows OS and allows users to combine and
edit multiple videos into a single DivX video, add the advanced features of the DivX format to enhance digital
media files, and create slideshows with videos, photos and music.

Technology licensing for independent software vendors and consumer hardware device manufacturers

Software development kits. We typically make our technologies available to partners via software development
kits. For hardware licensees, we have “decode” and “‘encode” software development kits that enable hardware
partners to build DivX playback and recording support, respectively, into their products. For software licensees,
we offer several software development kits that allow software vendors to build DivX playback and creation
support into their products,

Certification Programs. Integrated circuit manufacturers, original design manufacturers, original equipment
manufacturers and software vendors are required to have their products certified prior to being marketed as DivX
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Certified or DivX Ultra Certified products. For example, integrated circuit manufacturers typically receive a
software development kit and certification kit from us, which they use to design a DivX Certified integrated
circuit. Manufacturers may distribute those integrated circuits to DivX-licensed original equipment
manufacturers and original design manufactarers for inclusion in DivX Certified devices only after those
integrated circuits are certified. Similarly, original design manufacturers, original equipment manufacturers and
software vendors must have their products certified prior to being marketed as DivX Certified products. We
currently offer the following certification programs:

DivX Certified

The DivX Certified Program certifies hardware devices and software applications for the creation and
playback of DivX video. DivX Certified hardware devices support playback of all versions of DivX video,
while DivX Certified software applications support the conversion of digital video into the high-quality,
highly-compressed DivX media format.

Profiles for DivX Certified Products

Hardware devices may be certified for DivX decode under the DivX Certified Home Theater, HD
720p, HD> 1080p, Mobile, gMobile profiles, or may be certified for DivX encode. DivX Certified
software applications support the conversion of digital video into the various available profiles.

DivX Ultra Certified

The DivX Ultra Certified Program is a premium certification level that certifies hardware devices and
software applications for the creation and playback of high-quality DivX video with advanced features sich
as motion menus, subtitles, chapter points and alternate audio tracks. DivX Ultra Certified devices support
playback of all versions of DivX video, including DivX video with advanced features. DivX Ultra Certified
software applications support the conversion of digital video into the high-quality, highly-compressed DivX
media format as well as the creation of video with advanced features.

Profiles for DivX Ultra Certified Products

Hardware devices may be certified under the DivX Ultra Certified Home Theater profile, DivX Ulua
Certified software applications support the conversion of digital video for DivX Ultra Certified devices
and software.

DivX Certified Recorder/Encoder

The DivX Certified Recorder/Encoder Program certifies hardware devices to record video directly in the
DivX media format. DivX Certified Recorder/Encoder devices create DivX video that is compatible with all
DivX Certified and DivX Ultra Certified products.

Open Video System

Our Open Video System is a complete hosted service that allows content creators to deliver high-quality Div
video content over the Internet. We use our Open Video System to provide content and service providers with
encoding services, content storage and distribution services, and use of our DivX media format and digital rights
management technology. Using the Open Video System, a content service provider can launch its own web store
and sell content online.

DivX Mobile Media

We recently launched a mobile media platform service where users can discover both professionally produced
and user-generated video content from a variety of sources. The service is available from certain compatible
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handheld internet-connected devices and provides access to manage accounts and favorites from a computer’s
browser. The service is still in a beta testing stage and we are not certain what business opportunities we may
choose to pursue with respect to this technology.

Staget

We recently shut down Stage6, our online service that allowed users to publish and download video content.

Sales and marketing

Our sales and marketing team markets our technologies to a wide range of integrated circuit manufacturers,
original design manufacturers, original equipment manufacturers and software developers on a worldwide basis.
In addition, members of this team market our products to various consumer segments at industry tradeshows such
as CES and CeBIT, and engage in partner and retailer training, product marketing, sales support and partner
co-marketing programs. Members of our sales and marketing team also focus on content and distribution
partnerships, co-marketing transactions, advertising partnerships, brand and product marketing, electronic
software distribution, business operations and marketing programs. As of December 31, 2007, our sales and
marketing team included 153 full-time employees based in 11 countries.

Product development

We incurred product development costs of approximately $10.3 million, $15.4 million and $18.7 million in fiscal
years 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively, representing 31%, 26% and 22%, respectively, of total net revenue. Our
product development team is based out of our headquarters in San Diego, California and with the acquisition of
MainConcept in November 2007 has team members in Germany and Russia. As of December 31, 2007, this team
consisted of 184 full-time employees dedicated to product development and product management, 113 of which
were engineers and 14 of which were product managers (the other 57 filling other related roles).

Our product development team focuses on building our technologies into products that meet the needs of our
consumers. This team identifies, investigates and analyzes new long-term opportunities, shapes our technology
strategy and provides support for internally developed and externally acquired technologies. Our product
development team builds the platform technologies upon which our products are based and conducts our applied
research in developing and improving technologies to compress, secure and distribute digital video.

Competition

We face significant competition in the digital media markets in which we operate. We believe that our most
significant competitive threat comes from companies that have the collective financial, technical and other
resources {o develop the technologies, services, products, and partnerships necessary to create a digital media
ecosystem that can compete with the DivX ecosystemn. Those potential competitors currently include Adobe
Systems, Apple Computer, Google, Microsoft, News Corporation, Sony and Yahoo!.

We also compete with companies that offer products or services that compete with specific aspects of our digital
media ecosystem. For example, our digital rights management technology competes with technologies from
companies such as Apple Computer, ContentGuard, Intertrust Technologies, Microsoft, Nagra Audio, NDS
Group and 4C Entity, as well as the internal development efforts of certain of our licensees. Similarly, content
distribution providers, such as Amazon.com, Apple Computer, CinemaNow, Google, Joost, MovieLink,
MySpace.com, a subsidiary of News Corporation, Netflix, Yahoo!, YouTube, a subsidiary of Google, and
subscription entertainment services and cable and satellite providers compete against our content distribution
services. Moreover, other video compression technologies, including other implementations of MPEG-4 or
implementations of H.264/AVC such as those from Adobe Systems, Apple Computer, Ateme, On2 Technologies,
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and Sorenson compete with our proprietary compression technologies. Our proprietary video format also
competes with other video formats, including those offered by Apple Computer, Adobe Systems, Microsoft, On2
Technologies and RealNetworks.

We believe that the principal competitive factors that affect our digital media ecosystem include some or all of
the following:

» quality and reliability of products and services;

* technology performance, flexibility and range of application;

» timeliness and relevance of new product introductions;

» the ability to address the needs of all the constituents in the ecosystem:;
* platform neutrality;

* brand recognition and reputation;

+ relationships with film producers and distributors as well as semiconductor and consumer hardware
device manufacturers;

» differences in adoption across countries and regions; and

*  price.

We believe that we compete favorably on the factors described above. However, our industry is evolving rapidly
and is becoming increasingly competitive, Larger, more established businesses are increasingly participating in
the markets in which our products and technologies compete, and we cannot assure you that we will continue to
compete favorably on these or any other factors.

Some of our current or future competitors may have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and
other resources than we do, may enjoy greater name recognition than we do, or may have more experience or
advantages than we have in the markets in which they compete. For example, companies such as Apple
Computer, Amazon.com, Google, Microsoft, Sony and Yahoo! may have competitive advantages over us
because of their greater size and resources and the strength of their respective brand names. In addition, some of
our current or potential competitors, such as Apple Computer, Dolby Laboratories, Microsoft and Sony, may be
able to offer integrated system solutions in certain markets for entertainment technologies, including audio, video
and rights management technologies related to personal computers or the Internet, which could make competing
products and technologies that we develop unnecessary. By offering an integrated system solution, these
potential competitors also may be able to offer competing products and technologies at lower prices than our
products and technologies. Further, many of the consumer hardware and software products that include our
technologies also include technologies developed by our competitors. As a result, we must continue to invest
significant resources in product development to enhance our technologies and our existing products and
introduce new high-quality technologies and products to meet the wide variety of such competitive pressures.

Significant Customers

A small number of customers account for a significant percentage of our revenues, In 2007, Google, Inc. and LG
Electronics, Inc. accounted for 19% and 10%, respectively, of our total net revenues. In 2006, Google, Inc. and
LG Electronics, Inc. accounted for 20% and 10%, respectively, of our total net revenues. In 2003, Google, Inc.
and Philips accounted for 15% and 13%, respectively, of our total net revenues.

Intellectual property

To protect our proprietary rights, we rely on a combination of trademark, copyright, patent, trade secret and orther
intellectual property laws, employment, confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees
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and contractors, and confidentiality agreements and protective contractual provisions with our partners, licensees
and other third parties.

Trademarks. As of December 31, 2007, we had over 40 trademark registrations and over 60 pending trademark
applications in the U.S. and more than 25 other countries for a variety of word marks, logos and slogans. Our
trademarks are an integral part of our licensing program. Licensees are allowed to place our trademarks on their
products to inform customers that their products incorporate our technotogy and meet our quality specifications
only if such products have been DivX Certified. We also require that our licensees adhere to detailed branding
guidelines to ensure that usage of our trademarks and logos are consistent and uphold our image. Our trademarks
include, among others, DivX, DivX Certified, DivX Connected and Stage6.

Copyrights. We have a significant amount of copyright-protected materials, including among other things,
software, codecs and textual material. As an additional layer of protection to the common law copyrights we own
in our software and other materials, we have also obtained U.S. copyright registrations on more than 20 software
products as of December 31, 2007.

Patents. As of December 31, 2007, we had two issued U.S. patents and one issued foreign patent. We aiso hold
an exclusive license to one additional U.S. patent. We are in the process of applying for additional patent
coverage for various aspects of our technotogy, including technologies for digital rights management, digitat
media formats, mobile content delivery, connected devices and video encoding and decoding. As a result, as of
December 31, 2007, we had over 30 U.S. and international patent applications on file relating to various aspects
of our technology.

Other proprietary rights. Many of our consumer hardware licensees and other partners have contractually
recognized our proprietary rights in the file identifiers that identify video content files as encoded using our
codec. For instance, a video file encoded using our codec may be identified with a *DIVX” code that can be read
and recognized by a consumer hardware device or PC video player. Such consumer hardware licensees and
partners have also contractually agreed to limit playback of such “DIVX"-identified files to devices that
incorporate our technologies. These contractual agreements enable us to differentiate DivX devices and video
files from non-DivX devices and video files.

In addition, we also seek to maintain certain intellectual property and proprietary know-how as trade secrets, and
generally reguire our partners 1o execute non-disclosure agreements prior to any substantive discussions or
disclosures of our technology.

MPEG LA technology licenses. We have entered into a license agreement with MPEG LA, effective

January 2000, under its MPEG-4 Part 2 Visual Patent Portfolio. Under this license agreement, we have a royalty-
bearing, worldwide, non-exclusive sublicense of certain patents licensed to MPEG LA relating to MPEG-4
technology. The current version of our video codec incorporates technologies implementing a portion of the
MPEG-4 video standard. Our license agreement with MPEG LA will expire on December 31, 2008, unless the
agreement is earlier terminated. We may terminate the license agreement for any reason by providing 30 days
prior written notice to MPEG LA. Upon expiration, the license agreement may be renewed by MPEG-LA for
successive five year periods upon notice of renewal to us. For the fiscal years 2005, 2006 and 2007, we paid

$2.0 million, $2.5 million, and $2 million, respectively, to MPEG LA under this license agreement. We have also
entered into a license agreement with MPEG LA, effective August 2002, under its MPEG-4 Part 10, or AVC,
Patent Portfolio. Under this license agreement, we have a royalty-bearing, worldwide, non-exclusive sublicense
of certain patents licensed to MPEG LA relating to H.264 technology. Our license agreement with MPEG LA
with respect to this technology will expire on December 31, 2010, unless the agreement is earlier terminated. We
may terminate the license agreement for any reason by providing 30 days prior written notice to MPEG LA.
Upon expiration, the license agreement may be renewed by MPEG-LA for successive five year periods upon
notice of renewal to us. We have not been required to pay, nor have we paid, license fees to MPEG LA under this
license agreement to date.
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Government regulation

We are subject to a number of foreign and domestic laws and regulations that affect companies that import ot
export software and technology, including encrypticn technology, such as the U.S. export control regulations as
administered by the U.S. Department of Commerce.

We are also subject to a number of foreign and domestic laws that affect companies conducting business on the
Internet. In addition, because of the increasing popularity of the Internet and the growth of online services, laws
relating to user privacy, freedom of expression, content, advertising, information security and intellectual
property rights are being debated and considered for adoption by many countries throughout the world.

In the U.8., online service providers have been subject to claims of defamation, libel, invasion of privacy and
other data protection claims, tort, unlawful activity, copyright or trademark infringement, or other theories based
on the nature and content of the materials searched and the ads posted or the content generated by users. In
addition, several other federal laws could have an impact on our business. For example, the Digital Millennium
Copyright Act has provisions that limit, but do not eliminate, our liability for hosting or linking to third-party
websites that include materials that infringe copyrights or other rights, so long as we comply with the statutory
requirements of this act. The Child Online Protection Act and the Children’s Online Privacy Protection Act
restrict the distribution of materials considered harmful to children and impose additional restrictions on the
ability of online services to collect information from minors. In addition, the Protection of Children from Sexual
Predators Act of 1998 requires online service providers to report evidence of violations of federal child
pornography laws under certain circumstances.

In addition, the application of existing laws regulating or requiring licenses for certain businesses of our
advertisers can be unclear. Existing or new legislation could expose us to substantial liability and restrict our
ability to deliver services to our users. We also face risks from legislation that could be passed in the future.

We may be further subject to international laws associated with data protection in Europe and elsewhere and the
interpretation and application of data protection laws is still uncertain and in flux. In addition, because our
services are accessible worldwide, foreign jurisdictions may claim that we are required to comply with their laws,

Employees

As of December 31, 2007, we employed 389 full-time employees, including full-time equivalents. None of our
employees is subject to any collective bargaining agreements. We consider our relationship with our employees
to be good.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

Our executive officers serve at the discretion of the Board. The names of our executive officers and their ages,
titles, and biographies as of December 31, 2007 are set forth below:

Name % Position
KevinHell ....... ... ... . ... 43 CEQ, Director

Danl.Halvorson ...................... ...... 42 EVPand CFO

David L Richter ................. ... .. ... ... 39 EVP, Corporate Development and Legal
ChrisRussell ......... ... ... .. . 41 CTO

Kevin Hell has served as our CEO and a Director since October 2007. From July 2007 to October 2007, Mr. Hell
served as our Acting CEO. Between 2002 and 2007, Mr. Hell held a number of management positions within the
Company including Chief Marketing Officer and Managing Director, Chief Operating Officer, the Company’s
CXO for Partners and Licensing, and President. Mr. Hell is currently responsible for our corporate strategy anc.
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overall strategic direction. From July 2001 to May 2002, Mr. Hell served as Senior Vice President of Product
Management in the Solutions Group of Palm, a handheld solutions company. From May 1999 to May 2001,

Mr. Hell was Vice President of the Connected Home division and Vice President of Corporate Strategy at
Gateway Computer, a personal computer manufacturing company. From May 1991 to May 1999, Mr. Hell
worked in the Los Angeles office of the Boston Consulting Group, a management consulting firm. Mr. Hell
received an M.B.A. from The Wharton School, and a master’s degree in Aeronautics and Astronautics and a B.S.
in Mechanical Engineering from Stanford University.

Dan L. Halvorson has served as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since July 2007. From
June 2007 to July 2007, Mr. Halvorson served as our Chief Financial Officer and Senior Vice President.

Mr. Halvorson is responsible for investor relations, financial and administrative aspects of our strategic and
tactical goals, and for supplying related support to our operations teams. Mr. Halvorson has served in many
senior finance and accounting roles at a number of public companies. Mr. Halvorson held various roles from
2000 to 2007 at Novatel Wireless, and was named Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer in early
2004. From 1998 to 2000, he was Director of Finance at Dura Pharmaceuticals, which was acquired by Elan in
2000. He was also Director of Finance at Alliance Pharmaceuticals from 1996 to 1998, Previous to his public
company roles, Mr. Halvorson spent eight years in public accounting at Deloitte & Touche and
PriceWaterhouseCoopers, serving both public and private client companies. Mr. Halvorson is a Certified Public
Accountant and holds a Bachelor of Science from San Diego State University.

David J. Richter has served as our Executive Vice President, Corporate Development and Legal since July 2007.
From June 2007 to July 2007, Mr. Richter served as our General Counsel and Senior Vice President Corporate
Development, From April 2006 to June 2007, Mr. Richter served as our GC, Legal and Corporate Development.
From May 2004 to April 2006, Mr. Richter served as our General Counsel and, in addition, from January 2005
through April 2006, as our Senior Vice President, Corporate Development. Mr. Richter is responsible for our
legal and corporate development efforts. Previously, Mr. Richter worked at Maveron, a venture capital firm, as a
Principal from January 2002 through March 2004 and as Director, Business Development from July 2000
through December 2001. Mr. Richter received a J.D. from Yale Law School and a B.A. in Government from
Cornell University.

Chris Russell served as our CTO, Strategy and Technology from April 2006 until February 2008. From
September 2005 to April 2006, Mr. Russell served as our Vice President and General Manager, Technology and
Strategy. From January 2005 to September 2005, Mr. Russell served as our Vice President of Advanced
Technology. From July 2002 to January 2005, Mr. Russell served as Vice President with the Motion Picture
Association of America, or MPAA, an association advocating for the motion picture, home video, and television
industries. From July 2001 to July 2002, Mr. Russell served as Chief Technology Officer for Information
Technology Alliance, a managed security services company. From June 1996 to December 1998, Mr. Russell
served as Director of Software Engineering, and from December 1998 to July 2001 as Vice President of
Technology, with Sony Pictures Entertainment, an entertainment company. Mr. Russell received an M.B.A. from
Pepperdine University and a B.S. in Computer Science from California State Polytechnic University, Pomona.

Available Information

Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and all
amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) are available free of charge on our website (www.divx.com) as soon as reasonably
practicable after they are filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Before you decide to invest or maintain an interest in our common stock, you should consider carefully the risks
described below, together with the other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We believe
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the risks described below are the risks that are material to us as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
If any of the following risks comes to fruition, our business, financial condition, results of operations and future
growth prospects would likely be materially and adversely affected, In these circumstances, the market price of
our common stock could decline and you may lose all or part of vour investment.

Risks related to our business
Our business and prospects depend on the strength of our brand, and if we do not maintain and strengthen
our brand, we may be unable to maintain or expand our business.

Maintaining and strengthening the “DivX" brand is critical to maintaining and expanding our business, as well as
to our ability to enter into new markets for our technologies and products. If we fail to promote and maintain the
DivX brand successfully. our ability to sustain and expand our business and enter into new markets will suffer.
Maintaining and strengthening our brand will depend heavily on our ability to continue to develop and provide
innovative and high-quality technologies and products for consumers, content owners, consumer hardware device
manufacturers and software vendors. Moreover, because we engage in relatively little direct brand advertising,
the promotion of our brand depends, among other things, upon hardware device manufacturing partners
displaying our trademarks on their products. If these partners choose for any reason not to display our trademarks
on their products, or if our partners use our trademarks incorrectly or in an unauthorized manner, the strength of
our brand may be diluted or our ability to maintain or increase our brand awareness may be harmed. In addition,
if we fail 10 maintain high-quality standards for products that incorporate our technologies through the quality-
control certification process that we require of our licensees, or if we take other steps to commercialize our
products and services that our customers or potential customers reject, the strength of our brand could be
adversely affected. Further, unauthorized third parties may use our brand in ways that may dilute or undermine:
its strength,

If we are unable to penetrate existing markets or adapt or develop technologies and products for new markets,
our business prospects could be limited.

We expect that our future success will depend, in part, upon our ability to successfully penelrate existing markots
for digital media technologies, including:

+« DVD players;

«  DVD recorders;

* network connected DVD players;
» high definition DVD players;

* portable media players;

» digital still cameras;

» digital camcorders;

* mobile handsets;

* digital media software applications;
« smart TVs;

« home media centers;

* set-top boxes; and

+ video game consoles.

To date, we have penetrated only some of these markets, including the markets for DVD players, network
connected DVD players, high definition DVD players, portable media players, digital still cameras, smart TVs,

14




mobile handsets, digital media software applications, set-top boxes, and video game consoles. Our success
depends upon our ability to further penetrate these markets, some of which we have only penetrated to a limited
extent, and to successfully penetrate those markets in which we currently have no presence. Demand for our
technologies in any of these developing markets may not grow or develop, and a sufficiently broad base of
consumers and professionals may not adopt or continue to use our technologies. In addition, our ability to
generate revenue from these markets may be limited to the extent that service providers in these markets choose
to provide competitive technologies and entertainment at little or no cost. Because of our limited experience in
certain of these markets, we may not be able to adequately adapt our business and our technologies to the needs
of consumers and licensees in these markets.

We face significant competition in various markets, and if we are unable to compete successfully, our ability
to generate revenues from our business will suffer.

We face significant competition in the digital media markets in which we operate. We believe that our most
significant competitive threat comes from companies that have the collective financial, technical and other
resources to develop the technologies, services, products and partnerships necessary to create a digital media
ecosystem that can compete with the DivX ecosystem. Those potential competitors currently include Adobe
Systems, Apple Computer, Google, Microsoft, News Corporation, Sony and Yahoo!.

We also compete with companies that offer products or services that compete with specific aspects of our digital
media ecosystem. For example, our digital rights management technology competes with technologies from
companies such as Apple Computer, ContentGuard, Intertrust Technologies, Microsoft, Nagra Audio, NDS
Group and 4C Entity, as well as the internal development efforts of certain of our licensees. Similarly, content
distribution providers, such as Amazon.com, Apple Computer, CinemaNow, Google, Joost, MovieLink,
MySpace.com, a subsidiary of News Corporation, Netflix, Yahoo!, YouTube, a subsidiary of Google, and
subscription entertainment services and cable and satellite providers compete against our content distribution
services.

Our proprietary technologies also compete with other video compression technologies, including other
implementations of MPEG-4 or implementations of H.264/AVC. A number of companies such as Adobe
Systems, Apple Computer, Ateme, Google, Microsoft, On2 Technologies and RealNetworks offer other
competing video formats.

We also face competition from subscription entertainment services, cable and satellite providers, DVDs and other
emerging technologies and products related to content distribution. Our content distribution platforms and
services face significant competition from services, such as peer-to-peer and content aggregator services, which
allow consumers to directly access an expansive array of content without securing licenses from content
providers.

Some of our current or future competitors may have significantly greater financial, technical, marketing and
other resources than we do, may enjoy greater name recognition than we do, or may have more experience or
advantages than we have in the markets in which they compete. For example, companies such as Amazon.com,
Apple Computer, Google, Microsoft, Sony and Yahoo! may have competitive advantages over us because of
their greater size and resources and the strength of their respective brand names. In addition, some of our current
or potential competitors, such as Apple Computer, Dolby Laboratories, Microsoft and Sony, may be able to offer
integrated system solutions in certain markets for entertainment technologies, including audio, video and rights
management technologies related to personal computers or the Internet, which could make competing products
and technologies that we develop unnecessary. By offering an integrated system solution, these potential
competitors also may be able to offer competing products and technologies at lower prices than our products and
technologies. Further, many of the consumer hardware and software products that include our technologies also
include technologies developed by our competitors. As a result, we must continue to invest significant resources
in product development in order to enhance our technologies and our existing products and introduce new high-
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quality technologies and products to meet the wide variety of such competitive pressures, Our ability to generate
revenues from our business will suffer if we fail to do so successfully.

We are dependent on the sale by our licensees of consumer hardware and software products that incorporate
our technologies. Qur top 10 licensees by revenue accounted for approximately 50% of our total net reven:tes
during the year ended December 31, 2007, and a reduction in revenues from those licensees or a loss of one or
more of our key licensees would adversely affect our licensing revenue.

We derive most of our revenue from the licensing of our technologies to consumer hardware device
manufacturers, software vendors and consumers. We derived 78%. 80% and 82% of our total net revenues from
licensing our technology in the fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. One or a small number of our
licensees generally represents a significant percentage of our technology licensing revenues. For example, in
2007, LG accounted for approximately 10% of our total net revenues, and our top 10 licensees by revenue
accounted for approximately 50% of our total net revenues. Our techaology licensing revenues are particularly
dependent upon our relationships with consumer hardware device manufacturers. We cannot control consumer
hardware device manufacturers’ and software developers’ product development or commercialization efforts or
predict their success. Our license agreements typically require manufacturers of consumer hardware devices and
software vendors to pay us a specified royalty for every shipped consumer hardware or software product that
incorporates our technologies, but many of these agreements do not require these manufacturers to guarantee us a
minimum royalty in any given period. Accordingly, if our licensees sell fewer products incorporating our
technologies, or otherwise face significant economic difficulties, our licensing revenues will be adversely
affected. Additionally, certain of our license agreements provide for specific royalties based on our estimations
of the volumes of certain units consumer hardware device manufacturers are likely to ship during a given term; if
our estimates are too low, the actual per-unit revenues received may be lower than expected. Our license
agreements are generally for two years or less in duration, and a significant number of these agreements expire in
any given quarter. Upon expiration of their license agreements, manufacturers and software developers may not
renew their agreements or may elect not to enter into new agreements with us on terms as favorable as our
current agreements.

QOur September 2007 software distribution and promotion agreement with Yahoo! is our first distribution
agreement with Yahoo!, and if products from Yahoo! are not as popular as the products of Google (with
which we were previously a party to a software distribution agreement), or if Yahoo! products are more
difficult to install or distribute than Google products, or if products from Yahoo! have greater market
saturation than Google products, then our revenues may significantly decrease.

Pursuant to our September 2007 agreement with Yahoo!, we agreed to distribute a version of Internet Explorer
browser optimized for Yahoo! and a co-branded version of the Yahoo! Toolbar with our software products and
Yahoo! will pay us fees based on the number of certain distributions or installations of the Yahoo! software. Cur
agreement with Yahoo! also affects our ability 1o offer our software products with third party web browsers,
toolbars, and search services other than those provided by Yahoo!. As a result, if the Yahoo! products we plan to
distribute are not as popular as, or if the have greater market saturation than, the Google products we have
distributed in the past, or if they are more difficult to install or distribute, our revenues may significantly
decrease. Any decline in the popularity of our preducts or Yahoo!’s products among consumers or market
saturation of those products could result in a decrease in revenue under our agreement with Yahoo!. In addition,
if we fail to achieve certain minimum distribution volumes or certain minimum installations of the Yahoo!
software for specific periods described in the agreement, Yahoo! may elect to terminate the agreement.

The success of our business depends on the availability of premium video content in the DivX format.

To date, only one major motion picture studio has agreed to make certain video content available in the DivX
video format. If we, and/or our consumer electronics partners, fail to implement certain technological safeguards
mandated under that deal, such format approval deal may be suspended or terminated, either of which could
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negatively impact our business. The implementation of these changes could potentially be viewed negatively by
consumers and as a result our business could suffer. Additionally, the distribution of such DivX-formatted video
content is dependent on third party retailers’ willingness to enter into distribution deals with our studio partner
and DivX and ultimately upon the willingness of consumers to purchase such content from such third party
retailers. Finally, our business success depends upon our ability to reach agreement with other major motion
picture studios to make their content available in the DivX video format. In the event that we fail to reach
agreement with such studios, the DivX format may become less compelling to consumers and to retailers and
potentially to consumer electronics licensees of DivX.

The success of our business depends on the interoperability of our technologies with consumer hardware
devices.

To be successful we design our digital media platform to interoperate effectively with a variety of consumer
hardware devices, including personal computers, DVD players, DVD recorders, network connected DVD
players, high definition DVD players, digital still cameras, digital camcorders, portable media players, smart
TVs, home media centers, set-top boxes, video game consoles, and mobile handsets. We depend on significant
cooperation with manufacturers of these devices and the components integrated into these devices, as well as
software providers that create the operating systems for such devices, to incorporate our technologies into their
product offerings and ensure consistent playback of DivX-encoded files. Currenily, a limited number of devices
are designed to support our technologies. If we are unsuccessful in causing component manufacturers, device
manufacturers and software providers to integrate our technologies into their product offerings, our technologies
may become less accessible to consumers, which would adversely affect our revenue potential.

If we fail to develop and deliver innovative fechnologies and products in response to changes in our industry,
including changes in consumer tastes or trends, our revenues could decline.

The markets for our technologies and products are characterized by rapid change and technological evolution.
We will need to expend considerable resources on product development in the future to continue to design and
deliver enduring and innovative technologies and products. Despite our efforts, we may not be able to develop
and effectively market new technologies and products that adequately or competitively address the needs of the
changing marketplace. In addition, we may not correctly identify new or changing market trends at an early
enough stage to capitalize on market opportunities. At times such changes can be dramatic. Our future success
depends 1o a great extent on our ability to develop and deliver innovative technologies that are widely adopted in
response to changes in our industry and that are compatible with the technologies or products introduced by other
participants in our industry. If we fail to deliver innovative technologies, we may be unable to meet changes in
consumer tastes or trends, which could decrease our revenues. ’

Our licensing revenue depends in large part upon integrated circuit manufacturers incorporating our
technologies into their products for sale to our consumer hardware device manufacturer licensees and if our
technologies are not incorporated in these integrated circuits or fewer integrated circuits are sold that
incorporate our technologies, our revenues will be adversely affected.

Our licensing revenue from consumer hardware device manufacturers depends in large part upon the availability
of integrated circuits that incorporate our technologies. Integrated circuit manufacturers incorporate our
technologies into their products, which are then incorporated into consumer hardware devices, We do not
manufacture integrated circuits, but rather depend on integrated circuit manufacturers to develop, produce and
sell these products to licensed consumer hardware device manufacturers. We do not control the integrated circuit
manufacturers’ decision whether or not to incorporate our technologies into their products, and we do not control
their product development or commercialization efforts. If we fail to develop new technologies that adequately or
competilively address the needs of the changing marketplace, integrated circuit manufacturers may not be wiiling
to implement our technologies into their products. The process utilized by integrated circuit manufacturers to
design, develop, produce and sell their products is generally 12 to 18 months in duration. As a result, if an
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integrated circuit manufacturer is unwilling or unable to implement our technologies into an integrated circuit
that it is producing, we may experience significant delays in generating revenue while we wait for that
manufacturer to begin development of a new integrated circuit that may incorporate our technologies. In
addition, while the design cycles utilized by iniegrated circuit manufacturers are typically long, the life cycles of
our technologies tend to be short as a result of the rapidly changing technology environment in which we opcrate.
If integrated circuit manufacturers are unabte or unwilling to implement technologies we develop into their
products, or if they sell fewer products incorporating our technologies, our revenues will be adversely affected.
In addition, if integrated circuit manufacturers incorporate our technology in new ways that make reporting ¢r
tracking more difficult, it could adversely affect our ability to collect revenues.

Our business is dependent in part on technologies we license from third parties, and these license rights may
be inadequate for our business.

Certain of our technologies and products are dependent in part on the licensing and incorporation of technologies
from third parties. For example, we have entered into license agreements with MPEG LA pursuant to which we
have acquired rights to use in our technologies and products certain MPEG-4 and AVC intellectual property
licensed to MPEG LA. Our licensing agreements with MPEG LA grant us sublicenses only to the rights in th2
relevant intellectual property licensed to MPEG LA. There are other parties who have competing rights to
MPEG-4 and AVC intellectual property, and to the extent that the rights of such other parties conflict with or are
superior to the rights licensed to MPEG LA, our rights to utilize MPEG-4 or AVC technology in our technologies
and products could be challenged. Our license agreement with MPEG LA, under its MPEG-4 Part 2 Visual
Patent Portfolio will expire on December 31, 2008. MPEG LA has the right to renew the license agreement for
successive terms of five years, upon notice to us.

If the technology we license fails to perform as expected, if key licensors do not continue to support their
technology or intellectual property because the licensor has gone out of business or otherwise, if a licensor, such
as MPEG LA determines not to renew a license agreement upon expiration or if it is determined that any of our
licensors are not entitled to license to us any of the technologies or intellectual property that are subject to our
current license agreements, then we may incur substantial costs in replacing the licensed technologies or
intellectual property or fall behind in our development schedule while we search for a replacement. In addition,
replacement technology may not be available for license on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.

In addition, our agreements with licensors generally require us to give them the right to audit our calculations of
royalties payable to them. If a licensor challenges the basis of our calculations, the amount of royalties we have
to pay them could increase. Any royalties paid as a result of a successful challenge would increase our expenses
and could impair our ability to continue to use and re-license technologies or intellectual property from that
licensor.

We rely on our licensees to accurately prepare royalty reports for our determination of licensing revenues, and
if these reports are inaccurate, our revenues may be under- or over-stated and our forecasts and budgets may
be incorrect.

Our licensing revenues are generated primarily from consumer hardware device manufacturers and software
vendors who license our technologies and incorporate them into their products. Under these arrangements, these
licensees typically pay us a specified royalty for every consumer hardware or software product they ship that
incorporates our technologies. We rely on our licensees to accurately report the number of units shipped. We
calculate our license fees, prepare our financial reports, projections and budgets, and direct our sales and
technology development efforts based in part on these reports. However, it is often difficult for us to
independently determine whether or not our licensees are reporting shipments accurately. This is especially true
with respect to software incorporating our technologies because software can be copied relatively easily and we
often do not have ways to readily determine how many copies have been made. Licensees in specific countries,
including China, have a history of underreporting or failing to report shipments of their preducts that incorporiite
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our technologies. Most of our license agreements permit us to audit our licensees’ records, but audits are
generally expensive and time consuming. We have initiated, and intend to initiate, audits with certain of our
licensees to determine whether their shipment reports for past periods were accurate. Such audits could harm our
relationships with our licensees or may result in the cancellation or termination of our agreements with such
licensees. In addition, the license agreements that we have entered into with most of our licensees impose
restrictions on our audit rights, such as limitations on the number of audits we may conduct. To the extent that
our licensees understate or fail to report the number of products incorporating our technologies that they ship, we
will not collect and recognize revenue to which we are entitled. Alternatively, we have experienced limited
instances in which a customer has notified us that it previously reported and paid royalties on units in excess of
what the customer actually shipped. In such cases, the customer requested, and we granted, a credit for the excess
royalties paid. If a similar event occurs in the future, we may be required to record the credit as a reduction in
revenue in-the period in which it is granted, and such a reduction could be material.

Any development delays or cost overruns may affect our ability to respond to technological changes,
competitive developments or customer requirements and expose us to other adverse consequences.

We have experienced development delays and cost overruns in our development efforts in the past and we may
encounter such problems in the future. Delays and cost overruns could affect our ability to respond to '
technological changes, competitive developments or customer requirements. Also, our technologies and products
may contain undetected errors that could cause increased development costs, loss of revenue, adverse publicity,
reduced market acceptance of our technologies and products or lawsuits by participants in the consumer
hardware or software industries or consumers. ' '

We conduct a substantial portion of our business outside North America and, as a result, we face diverse risks
related to engaging in international business.

We have offices in seven foreign countries as well as sales staff in several others, and we are dedicating a
significant portion of our sales efforts in countries outside North America. We are dependent on international
sales for a substantial amount of ourtotal revenues. For 2007, 2006 and 2005, our net revenue outside North
America comprised 77%, 76% and 78%, respectively, of our total revenues. We expect that international sales
will continue to represent a substantia} portion of our revenues for the foreseeable future. These future
international revenues will depend to a large extent on the continued use and expansion of our technologies in
entertainment industries worldwide. Increased worldwide use of our technologies is also an important factor in
our future growth. ‘

We are subject to the risks of conducting business internationally, including:

» our ability to enforce our contractual and intellectual property rights, especially in those foreign
countries that do not respect and protect intellectual property rights to the same extent that the United
States does, which increases the risk of unauthorized and uncompensated use of our technology;

» United States and foreign government trade restrictions, including those that may impose restrictions
- on importation of programming, technology or components to or from the United States,

= foreign government taxes, regulations and permit requirements, including foreign taxes that we may
not be able to offset against taxes imposed upon us in the United States, and foreign tax and other laws
limiting our ability to repatriate funds to the United States; -

« foreign labor laws, regulations and restrictions;
» changes in diplomatic and trade relationships;

« difficulty in staffing and managing foreign operations;
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+ fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates, including risks related to any interest
rate swap or other hedging activities we undertake;

« political instability, natural disasters, war and/or events of terrorism; and

+ the strength of international economies.

We face risks with respect to conducting business in China due to China’s historically limited recognition and
enforcement of intellectual property and contractual rights,

We currently have direct license relationships with over 50 consumer hardware device manufacturers located in
China. In addition, a number of the OEMs that license our technologies utilize captive or third-party
manufacturing facilities located in China. We expect this to continue in the future as consumer hardware device
manufacturing in China continues to increase due to its lower manufacturing cost structure as compared to other
industrialized countries. As a result, we face many rigks in China, in large part due to China’s historically limited
recognition and enforcement of contractnal and intellectual property rights. In particular, we have experienced,
and expect to continue to experience, problems with China-based consumer hardware device manufacturers
underreporting or failing to report shipments of their products that incorporate our technologies, or incorporating
our technologies or trademarks into their products without our authorization or without paying us licensing fees.
We may also experience difficulty enforcing our intellectual property rights in China, where intellectual property
rights are not as respected as they are in the United States, Japan and Europe. Unauthorized use of our
technologies and intellectual property rights may dilute or undermine the strength of our brand. Further, if we are
not able to adequately mohitor the use of our technologies by China-based consumer hardware device
manufacturers, or enforce our intellectual property rights in China, our revenue potential could be adversely
affected.

Pricing pressures on the consumer hardware device manufacturers and software vendors wheo incorporate our
technologies into their products could limif the licensing fees we charge for our technologies and adversel:
affect our revenues,

The markets for the consumer hardware and software products in which our technologies are incorporated are
intensely competitive and price sensitive. For example, retail prices for consumer hardware devices that inclvde
our digital media platform, such as DVD players, have decreased significantly in recent years, and we expect
prices to continue to decrease for the foreseeable future. In response, consumer hardware device manufacturers
and software vendors have sought to reduce their product costs, which can result in downward pressure on th:
licensing fees we charge our licensees who incorporate our technologies into the consumer hardware and
software products that they sell. In addition, we have experienced erosion in the average royalty we can charge
for specific versions of our technologies to our OEM partners since the release of these technologies. To maintain
higher overall per unit royalties, we must continue to introduce new, more highly functional versions of our
products for which we can charge a higher royalty. Any inability to introduce such products in the future or other
declines in the royalties we charge would adversely affect our revenues.

We do not expect sales of DVD players to continue to grow as quickly as they have in the past. To the extert
that sales of DVD players level off or decline, or alternative technologies in which we do not participate
replace DVDs as a dominant medium for consumer video entertainment, our licensing revenue will be
adversely affected.

Growth in our revenue over the past several years has been the result, in large part, of the rapid growth in sales of
red-laser DVD players incorporating our technologies. For the years 2007, 2006 and 2005, we derived
approximately 70%, 72% and 71%, respectively, of our total net revenues from technology licensing to consumer
hardware device manufacturers, a majority of which are derived from sales of red-laser DVD players
incorporating our technologies. However, as the markets for DVD players mature, we do not expect sales of
red-laser DVD players to continue to grow as quickly as they have in the past. To the extent that sales of
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red-laser DVD players level off or decline, our licensing revenue will be adversely affected. In addition, if new
technologies are developed for use with DVDs or new technologies are developed that substantially compete
with or replace red-laser DVDs as a dominant medium for consumer video entertainment such as high definition
DVD or Blu-ray Disc, and if we are unable to develop and successfully market technologies that are incorporated
into or compatible with such new technologies, our ability to generate revenues will be adversely affected.

Digital video technologies could be treated as a commodity in the future, which could expose us to significant
pricing pressure.

We believe that the success we have had licensing our digital video technologies to consumer hardware device
manufacturers and software vendors is due, in part, to the strength of our brand and the perception that our
technologies provide a high-quality video solution. However, as applications that incorporate digitat video
technologies become increasingly prevalent, we expect more competitors to enter this field with other solutions.
Furthermore, to the extent that competitors’ solutions are perceived, accurately or not, to provide the same or
greater advantages as our technologies, at a lower or comparable price, there is a risk that video encoding and
decoding technologies such as ours will be treated as commaodities, exposing us to significant pricing pressure.

Current and future government standards or standards-setting organizations may limit our business
opportunities.

Various national governments have adopted or are in the process of adopting standards for digital television
broadcasts, including cable and satellite broadcasts. In the event national governments adopt similar standards for
video codecs used in consumer hardware devices, software products or Internet applications, our technology may
be excluded from such standards. We have not made any efforts to have our technologies adopted as standards by
any national governments, nor do we currently expect that our technologies will be adopted as standards by any
national government in the future, If national governments adopt standards that exclude our technologies, we will
be required to redesign our technologies to comply with such government standards to allow our products to be
utilized in those countries. Costs or potential delays in the development of our technologies and products to
comply with such government standards could significantly increase our expenses. In addition, standards-setting
organizations are adopting or establishing formal technology standards for use in a wide range of consumer
hardware devices, software products and Internet applications. In the past, we have not participated in standards-
setting organizations, nor have we sought to have our technologies adopted as industry standards. As such,
participants in the consumer hardware or software industries or consumers may elect not to purchase our
technologies because they have not been adopted by standards-setting organizations or if a competing technology
is adopted as an.industry standard.

Qur business may depend in part upon our ability to provide effective digital rights management technology.

Our business may depend in part upon our ability to provide effective digital rights management technology that
controls access to digital content that addresses, among other things, content providers’ concerns over piracy. We
cannot be certain that we can continue to develop, license or acquire such technology, or that content licensors,
consumer hardware device manufacturers or consumers will accept such technology. In addition, consumers may
be unwilling to accept the use of digital rights management technology that limits their use of content, especially
with large amounts of free content readily available. We may need to license digital rights management
technology from third parties to support our technologies and products. Such technology may not be available to
us on reasonable terms, or at all. If digital rights management technology is not effective, is perceived as not
effective or is compromised by third parties, or if laws are enacted that require digital rights management
technology to atlow consumers to convert content stored in a protected format into an unprotected format,
content providers may not be willing to encode their content using our products and consumer hardware device
manufacturers may not be willing to include our technologies in their products.
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We have offered and we eéxpect to continue to offer some of our preducts and technologies for reduced prices
or free of charge, and we may not realize the benefits of this marketing strategy.

We have offered and expect to continue to offer some of our products and technologies to consumers for red aced
prices or free of charge as part of our overall strategy of developing a digital media ecosystem and promoting
additional penetration of our products and technologies into the markets in which we compete. If we offer such
products and technologies at reduced prices or free of charge, we will forego all or a portion of the revenue fiom
licensing these products, and we may not realize the intended benefits of this marketing strategy.

Our online video communities and distribution services and platforms are rapidly evolving and may not prove
viable. ’

Online video distribution is a relatively new enterprise, and successful business modeis for delivering digital
media overthe Internet are not fully tested. We have only recently launched our efforts to develop a business
centered around online content delivery, and we have recently ceased operation of our Stage6 service, which was
our first full-scale direct attempt at this business. We have not scaled any of our other distribution or community
services or platforms to a material size. We may fail to develop a viable business model that properly monetizes
our technology platforms for online video communities.

Our decision to cease operations of the StageG service may result in a negative impact to our brand or to our
ability to achieve certain business metrics.

Our decision to shut down the Stage6 service may be viewed unfavorably by users and consumers, who may then
opt not to download our software or purchase products or services offered by DivX, The shutdown of Stage6 may
result in users and consumers developing unfavorable opinions about cur business, which, in turn, may
negatively impact our brand image and our business. Additionally, loss of users and consumers could impact the
perceived demand for DivX Certified products by our licensees, which could negatively impact our ability to
generate revenue. Further, as Stage6 was one service offering through which users developed a desire to
download and install our software offerings, we may see slower adoption of our software and a negative impact
on our ability to generate revenue from the distribution of third party software, including that from Yahoo!.

We will need to increase the size of our organization, and we maj experience difficulties in managing growth.

As of December 31, 2007 we had over 380 full-time employees, including full-time equivalents. We will neec to
continue to expand our managerial, operational, financial and other resources to manage our business, including
our relationships with key customers and licensees. Qur current facilities and systems may not be adequate to
support this future growth. We may require additional office space to accommodate our growth. Additional
office space may not be available on commercially reasonable terms and may result in a disruption of our
corporate culture. Our need to effectively manage our operations, growth and various projects requires that we:
continue to improve our operational, financial and management conirols, reporting sysiems and procedures and
to attract and retain sufficient numbers of talented employees. We may be unable to successfully implement th.ese
tasks on a larger scale, which could prevent us from executing our business strategy.

We have expen’encea‘ recent changes in our senior management, which may disrupt our operations.

We have recently experienced several changes in our senior management, including the departure of our former
Chief Financial Officer, the appointment of Kevin Hell as our Chief Executive Officer and the addition of Dan L.
Halvorson as our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. In addition, we recently announced that
R. Jordan Greenbhall, our former Chief Executive Officer, has resigned as an employee of DivX, Inc. In February
2008 Chris Russell resigned as our Chief Technology Officer and we appointed Markus Moenig as our new
Chief Technology Officer. We may experience disruptions in our operations as a result of these changes and axs
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the new members of our management team become acclimated to their roles and to our company in general. If
we experience any of these disruptions or a loss of management attention to our core business, our operating
results could be adversely affected.

Our business, in particular our content distribution offerings and community forums, will suffer if our
systems or networks fail, become unavailable or perform poorly so that current or potential users do not have
adequate access to our online products and websites.

Our ability to provide our online offerings will depend on the continued operation of our information systems
and networks. As our user traffic increases and our products become more complex, we will need more
computing power. We have spent, and may again spend, substantial amounts to purchase or lease data centers
and equipment and to upgrade our technology and network infrastructure to handle increased traffic on our
website and to introduce new technologies and products. These expansions may be expensive and complex and
could result in inefficiencies or operational failures. If we do not implement these expansions successfully, or if
we experience inefficiencies and operational failures during the implementation, the quality of our technologies
and products and our users’ experience could decline. This could damage our reputation and lead us to lose
current and potential users, advertisers and content providers.

In addition, significant or repeated reductions in the performance, reliability or availability of our information
systems and network infrastructure could harm our ability to provide our content distribution offerings and
advertising platforms. We could experience failures in our systems and networks from our failure to adequately
maintain and enhance these systems and networks, natural disasters and similar events, power failures,
intentional actions to disrupt our systems and networks and many other causes. The vulnerability of our computer
and communications infrastructure is increased because it is largely located at facilities in San Diego, California,
an area that is at heightened risk of earthquake, wildfires and flood. We are vulnerable to terrorist attacks, fires,
power loss, telecommunications failures, computer viruses, computer denial of service attacks or other atiempts
to harm our systems. Moreover, much of our facilities are located near the landing path of a military base and are
subject to risks related to falling debris and aircraft crashes. We do not currently have fully redundant systems or
a formal disaster recovery plan, and we may not have adequate business interruption insurance to compensate us
for losses that may occur from a system outage.

Any failure or interruption of the services provided by bandwidth providers, data centers or other key third
parties could subject our business to disruption and additional costs and damage our reputation.

We rely on third-party vendors, including data center and bandwidth providers for network access or co-location
services that are essential to our business. Any interruption in these services, including any failure to handle
current or higher volumes of use, could subject our business to disruption and additional costs and significantly
harm our reputation. Our systems are also heavily reliant on the availability of eleciricity, which also comes from
third-party providers. The cost of electricity has risen in recent years with the rising costs of fuel. If the cost of
electricity continues to increase, such increased costs could significantly increase our expenses. In addition, if we
were to experience a major power outage, it could result in a significant disruption of our business.

Our network is subject to security risks that could harm our reputation and expose us to litigation or liability.

Online commerce and communications depend on the ability to transmit confidential or proprietary information
securely over private and public networks. Any compromise of our ability to transmit and store such information
and data securely, and any costs associated with preventing or eliminating such problems, could impair our
ability to distribute technologies and products or collect revenue, threaten the proprietary or confidential nature
of our technology, harm our reputation and expose us to litigation or liability. We also may be required to expend
significant capital or other resources to protect against the threat of security breaches or hacker attacks or to
alleviate problems caused by such breaches or attacks, Any successful attack or breach of our security could hurt
consumer demand for our technologies and products and expose us to consumer class action lawsuits and other
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liabilities, In addition, our vulnerability to security risks may affect our ability to maintain effective internal
controls over financial reporting as contemplated by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

It is not yet clear how laws designed to protect children that use the Internet may be interpreted and enforced,
and whether new similar laws will be enacted in the future which may apply to our business in ways that may
subject us to potential liability.

The Child Online Protection Act and the Children’s Online Privacy Protection Act impose civil and criminal
penalties on persons distributing material harmful to minors (e.g., obscene material) over the Internet to persons
under the age of 17, or collecting personal information from children under the age of 3. We do not knowingly
distribute harmful materials to minors, direct our websites or services, to children under the age of 13, or collect
personal information from children under the age of 13. However, we are not able to control the ways in which
consurers use our technology, and our technology may be used for purposes that violate these laws. The manner
in which these Acts may be interpreted and enforced cannot be fully determined, and future legistation similer to
these Acts could subject us to potential liability if we were deemed to be non-compliant with such rules and
regulations.

We may be subject to market risk and legal ligbility in connection with the data collection capabilities of our
various online services.

Many components of our online services include interactive components that by their very nature require
communication between a client and server to operate. To provide better consumer experiences and to operatz
effectively, we collect certain information from users. Our collection and use of such informatton may be sutject
to United States state and federal privacy and data collection laws and regulations, as well as foreign laws such as
the EU Data Protection Directive. We post an extensive privacy policy concerning the collection, use and
disclosure of user data, including that involved in interactions between our client and server products. Because of
the evolving nature of our business and applicable law, our privacy policy may now or in the future fail to
comply with applicable law. Any failure by us to comply with our posted privacy policy, any failure by us to
conform our privacy policy to changing aspects of our business or applicable law, or any existing or new
legislation regarding privacy issues could impact the market for our online video community service,
technologies and products and subject us to fines, litigation or other lability.

Improper conduct by users could subject us to claims and compliance costs.

The terms of use and end-user license agreements for our products and services prohibit a broad range of
unlawful or undesirable conduct. However, we are unable to block access in all instances to users who are
determined to gain access to our products or services for improper motives. Claims may be threatened or brought
against us using various legal theories based on the nature and content of information or media that may be
created, posted online or generated by our users or the use of our technology. This risk includes actions by our
users to copy or distribute third-party content. Investigating and defending any of these types of claims could be
expensive, even if the claims do not ultimately result in liability. In addition, we may incur substantial costs t2
enforce our terms of use or end-user license agreements and to exclude certain users of our services or products
who violate such terms of use or end-user license agreements, or who otherwise engage in unlawful or
undesirable conduct.

We may be subject to legal liability for the provision of third-party products, services, content or advertising.

We have entered into, and expect to continue to enter into, arrangements for third-party products, services,
content or advertising to be offered in connection with our various content distribution offerings. Certain of these
arrangements involve the enabling distribution of digital content owned by third parties, which may subject us to
third party claims related to such products, services, content or advertising, including defamation, violation o
privacy laws, misappropriation of publicity rights, violation of United States federal CAN-SPAM legislation, and
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infringement of intellectual property rights. We require users of our services to agree to terms of use that
prohibit, among other things, the posting of content that violates third party intellectual property rights, or that is
obscene, hateful or defamatory. We have implemented procedures to enforce such terms of use on certain of our
services, including taking down content that violates our terms of use for which we have received notification, or
that we are aware of, and/or blocking access by, or terminating the accounts of, users determined to be repeat
violators of our terms of use. Despite these measures, we cannot guarantee that such unauthorized content will
not exist on our services, that these procedures will reduce our liability with respect to such unauthorized third
party conduct or content, or that we will be able to resolve any disputes that may arise with content providers or
users regarding such conduct or content. Qur agreements with these parties may not adequately protect us from
these potential liabilities. Investigating and defending any of these types of claims is expensive, even if the
claims do not result in liability. If any of these claims results in liability, we could be required to pay damages or
other penalties.

We may be subject to assessment of sales taxes and other taxes for our licensing of technology or sale of
products.

We do not currently directly collect sales taxes or other taxes on the licensing of our technology, the sale of our
products over the Internet, or our distribution of content. Although we have evaluated the tax requirements of
certain major tax jurisdictions with respect to the licensing of our technology or the sale of our products over the
Internet, in the past we have licensed or sold, and in the future we may license or sell, our technologies or
products to consumers located in jurisdictions where we have not evaluated the tax consequences of such license
or sale. We would incur substantial costs if one or more taxing jurisdictions required us to collect sales or other
taxes from past licenses of technology or sales or distributions of our products or content over the Internet,
particularly because we would be unable to go back to customers to collect sales, value added or other taxes for
past licenses, sales or distributions and would likely have to pay such taxes out of our own funds. Certain of our
licensing agreements require our partners to pay taxes to applicable taxing jurisdictions as a result of the sale of
products that incorporate our technologies. If our licensees fail to pay such taxes, we may become liable for the
payment of such taxes.

We also intend to sell content over the Internet to consumers throughout the world in conjunction with certain of
our service offerings. We intend to comply with applicable tax requirements of certain major tax jurisdictions
with respect to such sales. However, we may sell content to consumers located in jurisdictions where we have not
evaluated the tax consequences of such sale. If we fail to comply with tax requirements of tax jurisdictions in
which we sell content online, we may become liable for substantial costs or penalties.

Inflation and other unfavorable economic conditions may adversely affect our revenues, margins and
profitability.

Our consumer software products, as well as the consumer hardware device and software products that contain our
technologies, are discretionary purchases for consumers. Consumers are generally more willing to make
discretionary purchases during favorable economic conditions. As a result of inflation or other unfavorable
economic conditions, including higher interest rates, increased taxation, higher consumer debt levels and lower
availability of consumer credit, consumers’ purchases of discretionary items may decline, which could adversely
affect our revenues. In addition, while inflation historically has not had a material effect on our operating results,
we may experience inflationary conditions in our cost base due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates
that reduce the purchasing power of the United States dollar, increases in selling, general and administrative
expenses, reduced interest rates for our cash positions, and other factors. These inflationary conditions may harm
our margins and profitability if we are unable to increase our license, advertising and content distribution fees or
reduce our costs sufficiently to offset the effects of inflation in our cost base. Our attempts to offset the effects of
inflation and cost increases through controlling our expenses, passing cost increases on to our licensees,
advertisers and partners or any other method may not succeed,
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Failure to comply with applicable current and future government regulations could limit our ability to license
our technologies, sell our products or distribute content, and expose us to additional costs and liabilities.

Qur operations and business practices are subject to federal, state and local government laws and regulations, as
well as international laws and regulations, including those relating to import or export of technology and
software, distribution or censorship of content, use of encryption or other digital rights management software and
consumer and other safety-related compliance for electronic equipment. Any failure by us to comply with the
laws and regulations applicable to us or our technologies, products or our distribution of content could result in
our inability to license those technologies, sell those products, or distribute content, additional costs to redesign
technologies, products or our methods for distribution of content to meet such laws and regulations, fines or other
administrative, civil or criminal liability or actions by the agencies charged with enforcing compliance and,
possibly, damages awarded to persons claiming injury as the result of our non-compliance. Changes in or
enactment of new statutes, rules or regulations applicable to us could have a maierial adverse effect on our
business.

If we lose the services of key members of our senior management team, we may not be able to execute our
business strategy,

Our future success depends in large part upon the continued services of key members of our senior manageme.at
team. All of our executive officers and key employees are at-will employees, and we do not maintain any key
person life insurance policies. The loss of our management or key personnel could seriously harm our ability to
execute our business strategy. We also may have to incur significant costs in identifying, hiring, training and
retaining replacements for key employees.

We rely on highly skilled personnel, and if we are unable to retain or motivate key personnel or hire qualified
personnel, we may not be able to maintain our operations or grow effectively.

Qur performance is largely dependent on the talents and efforts of highly skilled individuals. These individuals
have acquired specialized knowledge and skills with respect to us and our operations. Our employment
relationship with each of these individuals is on an at will basis and can be terminated at any time. If any of these
individuals or a group of individuals were to terminate their employment unexpectedly, we could face substantial
difficulty in hiring qualified successors and could experience a loss in productivity while any such successor
obtains the necessary training and experience.

Our future success depends on our continuing ability to identify, hire, develop, motivate and retain highly skilled
personnel for all areas of our organization. In this regard, if we are unable to hire and train a sufficient number of
qualified employees for any reason, we may not be able to implement our current initiatives or grow effectively,
We have in the past maintained a rigorous, highly selective and time-consuming hiring process. We believe that
our approach to hiring has significantly contributed to our success to date. However, our highly selective hiring
process has made it more difficult for us to hire a sufficient number of qualified employees, and, as we grow, our
hiring process may prevent us from hiring the personnel we need in a timely manner, Moreover, the cost of living
in the San Diego area, where our corporate headquarters are located, has been an impediment to attracting new
employees in the past, and we expect that this will continue to impair our ability 1o attract and retain employees
in the future. If we do not succeed in attracting qualified personnel and retaining and motivating existing
personnel, our ability to execute our business strategy may suffer.

Our recent acquisitions, as well as any companies or technologies we may acquire in the future, could prove
difficult to integrate and may result in unexpected costs and disruptions to our business.

We recently acquired all of the outstanding shares of MainConcept AG, a leading provider of audio and video
codecs and software development Kits to the broadcast, film and consumer markets. In early 2007 we acquired all
of the assets of a limited liability corporation engaged in developing real-time digital video processing
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technology for the purposes of producing enhanced video search and discovery services. We expect to continue
to evaluate possible additional acquisitions of technologies and businesses on an ongoing basis. Our recent
acquisitions, as well as acquisitions in which we may engage in the future, entail numerous operational and
financial risks including certain of the following risks:

+ exposure to unknown liabilities;

» disruption of our business and diversion of our management’s time and attention to developing
acquired products or technologies; .

+ incurrence of substantial debt or dilutive issuances of securities to pay for acquisitions;
 higher than expected acquisition and integration costs;
* increased amortization expenses;

» difficulty and cost in combining the operations and personnel of any acquired businesses with our
operations and personnel;

*  impairment of relationships with key suppliers or customers of any acquired businesses due to changes
in management and ownership; and

* inability to retain key employees of any acquired businesses.
We have limited experience in identifying new acquisition targets, successfully completing acquisitions and
integrating any acquired products, businesses or technologies into our current infrastructure. Moreover, in the

future we may devote resources to potential acquisitions that are never completed or that fail to realize any of
their anticipated benefits,

We may not realize the benefits we expect from the acquisition of MainConcept.

The integration of MainConcept's technology may be time consuming and expensive, and may disrupt our
business. We will need to overcome significant challenges to realize any benefits or synergies from this
transaction. These challenges include the timely, efficient and successful execution of a number of post-
transaction integration activities, including:

» integrating MainConcept’s technology;

+ entering markets in which we have limited or no prior experience;

+ successfully completing the development of MainConcept’s technologies;

+ developing commercial products based on those technologies;

+ retaining and assimilating the key personnel of MainConcept;

» attracting additional customers for products based on MainConcept's technologies;

+ implementing and maintaining uniform standards, controls, processes, procedures, policies, accounting
systems and information systems; and

» managing expenses of any potential legal liability of MainConcept.

In particular, we may encounter difficulties successfully integrating our operations, technologies, services and
personnel with those of MainConcept, and our financial and management resources may be diverted from our
existing operations. For example, as a result of our acquisition of MainConcept we have additional offices in
Germany, Russia and Japan. Maintaining offices in multiple countries could create a strain on our ability to
effectively manage our operations and personnel. In addition, the process of integrating operations and
technology could cause an interruption of, or loss of momentum in, the activities of one or more of our
businesses and the loss of key personnel. The delays or difficulties encountered in connection with the
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integration of MainConcept's technologies could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations or
financial condition. We may not succeed in addressing these risks or any other problems encountered in
connection with this transaction. Our inability to successfully integrate the technology and personnel of
MainConcept, or any significant delay in achieving integration, including regulatory approval delays, could have
a material adverse effect on us and, as a result, on the market price of our common stock.

Our corporate culture has contributed to our success, and if we cannot maintain this culture as we grow, we
could lose the innovation, creativity and teamwork fostered by our culture.

We believe that a critical contributor to our success has been our corporate culture, which we believe fosters
innovation, creativity and teamwork. As our organization grows and we are required to implement more complex
organizational management structures, we may find it increasingly difficult to maintain the beneficial aspects of
our corporate culture. This could negatively impact our future success.

Risks related to eur finances

Our quarterly operating results and stock price may fluctuate significantly.

We expect our operating resulis to be subject to quarterly fluctuations. The revenues we generate and our
operating results and the market price of our common stock will be affected by numerous factors, including:

= demand for our technologies and products;

» introduction, enhancement and market acceptance of technologies and products by us and our
competilors;

+ price reductions by us or our competitors or changes in how technologies and products are priced;

« the mix of technologies and products offered by us and our competitors;

» the mix of distribution channels through which our technologies and products are licensed and sold,;

* our ability to successfully generate revenues from advertising and content distribution;

+ the mix of international and United States revenues attributable to our technologies and products;

« costs of intellectual property protection and any litigation;

« timing of payments received by us pursuant to our licensing agreements;

+ our ability to hire and retain qualified personnel; and

¢ growth in the use of the Internet.
As a result of the variances in quarterly volumes reported by our consumer hardware device manufacturing
customers, we expect our revenues to be subject to seasonality, with our second quarter revenues expected to be
lower than the revenues we derive in our other quarters. In addition, a substantial majority of our quarterly
revenues are based on actual shipment of products incorporating our technologies in that quarter, and not on
contractually agreed upon minimum revenue commitments. Because the shipping of products by our consumer
hardware and independent software vendor partners are outside our control and difficult to predict, our ability to
accurately forecast quarterly revenue is substantially limited. Quarterly fluctuations in our operating results may,
in turn, cause the price of our stock to fluctuate substantially, We believe that quarterly comparisons of our

financial results are not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as an indication of our future
performance.

We have a history of net losses and only recently achieved profitability on a quarterly basis, and we may not be
able to sustain our praofitability.

We may not generate sufficient revenue 1o be profitable on a quarterly or annual basis in the future. In addition,
we devote significant resources to developing and enhancing our technology and to selling, marketing and
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obtaining content for our technologies and products. We expect our operating expenses to increase, as we, among
other things:

+ develop and grow our community and content distribution platform initiatives;
« expand our domestic and international sales and marketing activities;

* increase our product development efforts to advance our existing technologies and products and
develop new technologies and products;

« hire additional personne!;

« upgrade our operational and financial systems, procedures and controls and continued compliance with
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act; and

= continue to assume the responsibilities of being a public company.

In addition, starting January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment, which required that
we record stock-based compensation charges in connection with our equity compensation for employees. As a
result, we expect to continue to record significant expenses in future periods and we will need to generate
significant revenue to be profitable in the future.

We may require additional capital, and raising additional funds by issuing securities, debt financing or
through strategic alliances or licensing arrangements may cause dilution to existing stockholders, restrict our
operations or require us to relinquish proprietary rights.

We may raise additional funds through public or private equity offerings, debt financings, strategic alliances or
licensing arrangements, To the extent that we raise additional capital by issuing equity securities, our existing
stockholders’ ownership will be diluted. Any debt financing we enter into may involve covenants that restrict our
operations. These restrictive covenants may include limitations on additional borrowing, specific restrictions on
the use of our assets as well as prohibitions on our ability to create liens, pay dividends, redeem our stock or
make investments. In addition, if we raise additional funds through strategic alliances or licensing arrangements,
it may be necessary to relinquish potentially valuable rights to our potential products or proprietary technologies,
or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us.

Risks related to our intellectual property

We are, and may in the future be, subject to intellectual property rights claims, which are costly to defend,
could require us to pay damages and could limit our ability to use certain technologies or content in the
Juture.

Companies in the technology and entertainment industries own large numbers of patents, copyrights, trademarks
and trade secrets and they frequently make claims and commence litigation based on allegations of infringement
or other violations of intellectual property rights, including those relating to digital media standards such as
MPEG-4, H.264, MP3 and AAC or relating to video or music content. We have faced such claims in the past, we
currently face such claims, and we expect to face similar claims in the future. For instance, we have been
contacted by third parties regarding the licensing of certain patents characterized by such parties as being
essential to the MPEG-4 visual standard. In this regard, AT&T has offered to license us certain patents it claims
are essential to MPEG-4 and our products, and while we believe we do not need a license from AT&T for these
patents, AT&T may pursue their claims. We have also been contacted by LG Electronics regarding a license to
certain patents that LG Electronics owns and claims are related to the MPEG-4 visual standard. LG Electronics is
one of our most significant customers in consumer hardware technology licensing and any dispute with LG over
intellectual property rights could materially and adversely affect this important commercial relationship. In the
event we determine that we need to obtain a license from any third party, we cannot guarantee that we would be
able to obtain such license on commercially reasonable terms, if at all. We may be required to develop
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non-infringing alternative technologies, which could be very time consuming and expensive, and there is no
guarantee that we would be successful in developing such technologies. We have also been asked by content
owners to stop the display or hosting of copyrighted materials by our users or ourselves through our service
offerings, including notices provided to us pursuant to the Digital Millennium Copyright Act. For instance, in the
recent past several major motion picture studios, record labels, television networks, and trade associations such
as the Recording Industry Association of America and the Motion Picture Association of America have asked us
to remove content posted by users of our website which it claims infringe its rights in such content. Among those
labels who have asked us to remove content is Universal Music Group, Inc. (“UMG”), who also asserted claims
of copyright infringement against us arising from the operation of Stage6, our online video community service.
As a result, on September 6, 2007, we filed a lawsuit against UMG seeking a declaratory relief judgment against
UMG. UMG responded by filing a lawsuit against us in the Central District of California on October 22, 2007
alleging copyright infringement and seeking monetary damages, and later sought to dismiss or transfer the
lawsuit that we initially filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California, On
February 5, 2008, the Court in the Southern District of California granted UMG’s motion to dismiss the
Company’s lawsuit. At this time the parties are waiting for the Court to decide on the Company’s currently
pending motion to dismiss UMG’s action in the Central District. Moreover, content providers may claim that we
are contributorily or vicariously liable for third parties’ use of our technology or service offerings to infringe the
content providers’ copyrights. Users of our services are subject to terms of use that prohibit the posting of
content that violates third party intellectual property rights. We have and will promptly respond to legitimate
takedown notices or complaints, including but not limited to those submitted pursuant to the Digital Millennium
Copyright Act, notifying us that we are providing unauthorized access to copyrighted content by removing such
content and/or any links to such content from our websites. Nevertheless, we cannot guarantee that our promot
removal of content, including removal pursuant to the provisions of the Digital Millennium Copyright Act, will
prevent disputes with content providers, that infringing content will not exist on our services, or that we will be
able to resolve any disputes that may arise with content providers or users regarding such infringing content. Any
intellectual property claims, with or without merit, could be time-consaming, expensive to litigate or settle and
could divert management resources and attention. An adverse determination could require that we pay damages,
block access to certain content, or stop using technologies found to be in violation of a third party’s rights, ard
could prevent us from offering cur technologies, products or certain content to others. To avoid these restrict.ons,
we may be required to seek a license for the technology or content from additional third parties. Such licenses
may not be available on reasonable terms, could require us to pay significant royalties and may significantly
increase our cost of revenues. The technologies or content also may not be available for license to us at all. As a
result, we may be required to develop alternative non-infringing technologies, or license alternative content,
which couid require significant effort and expense. If we cannot license or develop technologies or content for
any infringing aspects of our business, we may be forced to limit our technology or content offerings and may be
unable to compete effectively with entities that offer such technology or content. In addition, from time to tinie
we engage in disputes regarding the licensing of our intellectual property rights, including matters related to our
royalty rates and other terms of our licensing arrangements. These types of disputes can be asserted by our
licensees or prospective licensees or by other third parties as part of negotiations with us or in private actions
seeking monetary damages or injunctive relief. Any disputes with our licensees or potential licensees or other
third parties could harm our reputation and expose us to additional costs and other liabilities.

We may be unable to adequately protect the proprietary rights in our technologies and products.

We have only two issued patents in the United States and one issued patent in foreign jurisdictions, along with
exclusive rights to one additional United States patent, and we generally do not rely upon patents to protect oar
proprietary rights. In addition, our ability to obtain patent protection for our technologies and products will be
limited as a result of the incorporation of aspects of MPEG-4, MP3, and other standards-based technologies to
our technologies and products. We license such technologies from third party licensors and do not own any
patents relating to such technologies. As a result, we do not have the right to defend perceived infringements of
patents relating to such technologies. Moreover, the licensors from which we have acquired the right to
incorporate MPEG-4 and MP3 technologies into our products are not the exclusive owners of the patents relating
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to such technologies. As a result, our licensors must coordinate enforcement efforts with the owners of such
patents to protect or defend against infringements of patents relating to such technology, which can be expensive,
time consuming and difficult. Any significant impairment of the intellectual property rights relating to the
MPEG-4 or MP3 technologies we license for use in our technologies and products could reduce the value of such
technologies, which could impair our ability to compete. )

Our ability to compete partly depends on the superiority, uniqueness and value of our technologies, including
both internally developed technology and technology licensed from third parties. To protect our proprietary
rights, we rely on a combination of trademark, patent, copyright and trade secret laws, confidentiality agreements
with our employees and third parties, and protective contractual provisions. Despite our efforts to protect our
intellectual property, any of the following occurrences may reduce the value of our intellectual property:

s+ our applications for trademarks or patents may not be granted and, if granted, may be challenged or
invalidated,

» issued patents, copyrights and trademarks may not provide us with any competitive advantages,
P pyng y P y p d

» our efforts to protect our intellectual property rights may not be effective in preventing
misappropriation of our technology or dilution of our trademarks;

« our efforts may not prevent the development and design by others of products or technologies similar
to or competitive with, or superior to those that we develop; or

+ another party may obtain a blocking patent that would force us to either obtain a license or design
around the patent to continue to offer the contested feature or service in our technologies.

Legislation may be passed that would require companies to share information about their digital rights
management technology to permit interoperability with other systems. If this legislation is enacted, we may be
required 1o reveal our proprietary digital rights management code to competitors. Furthermore, if content must be
formatted such that it can be played on a media player other than a DivX Certified player, then the demand for
DivX Certified players could decrease.

We may be forced to litigate to defend our intellectual property nghts or to defend against claims by third
parties against us relating to intellectual property rights.

Disputes regarding the ownership of technologies and rights associated with digital media technologies and
online businesses are common and likely to arise in the future. We may be forced to litigate to enforce or defend
our intellectual property rights, to protect our trade secrets or to determine the validity and scope of other parties’
proprietary rights. Any such litigation could be very costly and could distract our management from focusing on
operating our business. '

Qur ability to maintain and enforce our trademark rights has a large impact on our ability to prevent third
party infringement of our brand and technologies.

We generally rely on enforcing our trademark rights to prevent unauthorized use of our brand and technologies.
Our ability to prevent unauthorized uses of our brand and technologies would be negatively impacted if our
trademark registrations were overturned in the jurisdictions where we do business. Our brand and logo are widely
used by consumers and entities, both licensed and unlicensed, in association with digital video compression
technology, and if we are not vigilant in preventing unauthorized or improper use of our trademarks, then our
trademarks could become generic and we would lose our ability to assert such trademarks against others. We also
have trademark applications pending in a number of jurisdictions that may not ultimately be granted, or if
granted, may be challenged or invalidated, in which case we would be unable to prevent unauthorized use of our
brand and logo in such jurisdiction. We have not filed trademark registrations in all jurisdictions where our brand
and logo are vsed. .
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Some software we provide may be subject to “epen source” licenses, which may restrict how we use or
distribute our software or require that we release the source code of certain products subject to those licerses.

Some of the products we support and some of our proprietary technologies incorporate open source software
such as open source MP3 codecs that may be subject to the Lesser Gnu Public License or other open source
licenses. The Lesser Gnu Public License and other open source licenses typically require that source code subject
to the license be released or made available to the public. Such open source licenses typically mandate that
software developed based on source code that is subject to the open source license, or combined in specific vrays
with such open source software, become subject to the open source license. We take steps to ensure that
proprietary software we do not wish to disclose is not combined with, or does not incorporate, open source
software in ways that would require such proprietary software to be subject to an open source license. However,
few courts have interpreted the Lesser Gnu Pubtlic License or other open source licenses, and the manner in
which these licenses may be interpreted and enforced is therefore subject to some uncertainty. We also take steps
to disclose any source code for which disclosure is required under an open source license, but it is possible that
we have or will make mistakes in doing so, which could negatively impact our brand or our adoption in the
commtnity, or could expose use to additional liability. In addition, we rely on multiple software programmers to
design our proprietary products and technologies. Although we take steps to ensure that our programmers do not
include open source software in products and technologies we intend to keep proprietary, we do not exercise
complete control over the development efforts of our programmers and we cannot be certain that our
programmers have not incorporated open source software into products and technologies we intend to keep
proprietary. In the event that portions of our proprietary technology are determined to be subject to an open
source license, or are intentionally released under an open source license, we could be required to publicly
release the relevant portions of our source code, which could reduce or eliminate our ability to commercialize our
products and technologies. Also, in relying on multiple software programmers to design products and
technologies that we intend, or ultimately end up releasing in the open source community, we may discover that
one or multiple such programmers have included code or language that would be embarrassing to the company,
which could negatively impact our brand or our adoption in the community, or could expose use to additional
liability.

Risks related to the securities markets and investment in our common stock

Market volatility may affect our stock price and the value of your investment.

The market price for our common stock has been and is likely to continue to be volatile, in part because our
shares have only recently been traded publicly. In addition, the market price of our common stock may fluctuzte
significantly in response to a number of factors, most of which we cannot control, including:

+ announcements of new products, services or technologies, commercial relationships or other events by
us or our competitors;

» regulatory developments in the United States and foreign countries;

» fluctuations in stock market prices and trading volumes of similar companies;
+ variations in our quarterly operating results;

¢ changes in securities analysts’ estimates of our financial performance;

» changes in-accounting principles;

» sales of large blocks of our common stock, including sales by our executive officers, directors and
significant stockholders;

* additions or departures of key personnel; and

+ discussion of us or our stock price by the financial press and in online investor communities.
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Shares of our common stock are relatively illiquid.

As of February 29, 2008, we had 34,894,369 shares of common stock outstanding, excluding 89,497 shares
subject to repurchase. As a result of our relatively small public float, our common stock may be less liquid than
the stock of companies with broader public ownership, Among other things, trading of a relatively smalt volume
of our common stock may have a greater impact on the trading price for our shares than would be the case if our
public float were larger. We have recently announced a planned buy-back of up to $20 million of our common
stock, which may impact the liquidity of our common stock.

Anti-takeover provisiens in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us,
which may be beneficial to our stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to
replace or remove our current management. :

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may delay or prevent an acquisition of us or a change in
our management. These provisions include a classified board of directors, a prohibition on actions by written
consent of our stockholders and the ability of our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder
approval. In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of

Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which limits the ability of stockholders owning in excess
of 15% of our outstanding voting stock to merge or combine with us. Although we believe these provisions
collectively provide for an opportunity to obtain higher bids by requiring potential acquirors to negotiate with our
board of directors, they would apply even if an offer were considered beneficial by some stockholders. In
addition, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our
current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our board of directors,
which is responsible for appointing the members of our management.

We do not intend to pay dividends on our common stock.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain any future
earnings and do not expect to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future.

We will incur increased costs as a result of changes in laws and regulations relating to corporate governance
matters.

Changes in the laws and regulations affecting public companies, including the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act and rules adopted by the SEC and by The Nasdaq Stock Market, will result in increased costs to us as we
continue to evaluate the implications of these laws and respond to their requirements. The impact of these laws
and regulations could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our
board of directors, our board committees or as executive officers. We are presently evaluating and monitoring
developments with respect to these laws and regulations and cannot predict or estimate the amount or timing of
additional costs we may incur 1o respond to their requirements.

If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal controls, our ability to produce accurate financial
statements could be impaired, which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our stock
price.

Ensuring that we have adequate internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place to help ensure
that we can produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis is a costly and time-consuming effort that
needs to be re-evaluated frequently. We periodically document, review and, where appropriate, improve our
internal controls and procedures for compliance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which requires
annual management assessments of the effectiveness of our internal controls over financial reporting and a report
by our independent anditors addressing these assessments. Both we and our independent auditors periodically test
our internal controls in connection with the Section 404 requirements and could, as part of that documentation
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and testing, identify material weaknesses, significant deficiencies or other areas for further attention or
improvement. Our networks are vulnerable to security risks and hacker attacks, which may affect our ability to
maintain effective internal controls as contemplated by Section 404. Implementing any appropriate changes to
our internal controls may require spe(:lﬁc compliance training for our directors, officers and employees, enta’l
substantial costs to modify our existing accounting systems, and take a significant period of time to complete.
Such changes may not, however, be effective in maintaining the adequacy of our internal controls, and any
failure to maintain that adequacy, or consequent inability to produce accurate financial statements on a timel:s
basis, could increase our operating costs and could matertally impair our ability to operate our business. In
addition, disclosure regarding our internal controls or investors’ perceptions that our internal controls are
inadequate or that we are unable to produce accurate financial statements may adversely affect our stock price.
For example, in connection with our financial statement close process and our acquisition integration efforts, we
identified several control deficiencies at a company we acquired in 2007 whose operations are primarily foreign.
Specifically, there were defictencies in revenue recognition and the availability of a sufficiently trained
workforce in the accounting organization. Ernst & Young LLP, in connection with their audit for the year ended
December 31, 2007, also identified control deficiencies in the revenue recognition and financial statement close
processes at this same acquired company. These deficiencies could rise to the leve! of one or more material
weaknesses once the evaluation of these controls has been completed. We are in the process of implementing a
number of measures to remedy these deficiencies including the addition of qualified personnel. We believe the
new controls and procedures will address the deficiencies identified. The evaluation of these controls is expe:ted
to be completed subsequent to the date of this report and will be included in our report on internal contrel gver
financial reporting for the year ending December 31, 2008. We plan to continue to monitor the effectiveness of
the acquired company’s controls, including the operating effectiveness of the newly 1mplemenu,d measures and
plan to take further action, as appropriate.

Future sales of our common stock may cause our stock price to decline.

As of February 29, 2008, there were 34,894,369 shares of our common stock outstanding. Excluding 89,497
shares subject to repurchase, substantially all of these shares are eligible for sale in the public market, although as
of February 29, 2008, 3,953,571 of these shares were held by directors, executive officers and other affiliates and
will be subject to volume limitations under Rule 144. In addition, as of February 29, 2008 we had outstanding
warrants to purchase up to 175,000 shares of common stock that, it exercised, will result in these additional
shares becoming available for sale. A large portion of these shares and warrants are held by a small number of
persons and investment funds. Sales by these stockholders or warrantholders of a substantial number of shares
could significantly reduce the market price of our common stock. Moreover, the holders of 6,822,738 shares of
common stock at February 29, 2008 have rights, subject to some conditions, to require us to file registration
statements covering the shares they currently hold or to include these shares in registration statements that wi:
may file for ourselves or other stockholders. '

As of February 29, 2008, an aggregate of approximately 8,590,755 shares of our common stock were reserved for
future issuance under our 2000 Stock Option Plan, or 2000 Plan, our 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, or 2006 Plan,
and our 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or 2006 Purchase Plan and the share reserve under our 2006 Plan
and our 2006 Purchase Plan are subject to automatic annual increases in accordance with the terms of the plans.
These shares can be freely sold in the public market upon issuance. If a large number of these shares are sold in
the public market, the sales could reduce the trading price of our common stock and impede our ability to raise
future capital.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

t
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Item 2. Properties

We lease approximately 47,000 square feet of space for our headquarters in San Diego, California under an
agreement that expires in March 2009. We also lease offices in Aachen, Germany, Tomsk, Russia, and in various
other cities throughout the world, Further, we have executed a lease for approximately 30,000 square feet of
additional space in San Diego that expires in July 2008, which we do not intend to renew. We are currently
exploring alternatives to replace this space.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

On September 6, 2007, we filed a lawsuit seeking a declaratory relief judgment against Universal Music Group,
Inc. and related entities (“UMG™} in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California. In
the lawsuit we alleged that UMG has asserted claims of copyright infringement against us arising from the
operation of Stage6, our online video community service. We further alleged that UMG claimed that the Digital
Millennium Copyright Act, including without limitation its notice-and-takedown procedures, was inapplicable to
the activities of Stage6. We asked that the court declare that we are not liable to UMG for copyright infringement
based upon the operation of Stage6 or in the alternative that any potential liability is barred by provisions of the
Digital Millennium Copyright Act. UMG responded by filing a lawsuit against us in the Central District of
California on October 22, 2007 alleging copyright infringement and seeking monetary damages, and later sought
to dismiss or transfer the lawsuit that we initially filed in the United States District Court for the Southern
District of California. On February 5, 2008, the Court in the Southern District of California granted UMG’s
motion to dismiss the Company’s lawsuit. At this time, the parties are waiting for the Court to decide on the
Company’s currently pending motion to dismiss UMG’s action in the Central District. The Company believes it
has meritorious defenses to UMG's claims and will assert them vigorously, but litigation is inherently uncertain
and there can be no guarantee that we will prevail or that the litigation will not have material adverse
consequences for the Company; an unfavorable resolution of these proceedings could materially affect our future
operating results or financial conditions in particular periods.

We are also involved in various legal proceedings from time to time arising from the normal course of business
activities, including commercial, employment and other matters. In our opinion, resolution of these proceedings
is not expected to have a material adverse effect on our operating results or financial condition. However, it is
possible that an unfavorable resolution of one or more such proceedings could materially affect our future
operating results or financial condition in a particular period.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of cur security holders during the fourth quarter of 2007.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdag Global Market under the symbol “DIVX”. As of February 29, 2008,
there were approximately 177 shareholders of record. We believe that the number of beneficial owners is
substantially greater than the number of record holders because a large portion of our common stock is held of
record through brokerage firms in “street name.”

We have not paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in
the foreseeable future. The high and low sales prices of our common stock from September 21, 2006, the datz of
our initial public offering, through December 31, 2007 were as follows:

Sales Prices
“High  Low
2007:
FourthQuarter . . ... ... ... it 518.63 511.98
ThirdQuarter .. ... ... . e 15.60 12.61
Second Quarter . ... ... .. e 23.30 13.95
FirstQuarter ..................... S 24.24 18.64
2006:
Fourth Quarter . ...... ... . o, $31.89  $20.18
ThirdQuarter .. ... ... i e 25.21 16.00

The above quotations reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail markup, markdown or commission and may not
necessarily represent actual transactions.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Company

Pursuant to the terms of our 2000 Plan, options may typically be exercised prior to vesting. We have the right 1o
repurchase unvested shares from our employees and consultants upon their termination, and it is generally our
policy to do so. The following table provides information with respect to purchases made by us of shares of our
common stock during the three month pericd ended December 31, 2007:

Total Number Average Price Total Value

of Shares Paid per Paid by
Period Purchased(1) Share Company
October 1, 2007 through October 31,2007 ............ 147 $1.86 $ 159
November 1, 2007 through November 30, 2007 ........ 1,844 1.40 1,625
December 1, 2007 through December 31,2007 ...... .., 1,105 1.06 958

(1) All shares were originally purchased from us by employees and consultants pursuant to exercises of unvestzd
stock options. During the months listed above, we routinely repurchased the shares from our employees and
consultants upon their termination of employment pursuant to our right to repurchase unvested shares at the:
original exercise price under the terms of our Stock Plans and the related stock option agreements.

Stock Performance Graph

The following stock performance graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or 1o be
“filed"” with the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filing under the
Securities Act or Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing.
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The following stock performance graph compares total stockholder returns for DivX, Inc. from the date of our
initial public offering through December 31, 2007 against the Russell 2000 Index and a peer group comprising
DTS, Inc., Dolby Laboratories, Inc., RealNetworks, Inc., Adobe Systems Incorporated, and Google Inc.,
assuming a $100 investment made on September 22, 2006. Each of the two comparative measures of cumulative
total return assumes reinvestment of dividends. The stock performance shown on the graph below is not
necessarily indicative of future price performance.

COMPARISON OF 1 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*

Among DivX, Inc, The Russell 2000 index
And A Peer Group

$40

$20 -

$0 1 I L 1 1 x 1 L 1 1 I I L L L 1
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* 5100 invested on 9/22/06 in stock or index-including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

Sale of Unregistered Securities

In December 2007, in connection with the execution of a format approval agreement with Sony Pictures
Television, we issued warrants to purchase 100,000 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of § 16.14
per share that were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. These warrants were issued in
reliance upon the exemption from registration provided in Section 4(2) of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and/or Regulation D promulgated thereunder.

Use of Proceeds

Our initial public offering of common stock was effected through a Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File
No. 333-133855) that was declared effective by the SEC on September 21, 2006. The Registration Statement
covered the offer and sale by us of 7,461,538 shares of our common stock, which we sold to the public on
September 27, 2006 at a price of $16.00 per share, Qur initial public offering resulted in aggregate proceeds to us
of approximately $108.2 million, net of underwriting discounts and commissions of approximately $8.4 million
and offering expenses of approximately $2.8 million.

During the quarter ended December 31, 2007, we used $20.4 million of the proceeds from our initial public offering
in connection with our acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of MainConcept, $1.5 million to purchase
additional property and equipment to support our ongoing operations and $3.5 million to fund the operational
expenses of our Stage6 service. Such proceeds were used to make direct payments to third parties who were not our
officers or directors (or their associates), persons owning ten percent or more of any class of our equity securities, or
any other affiliate. The remaining $82.8 million of proceeds from our initial public offering are invested in auction
rate securities, government agency and corporate debt securities and money market funds.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following selected financial data has been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements and the
related notes. This information should be read in conjunction with Item 7—"“Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and with our consolidated financial statements and
the related notes set forth at the pages indicated in Item 15(a)(1) of this Report.

Fiscal Year
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Income Statement Data:

NELTEVENUES .« o oottt e et et e ettt $ 7,746 $16351 $33,047 § 59,325 $ 84,862
Gross profit ... ...ciii i 5846 12,849 29,391 55,337 80,383
(Loss) income from operations . ..................... (3,643 (3,925 3,134 14,013 357
(Loss) income before incometaxes .................. 3,732y (3,970 3,357 17,002 8,234
Net (loss}income . .... ...t inean (3,933) (4,343) 2,295 16,440 9,208
Net (loss) income per share(1):

BasiC .. e et $@09) $ 0823 — $ 070 % 027

Diluted .. .o e e $(090) % (082)3% — §$ 061 5§ 026
Balance Sheet Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments ... ... $ 607 $ 6934 $25,035 $148,641 $141,035
Working capital (deficit) ................ ..., (3,296) 2,147 22,348 147,019 138410
Total @SSBLS ..\ vttt et e e 2,787 13,680 33,164 164,386 200,888
Long-term debt, inclusive of current portion ........... 1,496 1,992 1,265 502 153
Stockholders’ equity .............. .. o i (2,626) 2,886 6,185 150,911 175,440

(1) See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for an explanation of shares used in computing
net income per share.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussions and analysis of our financial condition and results of our operations in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the notes to those statements included elsewhere in
this Annual Report. This discussion contains forward-looking statements reflecting our current expectations that
involve risks and uncertainties, Qur actual results and the timing of events may differ materially from those
contained in these forward-looking statements due to a number of factors, including those discussed in

Item 1.A—“Risk Factors,” and elsewhere in this Annual Report.

Overview

We create products and services designed to improve the experience of media. Our long-term goal is to allow
creators to have the ability to capture their content in the DivX format using any device or software of their
choosing and to allow consumers of such content to playback and interact with it on any device or platform.

In 2000, the first step towards our goal was to build and release a high-quality video compression-decompression
software library, or codec, to enable distribution of media across the Internet and through recordable media. As a
result, we created the DivX codec, which has been actively sought out and downloaded by consumers over

250 million times, including over 80 million times during the last twelve months. These downloads include those
for which we receive revenue as well as free downloads, such as limited-time trial versions, and downloads
provided as upgrades to existing end users of our products. After the significant grass-roots adoption of our
codec, the next step towards our goal was to license similar technology to consumer hardware device
manufacturers and certify their products to ensure the interoperable support of DivX-encoded content. Through
December 31, 2007, over 100 million DivX Certified hardware devices have been shipped worldwide. Our
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customers include major consumer video hardware original equipment manufacturers. We are entitled to receive
a royalty and/or license fee for DivX Certified devices that our customers ship. In addition to technology
licensing o consumer hardware device manufacturers, we currently generate revenue from software licensing
and related support, advertising and content distribution.

Complementing our organic growth since 2000, in November 2007, we acquired MainConcept AG
(“MainConcept™), a leading provider of H.264 and other high-quality video codecs and technologies for the
broadcast, film, consumer electronics and computer software markets. Through integration, we expect to realize
additional opportunities both in our core markets and in related emerging markets that will help advance our
long-term goal.

Our next steps, which we have begun working toward, are to bring together the millions of DivX consumers with
content creators both large and small to build communities around media, including through the development and
licensing of media distribution platforms and services for the Internet and consumer electronics devices. We are
optimistic about the future and believe the opportunity for DivX is only beginning to be realized.

Sources of revenues

We have four revenue streams. Three of these revenue streams are derived from our technologies, including
technology licensing to producers of consumer hardware devices, licensing to independent software vendors and
consumers, and providing services related to digital media distribution over the internet. Additionally, we derive
revenues from advertising and distributing third-party products on our website.

Our technology licensing revenues from consumer hardware device manufacturers comprise the majority of our
total revenues and are derived primarily from royalties and/or license fees received from original equipment
manufacturers, although related revenues are derived from other members of the consumer hardware device
supply chain. We license our technologies to original equipment manufacturers, allowing them to build support
of DivX technologies into their consumer hardware devices. In the majority of cases, original equipment
manufacturers pay us a per unit fee for each DivX Certified device they sell. Our license agreements with
original equipment manufacturers typically range from one to two years, and may include the payment of initial
fees, volume-based royalties and minimum guaranteed volume levels. To ensure high-quality support of the
DivX media format in finished consumer products, we also license our technologies to companies who create the
major components in consumer hardware devices. These companies include integrated circuit manufacturers who
supply integrated circuits, and original design manufacturers who create reference designs, for DVD players,
digital still cameras and the other consumer hardware devices distributed by our licensee original equipment
manufacturers. Because royalties are generated by the shipment volumes of our consumer hardware device
customers, and because sales by consumer hardware device manufacturers are highly seasonal, we expect
revenues relating to consumer hardware devices to be highly seasonal, with our second quarter revenues in any
given calendar year being generally lower than any other quarter in that calendar year.

We license our technologies to independent software vendors that incorporate our technologies into software
applications for computers and other consumer hardware devices. An independent software vendor typically pays
us an inittal license fee, in addition to per-unit royalties based on the number of products sold that include our
technology. We also license our technologies directly to consumers through several software bundles. We make
certain software bundles available free of charge from our website. These bundles incorporate a version of our
codec technology, and allow consumers to play and create content in the DivX format. We also make available
from our website an enhanced version of our free software bundles, including additional features that increase the
quality and control of DivX media playback and creation. These enhanced versions are available free of charge
for a limited trial period, which is generally 15 days. At the end of the trial period, our users are invited to
purchase a license to one or more components of the enhanced bundle by making a one time payment to us. If
they choose not to do so, they still enjoy playback and creation functionality equivalent to our free software
bundle. We believe that downloads of this software benefit our business both directly and indirectly. Our
business benefits directly from increased revenues when the user downloads a for-pay version. Our business
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benefits indirectly when free or trial versions are downloaded, as we believe such downloads increase our
installed base and therefore the demand for consumer hardware devices that contain our technologies.

We derive revenue from advertisements or third party software applications that we embed in or include with the
software packages we offer to consumers. For example, through most of 2007, we had agreed with Google to
include and distribute the Mozilla Firefox Browser and certain Google software products with our software
products. Google paid us fees based on the number of downloads or activations of the included software by
consumers. This agreement expired on November 30, 2007. Payments earned under the Google agreement
accounted for approximately 15%, 18% and 17% of our total net revenue in fiscal years 2005, 2006 and 2007,
respectively.

Beginning in November 2007, we switched from distribution of the Google software, to instead include and
distribute a co-branded Yahoo! toolbar and Internet Explorer browser with our software products. Yahoo! pays
us fees based on the number of certain distributions or installations of the Yahoo! software by consumers.
Yahoo! may terminate the agreement, or the revenue we derive for such periods will be reduced, if we fail o
achieve certain minimum distribution volumes or certain minimum installations of the Yahoo! software for
specific periods described in the agreement. This agreement expires on December 31, 2009, and Yahoo! is under
no obligation to renew this agreement.

We derive revenue by acting as an application service provider for third party owners of digital video content,
We provide encoding, content storage and distribution services to these third parties in exchange for a percentage
of the revenue they receive from sales of digital content to consumers. We also derive revenues by encoding
third-party content into the DivX format to allow such content to be delivered maore efficiently via the Internet.
Revenues for digital media distribution and other services have declined slightly for each of the last three years.
In the third quarter of 2006, we reported our first instance of revenue related to content distribution arrangements
with consumer hardware OEMs who pay us a fee for each copy of DivX-encoded content that is encoded on
physical media and bundled with their consumer hardware products. If our content licensing arrangements with
consumer hardware OEMs or our online video community services are successful, our digital media distribution
revenues may increase in future periods.

A small number of customers account for a significant percentage of our revenues. In 2007, Google and LG
Electronics accounted for 19% and 10%,. respectively, of our revenues. In 2006, Google and LG Electronics
accounted for 20% and 10%, respectively, of our revenues. In 2005, Google and Philips accounted for 15% and
13%, respectively, of our revenues.

We are a global company with a broad, geographically diverse market presence. We have offices in six countries,
and our hardware and software products are distributed in over 150 countries and territories. We have historically
generated a substantial amount of our revenues from international sales, which have grown to represent an
increasingly large percentage of our overall revenues. For the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005,
our revenues outside North America comprised 77%, 76% and 78%, respectively, of our total revenues. A large
portion of our total revenues come from licensing our technologies to consumer hardware device manufacturers,
most of whom are located outside of North America.

Cost of revenues

Our cost of revenues consists primarily of license fees payable to providers of intellectual property that is includzd
in our technologies. Generally, royalties are due to our third-party intellectual property providers based on when
certain of our products are sold, subject to contractually agreed-upon limits. To a much lesser extent, cost of
revenues also includes depreciation on certain computing equipment and related software, the compensation of
related employees, Internet connectivity costs, third-party payment processing fees and allocable overhead.
Although this may not be the case in the future, and although we have experienced some variability to our cost of
revenue structure in the past, in general our costs of revenues have not been highly variable with revenue volumes.
As a result, we generally expect our overall gross margins to fluctuate with revenues.
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Selling, general and administrative

The majority of selling, general and administrative expenses consists of employee compensation costs. Selling,
general and administrative expense also includes marketing expenses, business travel costs, trade show costs,
outside consulting fees and allocable overhead. Our headcount for selling, general, and administrative related
personnel, including employees and outside contractors increased by 66 from 139 as of December 31, 2006 to
205 as of December 31, 2007, in part as a result of our acquisition of MainConcept. We intend to hire additional
employees and outside contractors for our sales and marketing staff and to increase our selling and marketing
budget in the future as we attempt to continue 1o raise awareness of our products and services.

Product development

The majority of product development expenses consist of employee compensation for personnel responsible for
the development of new technologies and products. Qur headcount for product development related personnel,
including employees and outside contractors increased by 59 from 123 as of December 31, 2006 to 184 as of
December 31, 2007, 56 of those 59 employees were added as a result of our acquisition of MainConcept on
November 14, 2007. Product development expense also includes bandwidth expenses, depreciation of computer
and related equipment, software license fees and allocable overhead. We expect to increase our product
development expenses in absolute dollars as we continue to invest in the development of our products and
services. While we expect to continue to hire additional employees to meet our business needs, if permanent
employees are not available for hire, we intend to use outside contractors to fulfill our labor needs when and as
required to accomplish our operating goals.

Opportunities, challenges and risks

Our technology licensing revenues from consumer hardware device manufacturers have been primarily
dependent upon our licensees’ sales of DVD players that incorporate our technologies. Revenue from technology
licensing to consumer hardware device manufacturers increased by 82% from 2005 to 2006, and by 41% from
2006 to 2007, We do not expect our revenue growth rates attributable to DV player sales to remain as high as
they have been in recent years as the markets for DVD players mature. Because our technologies are embedded
in DVD players, our licensing revenue is subject to fluctuations based on consumer demand for these products.
We actively promote the incorporation of our video compression technologies for use in other consumer products
such as digital still cameras, portable media players and DVD recorders, but there is no assurance we will receive
material royalties on sales of these products in the future. If sales of DVD players that incorporate our
technologies do not continue to grow, or if our technologies are displaced from these devices by competing
technologies, our revenue would be adversely affected.

Historically, the increases in our technology licensing revenues have been driven by increases in the volume of
sales of products incorporating our technologies. However, this increase in revenues has been partially offset by
declines in the per-unit royalty we derive, which has resulted from a combination of volume-based price
discounts and overall pricing pressure on established technology royalties in the market. We believe that if our
technology achieves market acceptance as a de facto standard, volumes will continue to increase unless and until
our technology fully penetrates the market. To the extent such market acceptance and volume increases occur, we
believe that average selling prices of our existing technologies will decline. We may not be able to successfully
introduce newer technologies with higher average selling prices into the market to offset any such decline.

One or a small number of our licensees generally represents a significant percentage of our technology licensing
revenues. For example, in the fiscal years 2006 and 2007, LG Electronics accounted for approximately 10% each
year of our total net revenues. A reduction in these sales or a loss of one or more of our key licensees would
adversely affect our licensing revenues.

As technologies for DVD players and other consumer hardware devices with video compression capabilities
evolve, we must continue to design and deliver innovative technologies that are sought by manufacturers and
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consumers alike. Part of our strategy is to have cur digital media technologies adopted as de facto industry
standards for use in consumer hardware devices. Generally, for a technology to become an industry standard, the
royalty rates must not be prehibitively costly as compared to other potential alternatives, As a result, the royalty
rates we charge for our technologies will likely be lower than the royalty rates received for technologies not
adopted as industry standards, and our long-term ability to raise royalty rates for our technologies could be
limited by this trend.

During 2005, 2006 and 2007, a significant portion of our revenues was generated from our agreement with
Google. In November of 2007, our agreement with Google expired. Revenues under the Google software
distribution and promotion agreement represented approximately 15%, 18% and 17% of our total net revenuss in
the fiscal years 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. In September 2007, we entered into a two year global
agreement with Yahoo! to offer consumers who download DivX video software tools a co-branded version cf the
Yahoo! Toolbar and Internet Explorer 7 optimized for Yahoo! Under this agreement, Yahoo! pays us fees fo-
meeting certain monthly distribution volumes related to our offering of Yahoo! software to consumers. We
anticipate that the revenues generated under the Yahoo! agreement will continue to be a significant percentage of
our revenues. However, any decline in the distribution volume of our products or market saturation of Yahoo!
products could result in a decrease in revenue under this agreement. If we fail to achieve certain minimum
distribution commitments for specific periods described in the agreement, Yahoo! may terminate the agreemant.
This agreement expires on December 31, 2009 and Yahoo! is under no obligation to renew this agreement. If,
upen the expiration of our agreement with Yahoo!, we fail to enter into a new agreement with Yahoo! or a
similar partner on substantially the same or more favorable terms, our revenues would significantly decrease.

Beginning in the first quarter of 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment, or SFAS 23R, which
requires that we record stock-based compensation charges in connection with our equity compensation for
employees. As a result of the recognition of additional stock based compensation expense we experienced a
reduction in net income of approximately $7.4 million and $1.9 million for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2007 and 2006, respectively, and expect to continue to record significant additional stock-based compensation
expenses in future periods, which will adversely affect our operating results,

Acquisitions

In March 2006 we acquired all of the assets of Corporate Green, a general partnership that developed an online
community platform but had not commenced its principal operations and had not generated any revenue through
the date of the acquisition. The total purchase price for the acquisition was valued at $659,000 and consisted of
$431,000 in cash and 34,824 fully vested shares of our common stock, valued at $228,000. The entire purchase
price was recorded as intangible assets and was being amortized to product development expense over their
estimated useful lives of 1.25 years. Amortization of intangible assets from the Corporate Green acquisition in
2007 and 2006 was $252,000 and $407,000, respectively. In addition to the purchase price, we issued the forrer
partners of Corporate Green 69,651 restricted shares of our common stock which vested upon the occurrence of
certain events. Upon the earlier of December 31, 2006, March 31, 2007 and June 30, 2007 and the occurrence of
certain performance milestones, and subject, in the case of the latter two events, to continued employment with
us, we paid an aggregate of $104,000, $104,000 and $31,000, respectively, in cash to the three former Corporate
Green partners. At December 31, 2007, all milestones had been completed, the associated restricted shares of
common stock had vested, and the milestone payments had been paid. These deferred cash payments and the
restricted stock were recorded as compensation expense in the period in which they were earned.

In May 2007, we made an equity investment in deviantART, Inc., or deviantART, a private corporation that
aggregates and distributes art via its web community and facilitates an open forum where artists can exhibit their
artwork and build community around that art in an effort to drive commerce. Qur investment consisted of $3.5
million cash for which we received certain shares of deviantART’s Series A Preferred Stock. As further
consideration for our investment, we entered into an advertising and marketing agreement with deviantART. We
have allocated approximately $650,000 of the investment to the advertising and marketing agreement, based cn
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its estimated fair value, and the remaining $2.9 million is being carried as an investment. The value allocated to
the advertising and marketing agreement is being amortized ratably over the period in which the services are
being rendered: October 2007 through March 2009. As our ownership is less than 20%, the investment has been
accounted for using the cost basis, and will periodically be reviewed for impairment. The investment and the
long-term portion of the advertising and marketing agreement are included in other assets on the consolidated
balance sheet. The current portion of the advertising and marketing agreement is included in prepaid expenses on
the consolidated balance sheets.

In July 2007, we acquired all of the assets of Veatros, L.L.C., or Veatros, a limited liability company engaged in
real-time digital video processing for the purposes of producing enhanced video search and discovery services.
At the time of acquisition, the operations of Veatros had been wound down and no development projects were
in-process. The acquisition was accounted for as an acquisition of assets in accordance with Emerging Issues
Task Force Issue No. 98-3, Determining Whether a Nonmonetary Transaction Involves Receipt of Productive
Assets or of @ Business. The tota} purchase price for the acquisition is up to $4.3 million comprised of an initial
upfront cash payment of $2.0 million, which we made in July 2007, and subsequent cash payments vp to $2.3
million upon the achievement of certain technology related milestones. We did not acquire any tangible assets or
assume any liabilities as a result of the acquisition. We allocated the initial cash payment of $2.0 million, along
with the first two milestones of $1.0 million, and $31,000 of 'acquisition related costs, for total purchase
consideration of approximately $3.0 million to the one identifiable intangible asset, a patented technology
license. The asset is being amortized over the remaining life of the patented technology license, approximately 8
years. In July 2007, subsequent to the asset purchase, our board of directors approved a plan to separate our
Stage6 operations into a separate private entity, and in 2008 Stage6 was shut down. As a significant portion of
the benefit from the acquired patented technology license was originally ascribed to Stage6 future activities, we
evaluated the intangible asset for impairment as of December 31, 2007 in accordance with Statement of SFAS
No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets based on the projected benefits solety
attributable to our core consumer electronics business. Based on our revised forecasts excluding the Stage6 future
activities and discounting the cash flows attributable to our core consumer electronics business, we concluded
that the carrying amount of the asset was not fully recoverable and an impairment charge of approximately $3.0
million was recorded in 2007 in the consolidated statements of income, as the acquired patented technology
license was considered to have a recoverable value of approximately $60,000.

In November 2007, we acquired MainConcept, a German-based provider of audio and video codec technology.
In exchange for all outstanding shares of MainConcept’s capital stock, we paid approximately $22.6 million. The
total purchase price, including acquisition costs of $200,000, was $16.4 million in cash, 88,940 shares of our
common stock, which were valued at approximately $1.6 million as of the date of the transaction, and
outstanding loans extended to MainConcept by one of its sharecholders that we also purchased for an aggregate of
approximately $4.4 million. The purchase price included approximately $3.0 million of net tangible liabilities
assumed at acquisition. The excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net tangible liabilities
acquired amounted to $25.6 million, of which $14.6 million was preliminarily allocated to identifiable intangible
assets and $11.0 million was preliminarily allocated to goodwill. The identifiable intangible assets will be
amortized over the remaining useful lives of two to seven years. The acquisition was not considered material to
our financial position at the date 6f acquisition. In addition, the purchase agreement provides for additional
payments of up to approximately $5.6 million upon the achievement by MainConcept of certain product
development goals and certain financial milestones during 2008. If additional payments are made, the
consideration will be recorded as additional purchase price and allocated to goodwill,

Critical accounting policies

This discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States, or U.S. GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires us
to use accounting policies and make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts
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of revenue and expenses during a fiscal period. We consider an accounting policy to be critical if it is important
to our financial condition and results of operations, and if it requires significant judgment and estimates on the
part of management in its application. We have discussed the selection and development of the critical
accounting policies with the audit committee of our board of directors, and the audit committee has reviewed our
related disclosures. Although we believe that our judgments and estimates are appropriate and reasonable, actual
results may differ from those estimates.

We believe the following to be our critical accounting policies because they are both important to the portrayal of
our financial condition and results of operations and they require critical management judgments and estimates
about matters that are uncertain. If actual results or events differ materially from the judgments and estimates we
have employed reporting our financial positions and results, our reported financial condition and results of
operation for future periods could be matenially affected.

Revenue recognition

We evaluate revenue recognition for transactions to sell products and services and to license technology using “he
criteria set forth by the Securities Exchange Commission in Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue
Recognition, or SAB No. 104, SAB No, 104 states that revenue is recognized when each of the following criteria
is mei: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have been rendered, the
seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably assured. In accordance with
Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, Issue No, 00-2¢, revenue from multiple-element arrangements is allocated

_among separate clements based on their relative fair values, provided the elements have value on a stand-alone
basis, there is objective and reliable evidence of fair value, the arrangement does not include a general right of
return relative to the delivered item and delivery or performance of the undelivered item(s) is considered
probable and substantially in our control. The maximum revenue recognized on a delivered element is limited to
the amount that is not contingent upon the delivery of additional items.

Our licensing revenue is primarily derived from royalties and/or license fees paid to us by licensees of our
intellectual property rights. Revenue in such transactions is recognized during the period in which such
customers report to us the number of royalty-eligible units that they have shipped. Revenue from guaranteed
minimum-royalty licenses is recognizable upon delivery of the technology license when no further obligations of
the Company exist. Certain of our license agreements provide for royalties based on our estimations of the
volumes of certain units consumer hardware device manufacturers are estimated to ship during a given term for
which we recognize revenue over the term of the contractual agreement. In certain guaranteed minimum-royalty
licenses and license agreements based on volume estimates, we enter into extended payment programs with
customers. Revenue related to such extended payment programs is recognized at the earlier of when cash is
received or when periodic payments become due to us. If we receive non-refundable advance payments from
licensees that are allocable to future contract period or could be creditable against other obligations of the
licensee to us, the recognition of the related revenue is deferred until such future period or creditable obligaticn
lapses. Royalties and other license fees are recorded net of reserves for estimated losses, and are recognized
when all revenue recognition criteria have been met. We make judgments as to whether collectibility can be
reasonably assured based on the licensee’s recent payment history unless significant and persuasive evidence
exists that the customer is creditworthy. In the absence of a favorable collection history or significant and
persuasive evidence that the customer is creditworthy, we recognize revenue upon receipt of cash, provided that
all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

We have entered into a contractual relationship to license technology to a customer and we also obtained format
approval for which we provided consideration to a related customer. In situations where we do not receive an
identifiable benefit that is sufficiently separable from our customers purchase of our products or where we caanot
reasonably estimate the fair value of the products or services we are purchasing, we recerd the consideration
provided to our customers as an offset to revenues in accordance with EITF Issue No. 01-9, Accounting for
Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products).
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We have contracts with original equipment manufacturers, original design manufacturers, integrated circuit
manufacturers, independent software vendors, advertisers and content providers. Our revenue recognition
policies for each of these arrangements are summarized below.

Technology licensing to original equipment manufacturers. We license our technologies to original equipment
manufacturers of consumer hardware devices, and in return each original equipment manufacturer typically pays
us a royalty for each DivX Certified unit the customer ships. Royalty revenue is recognized in the period in
which we receive competent evidential matter that revenue has been earned in the form of a shipment report from
the customer. If we receive pre-certification license fees from a customer, recognition of this revenue is deferred
in its entirety until we certify the original equipment manufacturer’s product in accordance with our certification
guidelines. If we receive nonrefundable minimum commitments from a customer that are also not allocable to a
future contract period, we will recognize the full amount upon billing if collectibility is assured based on recent
payment history, but only if we have no further obligation to provide post-contract support. If we have future
support obligations pertaining to minimum commitment agreements, we recognize licensing fees ratably over the
length of the agreement because vendor-specific objective evidence does not exist for the unlimited upgrades and
support included in the contract.

Technology licensing to integrated circuit manufacturers. We license our technologies to integrated circuit
manufacturers and provide support and unlimited upgrades during the contract term so they can incorporate our
technologies into the chips they manufacture for consumer hardware devices. The initial license fee is deferred in
total until we certify the integrated circuit manufacturer’s product in accordance with our certification guidelines.
Because vendor-specific objective evidence does not exist for the service elements, after certification, we
recognize the license fee ratably over the remaining length of the associated contract, which is typically two to
three years.

Technology licensing to original design manufacturers. We license our technology to original design
manufacturer customers and partners who manufacture devices such as DVD players, portable media players and
digital still cameras. Recognition of the related licensing fees is deferred in total until we certify the original
design manufacturer’s product in accordance with our certification guidelines, after which we have no further
performance obligation.

Technology licensing for software to independent sofrware vendors. We license our technologies for resale to
independent software vendors and in return the software vendor pays us a royalty for each unit shipped that
incorporates our technologies, Revenue is recognized in the period in which we receive competent evidential
matter that revenue has been earned in the form of a shipment report from the customer. In addition, in some
cases we receive an initial license fee for our software and agree 1o provide post-contract upgrades and support.
In these cases, we recognize revenues ratably over the length of the contract, as vendor-specific objective
evidence typically does not exist for the upgrades and support period implied by the contract.

Technology licensing for software to consumers. We license our technologies to consumers via our website for a
fixed fee per download. The license includes upgrades and support until such time as a new pay version becomes
available, which is generally referred to as a ‘‘left-of-decimal’’ upgrade. Payment is made online with a credit
card via a third-party payment service provider, who in turn remits aggregate payments to us on a monthly basis.
We recognize these revenues ratably over the period ending at the next expected left-of-decimal upgrade, which
is typically 24 to 36 months from the time of the last upgrade, as vendor-specific objective evidence typically
does not exist for the upgrades and support under such licensing agreements.

Advertising and third-party product distribution. We are paid by third-party software companies for distributing
their software when such software is downloaded or installed via our website, typically within our own sofiware
download products. The related distribution fees are recognized based on the number of downloads and
activations. We recognize these fees upon receiving competent evidential documentation from our reporting
systems.
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Digital media distribution services. We make available our online video delivery system to content customers in
return for a revenue share of the download-for-rental revenue generated by the content provider customer using
our delivery system. The content partner delivers a video-on-demand movie through its website using our Open
Video System. The end customer purchasing such content must pay by credit card before being allowed to
download the movie. We earn a certain percentage of each sale based on a pre-negotiated revenue share with the
content-provider customer. Revenue is recognized monthly based on sales reports, net of any returns or charge
backs as reconciled by us and the content-provider customer.

Encoding services. We encode the content of certain customers into the DivX format and charge these customers
for this service. In some cases revenue is recognized in full after the encoding service is performed if the
customer agrees to provide a deposit in full. In other cases revenue is recognized and invoiced based on a
calculation of value per unit of DivX-encoded content that is downloaded from a content provider's site.

We record revenue net of allowances for uncollectible sales. Revenue is recorded net of allowances for
uncollectible sales. We continually monitor customer payment performance and maintain a reserve for estimatec|
amounts that may be uncollectible. In determining our reserve, we evaluate the collectibility of our accounts
receivable based upon a variety of factors. Generally, in cases where the customer is new and has an
undemonstrated ability to pay, we delay recognition of the revenue until such time as the new customer has paid
unless significant and persuasive evidence exists that the customer is creditworthy. In cases where we are aware
of circumstances that may impair a specific customer’s ability to meet its financial obligations, despite the
customer’s payment history, we record a specific allowance against amounts due and thereby reduce the net
recognized receivable to the amount reasonably believed to be collectible. For all other customers, we recognize
allowances for uncollectible sales based on our actual historical write-off experience in conjunction with the
length of time the receivables are past due, customer creditworthiness, geographic risk and the current business
environment. Actual future losses from uncollectible accounts may differ from our estimates and may materially
affect our consolidated statements of income and our financial condition.

Accounting for income taxes

In preparing our financial statements we are required to make estimates and judgments that affect our accountir.g
for income taxes. This process includes estimating current tax exposure together with assessing temporary
differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax- and financial-accounting purposes. These
differences, including differences in the timing of recognition of stock-based compensation expense, result in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. We also assess the likelihood that our deferred tax assets will be recovered
from future taxable income and, to the extent we believe recovery to be more-likely-than-not, we have
established a valuation allowance. Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income
taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities and any valuation allowance against our net deferred tax assets. Qur
financial position and results of operations may be materially impacted if actual results significantly differ from
these estimates or the estimates are adjusted in future petiods.

We adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes an interpretation of FANB
Statement No. 109, or FIN 48, on January 1, 2007. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertain income tax
positions recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with Statement SFAS No. 109,
“Accounting for Income Taxes.” It provides that a company should use a more-likely-than-not recognition
threshold based on the technical merits of the income tax position taken. Income tax positions that meet the
more-likely-than-not recognition threshold should be measured in order to determine the tax benefit to be
recognized in the financial statements. As a result of adoption of FIN 48, we recorded a tax liability of $2.4
million related to research and development credits and a reduction in retained earnings of the same amount for
certain research and development credits that the Company could not conclude it was more likely than not that
the benefits would be realized. During the fourth quarter of 2007, we finalized our Section 382/383 limitation
analysis and completed our documentation process to support our research and development credits previously
reserved under the adoption of FIN 48. After we completed the documentation process, we determined that it ‘was
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more likely than not that approximately $1.7 million of the tax benefits for the research and development credits
should be recognized and accordingly, we recorded a reduction to our reserve of $1.7 million and a
corresponding decrease in current income tax expense during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2007.

Stock-based compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for employee stock-based compensation in accordance with the
provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, or APB 25,
and Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation, or FIN No. 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions
Involving Stock Compensation—an Interpretation of APB 25, and complied with the disclosure provisions of
SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock Based Compensation, and related SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation—Transaction and Disclosure. Under APB 25, compensation expense is based on the difference, if
any, on the date of the grant, between the fair value of our stock and the exercise price of the option. We
amortized deferred stock-based compensation using the straight-line method over the vesting period.

For non-employees, we account for stock-based compensation in accordance with EITF Issue No. 96-18,
Accounting Recognition for Equity Instruments That are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in
Conjunction with Selling, Goods for Services. Equity instruments awarded to non-employees are periodically
remeasured as the underlying awards vest unless the instruments are fully vested, immediately exercisable and
nonforfeitable on date of grant.

Prior to our initial public offering in September 2006, we granted stock options to purchase common stock to
employees with exercise prices equal to the value of the underlying stock, as determined by the board of directors
on the date the equity award was granted. Our board of directors had determined the fair value of the our
common stock based on several factors, including but not limited to, historical and projected financial results, the
risks we faced at the time, the preferences of our preferred stockholders and the lack of liquidity of our common
stock,

In 2006, we adopted SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment, or SFAS 123R, which requires all share-based
payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial statements
as compensation expense over the vesting period based on their grant date fair values and does not allow the
previously permitted pro forma disclosure-only method as an alternative to financial statement recognition.
SFAS 123R supersedes APB 25 and related interpretations and amends SFAS No. 95, Sratement of Cash Flows.
We adopted SFAS 123R effective January 1, 2006, prospectively for new equity awards issued subsequent to
January 1, 2006. As we utilized the minimum value method prior to January 1, 2006, pursuant to SFAS 123R we
will continue to recognize compensation expense relating to unvested awards issued prior to January 1, 2006
using APB 25 which is the same accounting principle originally applied to those awards.

In connection with the adoption of SFAS 123R, we reviewed and updated, among other things, our forfejture
rate, expected term and volatility assumptions. The weighted average expected lives of the options for the years
ended December 31, 2006 and 2007 reflects the application of the simplified method set out in SAB No. 107
Share Based Payments, or SAB 107, which was issued in March 2005. The simplified method defines the life as
the average of the contractual term of the options and the weighted average vesting period for all option tranches.
Estimated volatility for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007 also reflects the application of SAB 107
interpretive guidance and, accordingly, incorporates historical volatility of similar entities whose share price are
publicly available. The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
method.

As of December 31, 2007, we had unrecognized compensation of approximately $403,000 related to stock option
grants made prior to December 31, 2005. In addition, based on stock options granted after January 1, 2006, as of
December 31, 2007 we had unrecognized stock-based compensation of approximately $32 million, determined in
accordance with SFAS No. 123(R). Based on options outstanding as of December 31, 2007, we expect to
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recognize a total of approximately $10 million of stock-based compensation expense during 2008. We expect to
continue to grant stock options in the future, and to the extent we do, our actual stock-based compensation
expense recognized in future periods will likely increase.

As of December 31, 2007, we had outstanding vested options to purchase 1.0 million shares of our commen
stock and unvested options to purchase 3.2 million shares of our common stock with an intrinsic value of
approximately $6.9 million and $3.4 million, respectively, based on our closing market price on December 31,
2007 of $14.00.

Goodwill and Purchased Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable
intangible assets acquired in a business combination. Intangible assets resulting from the acquisitions of entities
accounted for using the purchase method of accounting are recorded at the estimated fair value of the assets
acquired. Identifiable intangible assets are comprised of purchased customer relationships, trademarks and t-ade
names, developed technologies and other intangible assets. Identifiable intangible assets are amortized using the
straight-line method over estimated usefut lives ranging from two to eight years. In accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, goodwill and other
intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized but tested annually for impairment or more frequently if
we believe indicators of impairment exist. The performance of the impairment test involves a two-step process.
The first step involves comparing the fair values of the applicable reporting units with their aggregate carrying
values, including goodwill. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds the reporting unit's fair value, we
perform the second step of the test to determine the amount of impairment loss. The second step involves
measuring the impairment by comparing the implied fair values of the affected reporting unit’s goodwill anl
intangible assets with the respective carrying values.

Long-lived assets, such as intangible assets, are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable in accordance with SFAS No. 144,
Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. We assesses the value of the assets based on
the future cash flows the assets are expected to generate, and recognizes an impairment loss when the estimated
undiscounted future cash flows that are expected to result from the use of the assets, plus net proceeds expected
from disposition of the assets (if any), are less than the carrying value of the assets. When an impairment is
identified, we reduce the carrying amount of the assets to estimated fair value based on a discounted cash flew
approach or, when available and appropriate, comparable market values.
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Results of Operations

The following table presents our results of operations as a percentage of total net revenues for the years
indicated:

Year ended December 31,
2005 2006 2007

Net revenues:

Technology licensing . ...... ... .. g2% 80% T8%
Media and other distribution and services ................ i, _1_8 20 22
Total NEtTEVENUES .. ... . ... .ttt ieennrneeceriiannnenns l_(E _1_09 _liO
Total costof revenues .. .......... .. o0t niirrinnnnnnnn _l_l 1 5
GIOSS THATEII . oo v v e et ettt e e e et e e e e et te et ean e 89 93 95
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative(l) .............. ... ... ....... 48 44 69
Product development{l)} ........ ... ... .. . ..o 31 26 22
Impairment of acquired intangibles ........... ... ... Ll - = 3
Total Operating eXpenses . ... ......o v eunrnnreneeiaennann. __72 70 94
Income fromoperations . ........ ... ... . i e 10 23 !
Interest INCOMIE - . .. e i e et et e | 5 9
Interest expenseandother . ... .. .. ... ... ... .. o oL, — - -
Income before income taxes ... ... . it et 11 28 10
Income tax provision (benefit) . ... ... ... i e 3 1 (D)
B 0Tt 1 T N __3% _2_7"% _ll%
(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows:
Costofrevenues ................ e e e e a e e — —_ — %
Selling, general and administrative . ........ ... ... ... aiiae. 1 3 12
Productdevelopment .. ... ... . i e — 1 2
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The following table summarizes and analyzes the net revenues we earned on each of our revenue streams fer the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, in absolute dollars (in thousands) and as a percentage of tctal
net revenues:

Y ded 2005-2606 2006-2007
De::;ﬁr 3, Change Dg::;m?%d] Char.ge
2005 2006 S % 007 s %
Net revenues:
Technotogy licensing
Consumer hardware devices . . ... $23.361 $42470 $19,109 82% $59,952 $17482 41%
% of total net revenues . . . .. 71% 72% 70%
Software .................... 3,558 4,854 1,296 36 6,393 1,539 32
% of total net revenues . . ... 1% 8% L 8% L
Total technology licensing .......... 26919 47324 20405 76 66,345 19,021 40
% of total net revenues . .. .. 82% 80% 78%
Advertising and third-party
product distribution . .......... ... 4964 10,877 5,913 119 17,972 7095 65
% of total net revenues . . . .. 15% 18% 21%
Digital media distribution and
related services . ................ 1,164 1,124 40 (3 545 (579) (52)
% of total net revenues ... .. 3% 2% . 1% L
Total net revenues ......... $33,047 $39,325 $26,278 ﬁ% $84.862 $25,537 ﬂ%

Technology licensing—consumer hardware devices: The $17.5 million, or 41%, increase in revenues from
technology licensing to consumer hardware device manufacturers from year ended December 31, 2006 compared
to the same period in 2007, resulted primarily from an increase in net royalty revenues associated with shipped-
unit volumes of devices reported to us by our licensee partners. In addition, $3.0 million in technology licensing
revenues were recognized during the year ended December 31, 2007, that had been deferred under minimum
volume commitment arrangements. These arrangements included certain average pricing levels based on the
customer achieving certain minimum volumes. Any remaining deferred revenue was recognized upon the lapse
of gach minimum volume commitment period.

The $19.1 million, or 82%, increase in revenues from technelogy licensing to consumer hardware device
manufacturers from 2005 to 2006 resulted primarily from an increase in net royalty revenues due to an increase
in reported units shipped by our licensees of their consumer hardware devices that incorporate our technologic:s,
principalty antributable to the worldwide growth in sales of DVD players that incorporate our technologies.

Technology licensing—saofrware: The $1.5 million, or 32%, increase in software licensing revenues from the year
ended December 31, 2006 compared to the same period in 2007 resulted primarily from an increase of
approximately $1.2 million of royalty revenue received from Google in 2007 as compared to 2006 for use of cur
technology. This revenue is associated with revenues generated from a two-year contract that expired during
November of 2007. The balance of the increase is due to an increase in revenues from software products sold
directly to consumers.

The $1.3 million, or 36%, net increase in software licensing revenue from 2005 to 2006 resulted primarily frora a
$1.1 million increase in royalties from independent software vendors. This increase was primarily driven by
$850,000 of royalty revenue from Google for use of certain of our technology. The balance of the increase is
from revenues related to sales of our software products directly to consumers.

Advertising and third-party product distribution: The $7.1 million, or 65%, increase in advertising and third-
party product distribution revenue from 2006 to 2007 resulted primarily from an increase in revenues associated
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with our distribution of Google's software under our software distribution and promotion agreement with
Google, This agreement was amended in December 2006 which increased the monthly commitments and fees,
which resulted in additional revenue in 2007 compared to 2006.

Beginning in November 2007, we switched from distribution of the Google software, to instead including and
distributing a co-branded Yahoo! toolbar and Internet Explorer browser with our software products under
agreement with Yahoo!. Pursuant to the agreement, Yahoo! pays us fees based on the number of certain
distributions or installations of the Yahoo! software by consumers. Yahoo! may terminate the agreement, or the
revenue we derive for such periods will be reduced, if we fail to achieve certain minimum distribution volumes
or certain minimum instaliations of the Yahoo! software for specific periods described in the agreement. This
agreement expires on December 31, 2009, and Yahoo! is under no obligation to renew this agreement. Revenues
generated under this agreement in 2007 were $3.5 million which also contributed to the increase in advertising
and third-party product distribution revenue in 2007 compared to 2006.

The $5.9 million, or 119%, increase in advertising and third-party product distribution revenue from 2005 to
2006 resulted from an increase in our distribution of software under our software distribution and promotion
agreement with Google.

Digital media distribution and related services: The $579,000, or 52%, decrease in digital media distribution and
related services revenues from 2006 to 2007, reflects a decrease of approximately $300,000 in revenues from the
licensing of content to consumer hardware OEM’s and a decrease in sales by our Open Video System customers

and in encoding revenues,

The $40,000, or 3%, decrease in digital media distribution and related services revenues from 2005 to 2006,
reflect decreases in sales by our Open Video System customers and in encoding revenues. The decreases were
offset by $355,000 in revenue related to the licensing of content to consumer hardware OEMs.

The following table shows the gross profit earned on each of our revenue streams for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, in absolute dollars (in thousands) and as a percentage of related revenues:

Y ded 2005-2006 2006-2007
December3l __ Chamge _ pement®)  Chame
2065 2006 $ _%; 2007 $ i
Gross profit:
Technology licensing .............. $24,152 $44,329 $20,177 84% $62,567 $18,238 41%
Grossmargin% .............. 90% 94% 94%
Advertising and third-party
distribution .................... 4,875 10,752 5,877 121 17,799 7,047 66
Grossmargin% .............. 98% 99% 99%
Digital media distribution and related
SEIVICES . ..........ciiiiiinenn, 364 256 (108) (30} 17 (239) (93)
Grossmargin%% .............. 31% 23% . 3% _
Total grossprofit .................. $29,391 $55,337 $25,946 88% 380,383  $25,046 45%
Grossmargin% .............. 89% 93% 95%

Technology licensing: The increase in overall gross margin, in terms of absolute dollars, across all periods
presented was due primarily to increased royalties from technology licensing to consumer hardware device
manufacturers without a corresponding increase in royalty expenses due to our licensors.

Advertising and third-party product distribution: Qur cost of advertising and product distribution revenue has
remained relatively fixed as a percentage of such revenue because the cost of bandwidth associated with product
downloads is directly proportional to the volume of downloads.
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Digital media distribution and related services: Qur digital media distribution and related services gross margin
has continued to decrease due to diminished revenues over a relatively fixed cost base.

The following table summarizes and analyzes our operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2005,
2006 and 2007, in absolute dollars (in thousands) and as a percentage of total net revenues:

Decembersl,  _Change  Yewrewded PG
2005 2006 $ _E:_ 2007 $ i
Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative ... $15988 $25971 3 9983  62% $58315  $32344 125%
% of total net revenues . ........ 48% 44% 69%
Product development .......... ..., 10,269 15,353 5084 50 18,738 3,385 22
% of total net revenues ... ..., .. 31% 26% 22%
Impairment of acquired intangibles . .. — — —_ — 2,973 2,973 100
% of total net revenues ......... 0% 0% 3%
Total operating expenses ....... $26,257 $41.324 $15,067 57% $80,026 $38,702 94%

Seiling, general and administrative: The $32.3 million, or 125%, increase in selling, general and administrative
expenses from 2006 to 2007 was principally due to a $17.4 million increase in costs resulting from increased
average headcount, predominantly in the sales and marketing functions. Costs associated with these headcount
increases were comprised of salaries and benefits, performance based compensation, stock-based compensation,
travel costs and recruiting fees. In addition, we experienced a $6.3 million increase in internet connectivity
related costs primarily associated with our online video community service, Stage6, a $2.9 million increase in
professional services, particularly legal and accounting services associated with being a publicly traded company
and compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, an increase in depreciation expense of $1.4 million, an increase in
facility overhead costs of approximately $1.2 million and a $1.3 million increase in marketing costs, particularly
tradeshow, advertising and content and branding expenses, and approximately $900,000 of patent royalty
expense.

The $10.0 million, or 62%, increase in selling, general and administrative expenses from 2005 to 2006 was
principally due to a $4.9 million increase in payroll and benefit costs resulting from a $372,000 increase in
selling, general and administrative employee headcount from 96 for 2005 to 134 for 2006 and an increase ir. sales
performance based compensation, a $1.5 million increase in professional services, particularly accounting, legal
and marketing services, a $1.3 million increase in stock-based compensation expense primarily due to our
adoption of SFAS 123(R), 2 $1.0 million increase in marketing costs, particularly tradeshow and retail marketing
expenses, a $445,000 increase in travel costs principally related to our sales functions and a $172,000 in
insurance costs primarily related to operating as a public company.

Product development: The $3.4 million, or 22%, increase in product development expense from 2006 to 2007
was principally due to a $2.0 million increase in payroll and-benefit costs due to an increase in product
development employee average headcount from 119 for 2006 to 128 for 2007, and a $1.2 million increase in
stock-based compensation expense primarily due to additional stock option grants,

The $5.1 mitlion, or 50%, increase in product development expense from 2005 to 2006 was principally due to a
$3.9 million increase in payroll and benefit costs due to an increase in product development employee averige
headcount from 78 for 2005 to 119 for 2006, a $681,000 increase in stock-based compensation expense primarily
due to our adoption of SFAS 123R, a $407,000 increase in depreciation and amortization principally due to our
acquisition of Corporate Green, a $224,000 increase in bandwidth costs and a $154,000 increase in recruiting
costs. These increases were partially offset by a $660,000 decrease in outside contractor expense related to
product development initiatives.

52




Interest income, net: We recorded net interest income of $7.9 million for 2007 compared to $3.0 million for
2006. This increase is reflective of higher average cash balances, which principally resulted from proceeds from
the sale of shares of our common stock in our initial public offering in September 2006, as well as an increase in
the average yields realized on our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments.

We recorded net interest income of $3.0 million for 2006 compared to $223,000 for 2005. This increase is
reflective of higher average cash balances, which during the first three quarters of 2006 have principally resulted
from positive cash flow from operations. The higher cash balance in the last quarter of 2006 was principally the
result of the proceeds from the sale of shares of our common stock in our initial public offering.

Income tax expense: We recorded an income tax benefit of approximately $1.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007. The income tax benefit recorded during 2007 was primarily due to the removal of a reserve
on our U.S. deferred tax assets related to our net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards and certain research and
development credits of approximately $1.8 million, a reduction in our FIN 48 liability of approximately $1.7
million related to the removal of our reserve for research and development credits established as a result of the
implementation of FIN 48, and a reduction in the valuation allowance related to our foreign tax credits of
approximately $1.1 million. During 2007, we recorded an income tax benefit of approximately $1.8 million as a
result of the completion of our Section 382/383 limitation analysis and the completion of a research and
development credit study related to our NOL carryforwards and certain research and development credits. In
addition, based on the weight of available evidence, including cumulative profitability in recent years, we
determined that it was more likely than not that a portion of our U.S. deferred tax assets would be realized and, as
of December 31, 2007, eliminated $1.1 million of our valuation allowance associated with our U.S. deferred tax
assets. The elimination of our valuation allowance resulted in a $1.1 million benefit recognized as a non-cash
increase in earnings for the year ended December 31, 2007. After we completed our research and development
credit documentation process, we determined that it was more likely than not that approximately $1.7 million of
the FIN 48 liability should be reversed and we recorded a reduction to our FIN 48 accrual of $1.7 million and a
corresponding decrease in current income tax expense. The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31,
2007 was approximately 46%, excluding the tax benefits described above. The difference between the federal
and state statutory combined rate of 40% and our effective tax rate for 2007 is due to the impact of accounting
for share-based compensation related to certain share-based awards, and MainConcept acquisition costs, which
are treated as permanent differences, In addition, the Company recorded a valuation allowance against the
deferred tax asset generated by MainConcept due to the uncertainty of the Company’s ability to utilize this asset.

In accordance with Statement No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes, (“Statement No. 1097}, net deferred tax
assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on all the available evidence, it is more likely than not that
some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. A valuation allowance of approximately $300,000 and
$1.1 million was provided on deferred tax assets at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The amount of
deferred tax assets considered realizable was determined based on (i) taxable income in pricr carry back years;
(i) future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences (i.e. offset gross deferred tax assets against gross
deferred tax liabilities); (iii) tax planning strategies; and (iv) future taxable income, exclusive of reversing
temporary differences and carryforwards.

As of December 31, 2006, we reversed a valuation allowance on our U.S. deferred tax assets totaling
approximately $7.7 million. Based on the nature of the underlying deferred tax assets, the reversal of the
valuation allowance resulted in a net income tax benefit of $7.7 million. This reversal is the result of our recent
sustained history of operating profitability and the determination by management that the future realization of the
net deferred tax assets was judged to be more likely than not. We exercise significant judgment relating to the
projection of future taxable income to determine the recoverability of any tax assets recorded on the balance
sheet. If judgments regarding recoverability of deferred tax assets are not accurate, we could be required to
record additional reserves against deferred tax assets in future periods. As a result of our elimination of valuation
allowance associated with U.S. deferred tax assets, our effective tax rate in subsequent periods is likely to more
closely resemble the applicable federal and state statutory rates.
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The remaining valuation allowance of approximately $1.4 million at December 31, 2007 is primarily provided
for foreign NOL carryforwards that we believe are more likely than not to expire before we can use them.

Liquidity and capital resources

From our inception through the end of 2005, we financed our operations primarily through private sales of
preferred stock totaling $38.4 million and the use of commercially available credit facilities. In 2005 and 2006
we began to generate cash from operations. During 2006, we raised $108.2 million net of offering costs in
connection with our initial public offering. Our financtal position included cash, cash equivalents and short-term
investments of $148.6 million and $141.0 million at December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively. We believe our
cash, cash equivalents, short-term investments and potential cash flows from operations will be sufficient to
satisfy our financial obligations through the next 12 months. In the future, we may acquire complementary
businesses or technologies or license complementary technologies from third parties, and we may determine to
raise additional capital through future debt or equity financing to the extent we believe necessary to successfully
complete these acquisitions or licenses. However, additional financing may not be available to us on favorable
terms, if at all, at the time we make such determinations, which could have a material adverse affect on our
ability to maintain or improve our liquidity and cash position in the future,

At December 31, 2007, our holdings of auction rate securities aggregated approximately $17.7 million and were
included in short-term investments in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Our auction rate securities
have interest rates that reset every 27 to 34 days. Through March 11, 2008, we had 13 issues fail at auction with a
par value of $20.2 million. We believe the auction rate securities are not currently impaired as the underlying
assets are substantially backed by the federal government. We have the ability to hold these auction rate debt
securities until maturity. Based on our ability to access our cash and other short-term investments, our expected
operating cash flows and other sources of cash, we do not anticipate the lack of liquidity on these investments to
affect our ability to operate our business as usual.

During 2002 we entered into a loan and security agreement with Silicon Valley Bank consisting of a $10.0
million revolving line of credit for working capital purposes and up to $2.0 million to finance eligible equipment
whereby we could receive term loans, due in 30 to 48 monthly installments. In 2007, this loan and security
agreement has expired and all remaining obligations were repaid during 2007. As of December 31, 2006,
approximately $400,000 was outstanding under this agreement. At December 31, 2006, intcrest was payable at
Silicon Valley Bank’s prime rate minus 1.0%. The interest rate was 7.25% at December 31, 2006.

In conjunction with the acquisition of MainConcept, we assumed an overdraft facility and a bank loan for
$37,000 and $47,000, respectively, as of December 31, 2007. The overdraft facility bears interest at a rate of
approximately 12% per annum and is payable upon demand. The bank loan is payable over a period of two years
ending in September 2009 and bears interest at a rate of 4.75% per annum,

The following table presents data regarding our liquidity and capital resources as of December 31, 2006 and 2007
(in thousands):

December 31,
2006 2007
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments ..._.......... $148.641  $141,035
Workingcapital ....... . ... . e 147,019 138,410
TOta] AS50IS .. vttt et it et e 164,386 200,888
Totaldebt .. .. 502 153
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The following table presents our cash flows from operating activities, investing activities and financing activities
for the years 2003, 2006 and 2007 (in thousands):

Years ended December 31,

2003 2006 2007
Cash provided by operating activities . . ........ ... ... . L. $ 2,190 % 16775 $ 16874
Cash used in investing activities .. ........ ... coeeiiiii i, (885) (64,206) (91,238)
Cash provided by financing activities . .. ....... ... ... ... il 16,796 108,706 2,586
Total increase {decrease) in cash and cash equivalents .................... $18,101 $ 61,275 $(71,778)

Cash provided by operating activities: The $16.9 million of cash provided by operating activities for the year
ended December 31, 2007 was primarily due to $9.2 million in net income, $8.4 million in net non-cash
operating expenses and cash of $800,000 used in changes in operating assets and liabilities. Non-cash operating
expenses reflected in net income include $11.8 million for stock-based compensation, $3.0 million for the
impairment of acquired intangible assets, and $2.4 million in depreciation and amortization, offset by a $5.8
million increase in deferred tax assets, amortization of discount on short-term investments of $2.1 million, and
$800,000 of tax benefit from stock options exercised. Changes in operating assets and liabilities were primarily
attributable to increases in prepaid expenses and other assets of $3.4 million, an increase in accounts receivable
of $2.9 million, and an increase in income taxes payable (receivable) of $900,000, offset by an increase in
accrued liabilities and compensation and benefits of $2.9 million, an increase in deferred revenue of $2.8 million
and an increase in accounts payable of $800,000.

The $16.8 million of cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 was primarily
due net income of $16.4 million, depreciation and amortization of $1.6 million, stock-based compensation of
$2.4 million and a decrease in deferred revenue balances of $1.5 million, partially offset by negative changes in
other working capital accounts of $2.8 million and the deferred tax benefit of $2.3 million.

Cash used in investing activities: Cash flows from investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2007
were primarily driven by purchases of available-for-sale securities of $61.9 million, net of sales, cash paid for the
acquisition of MainConcept AG of $20.4 million, $3.5 million of cash paid for the investment in deviantART and
$2.3 million of cash paid for the assets of Veatros. Capital expenditures were $3.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007, an increase of $1.8 million from 2006 primarily due to the purchases of computer hardware
and software to support the growth of our company.

The $64.2 million of cash used in investing activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 was primarily for the
purchase of short-term investments and the purchase of property and equipment to support the growth of our
company, including $351,000 for the acquisition of Corporate Green.

Cash provided by financing activities: The $2.6 million of net cash provided by financing activities for the year
ended December 31, 2007 was primarily due to the net proceeds from the issuance of $3.0 million of our
common stock and warrants and an excess tax benefit of $800,000, both principally due to the exercise of stock
options and employee stock purchase plan participation, partially offset by approximately $700,000 of payments
on our debt and capital lease obligations, and $500,000 of costs related to our initial public offering.

The $108.7 million of net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2006 was
primarily due to the net proceeds from the issuance of $111.8 million of cur common stock, principally in cur
initial public offering, partially offset by $2.4 million of costs related to our initial public offering, and $700,000
of payments on our debt obligations.
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Contractual obligations

Our contractual obligations at December 31, 2007, were as follows (in thousands):

Payments due by period

Less than 1.3 3.5 More than
Total 1 year years years £ years
Capital lease obligations .......................c...u0. $ 74 $ 42 % 32 $ — § —
Operating lease obligations . . . ................ ... ..... 1,569 1,193 284 92 —
Purchase obligations . ............ ... ... .. . ... . ... 15,327 4706 4,621 4,000 _2,000
Total contractual obligations .......................... $16970 $5941 $4937 $4,092 $2,000

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial
partnerships, such as entities often referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which woulc have
been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrovs or
limited purposes.

Recently issued accounting standards

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 (Revised 2007)
{SFAS 14IR), “Business Combinations”. SFAS 141R will change the accounting for business combinations.
Under SFAS 141R, an acquiring entity will be required to recognize all the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed in a transaction at the acquisition-date fair value with limited exceptions. SFAS 141R will change the
accounting treatment and disclosure for certain specific items in a business combination. SFAS 141R applies
prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the firs:
annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. SFAS 141R will have an impact on accounting
for business combinations once adopted but the effect i1s dependent upon acquisitions at that time.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 160 (SFAS 160),
“Noncoentrotling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements—An Amendment of ARB No. 51”. SFAS 160
establishes new accounting and reporting standards for the non-controlling interest in a subsidiary and for the
deconsolidation of a subsidiary. SFAS 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008.
We are currently evaluating the impact of SFAS No. 160 on our consclidated results of operations and financial
position.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities, or SFAS 159. SFAS 159 provides companies with an option to report selected financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been
elected are reported in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact, if any, of the provisions of SFAS 159,

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 157, Fair
Value Measurements, or SFAS 157. SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fai:
value in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. The provisions of SFAS 157 are effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. We
are currently evaluating the impact, if any, of the provisions of SFAS 157.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our firancial position, results of operations or cash flows
due to adverse changes in financial and commodity market prices and rates. We are exposed to market risk
primarily in the area of changes in United States interest rates. These exposures are directly related to our normal
operating and funding activities. We do not have any material foreign currency or other derivative financial
instruments.

Interest rate risk. All of our fixed income investments are classified as available-for-sale and therefore reported
on the balance sheet at market value, The fair value of our cash equivalents and investments are subject to change
as a result of changes in market interest rates and investment risk related to the issuers’ credit worthiness. We do
not utilize financial contracts to manage our exposure in our investment portfolio to changes in interest rates. At
December 31, 2007, we had $141.0 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, all of which are
stated at fair value. Changes in market interest rates would not be expected to have a material impact on the fair
value of $14.5 million of our cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2007, as these consisted of securities
with maturities of less than three months. A 100 basis point increase or decrease in interest rates would, however,
decrease or increase, respectively, the remaining $126.5 million of our investments by approximately $1.3
million. While changes in interest rates may affect the fair value of our investment portfolio, any gains or losses
will not be recognized in our consolidated statements of income until the investment is sold or if the reduction in
fair value was determined to be other than temporary.

Our long-term capital lease obligations bear interest at fixed rates and therefore we do not have significant
market risk exposure with respect to these obligations.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our consolidated financial statements and supplementary data required by this item are set forth at the pages
indicated in Item 15(a)(1) and 15(a}(2), respectively.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

Not applicable

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in our reports fited under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such
information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and
chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure, In designing
and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures,
no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired
control objectives, and management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship
of possible controls and procedures.

As required by SEC Rule 13a-15(b), we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period
covered by this Annual Report. Based on the foregoing, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during our most recent fiscal quarter
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.
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Management’s Report on Internal Contrel over Financial Reporting

The management of DivX, Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act.
Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer
and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting based on the framework set forth in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the
framework set forth in Internal Control—Integrated Framework, our management concluded that our internal
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2007. The effectiveness of our internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.

Management’s assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting did
not include the internat contrals of the recent acquisition of MainConcept AG, which was acquired in the fourth
quarter of 2007 and which was included in the 2007 consolidated financial statements of DivX, Inc. and
consisted of $1.9 million and $100,000 of total and net assets, respectively, as of December 31, 2007 and
$100,000 and $1.3 million of net revenues and net loss, respectively, for the year then ended.
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Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
DivX, Inc.

We have audited DivX, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission {the COSO criteria). DivX, Inc.'s management is responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit
inctuded obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2} provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting,
management’s assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did
not include the internal controls of MainConcept AG, which is included in the 2007 consolidated financial
statements of DivX, Inc. and constituted $1.9 million and $100,000 of total and net assets, respectively, as of
December 31, 2007 and $100,000 and $1.3 million of revenues and net loss, respectively, for the year then
ended. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of DivX, Inc. also did not include an evaluation of
the internal control over financial reporting of MainConcept AG.

In our opinion, DivX, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2007, and the related consolidated
statements of income, redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of
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the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007 of DivX, Inc. and our report dated March 13, 2008
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

fs/ Emst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
March 13, 2008

Item 9B. Other Information
MPEG-4 Visual Patent Portfolio License

On October 1, 2007, we entered into an MPEG-4 Visual Patent Portfolio License Agreement with MPEG LA,
L.L.C., or MPEG LA. This license agreement replaced in its entirety the MPEG-4 Visual Patent Portfolio
License Agreement that we entered into with MPEG LA on May 22, 2003. Under the new license agreement with
MPEG-LA, we continue to have a royalty-bearing, worldwide, non-exclusive sublicense of certain patents
licensed to MPEG LA relating to MPEG-4 technology. The current version of our video codec incorporates
technologies implementing a portion of the MPEG-4 video standard. The agreement will expire on December 31,
2008 unless earlier terminated. We may terminate the license agreement for any reason by providing 30 days
prior written notice to MPEG LA. Upon expiration, MPEG-LA may renew the license agreement for successive
five year periods by providing notice to us.

Executive Cash Bonus Plan

On March 13, 2008, our Board of Directors adopted our 2008 Executive Cash Bonus Plan or, the Plan. The P’lan
provides for the payment of cash bonuses to our (i) Chief Executive Officer, (ii} Executive Vice President, Chief
Financial Officer and (iii) Executive Vice President, Corporate Development and Legal upon the achievemeat of
specific 2008 quarterly and annual revenue and earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization, or
EBITDA, milestones by us referred to under the Plan as “Bronze,” “Silver” or “Gold.” If we achieve the Brcnze
level on a quarterly or annual basis, each individual listed above will receive quarterly and/or annual bonuses in
2008 equal to up to an aggregate of 100% of base salary. If we achieve the Silver level on a quarterly or annnal
basis, each individual listed above will receive quarterly and/or annual bonuses in 2008 equal to up to an
aggregate of 120% of base salary. If we achieve the Gold level on a quarterly or annual basis, each individual
listed above will receive quarterly and/or annual bonuses in 2008 equal to up to an aggregate of 160% to 200% of
base salary, depending on the exact amount of revenue received and EBITDA obtained by us in 2008.

Balance Sheet Update

The financial statements included in this report contain updated balance sheet information from that which the
Company furnished on March 11, 2008. The updated information results in a decrease to the total goodwill and a
corresponding decrease to the deferred tax liability as of December 31, 2007, each in the amount of $1.2 million.
The updated information does not impact the previously reported earnings per share information for the year
ended December 31, 2007 or for the three months ended December 31, 2007. The update resulted from the
finalization of the accounting for the tax assets and liabilities associated with the MainConcept acquisition.
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PART Il

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information required by this item concerning our directors, compliance with Section 16 of the Exchange Act
and our code of ethics that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer and principal
accounting officer is incorporated by reference from the information set forth in the sections under the headings
“Election of Directors,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” and “Election of
Directors—Information Regarding the Board of Directors and Corporate Governance” in our Definitive Proxy
Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be held in 2008 (the “2008 Proxy Statement”).

Information regarding our executive officers is set forth in Item 1— “Business” of this Annual Report under the
caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant.”

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to our directors and employees (including
our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer and controller), and have
posted the text of the policy on the “Investors” portion of our website (http:/finvestors divx.com/documents.cfm).
In addition, we intend to promptly disclose on our website in the future (i) the nature of any amendment to the
policy that applies to our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or
controller, or persons performing similar functions and (ii) the nature of any waiver, including an implicit waiver,
from a provision of the policy that is granted to one of these specified individuals, the name of such person who
is granted the waiver and the date of the waiver.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information in the 2008 Proxy
Statement under the heading “Compensation of Executive Officers.”

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information in the 2008 Proxy
Statement under the headings “Equity Compensation Plan Information™ and “Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management.”

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information in the 2008 Proxy
Statemnent under the headings “Transactions with Related Persons™ And “Election of Directors—Information
Regarding the Board of Directors and Corporate Governance.”

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information in the 2008 Proxy
Statement under the heading “Ratification of Selection of Independent Auditors—Principal Accountant Fees and
Services.”
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PART 1V
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)(1) Financial Statements

The Consolidated Financial Statements of DivX, Inc. and Report of Ernst and Young LLP, Independent Registered
Public Accounting Firm are included in a separate section of this Annual Report beginning on page F-1.

(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules
Refer to Schedule II, Valuation and Qualifying Accounts, hereto.

Schedules not listed above have been omitted because they are not applicable or are not required or the
information required to be set forth therein is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes thzreto.

(a)(3) Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Description of Document

31D Form of Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation as currently in effect.
3.2(10 Form of Amended and Restated Bylaws as amended.
4.1(1) Form of Comimon Stock Certificate.
10.1+(1)  Form of Indemnity Agreement.
10.2+4(1) 2000 Stock Option Plan and Form of Stock Option Agreement thereunder.
10.3+(1) 2006 Equity Incentive Plan and Form of Stock Option Agreement thereunder.
10.4+(1} Amended and restated offer letter dated April 12, 2006, between the Registrant and Fred Gerson.
10.5+(1)  Offer letter effective January 3, 2006, between the Registrant and Christopher McGurk.

10.6+(1} Employment offer letter dated November 21, 2002, as amended, between the Registrant and Kevin
Heil.

10.7+(1)  Employment offer lettet dated April 20, 2004 between the Registrant and David J. Richter.
10.8+(1) Letter agreement dated May 26, 2005 between the Registrant, David J. Richter and John A. Tanner.
10.9+(1) Form of Employee Innovations and Proprietary Rights Assignment Agreement.

10.10(1)  Real Property Sub-Sublease dated July 7, 2004 between the Registrant and MP3.com.

10.11+(1) 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and Form of Offering Document thereunder.

10.124(2) Summary of DivX, Inc. 2007 Cash Bonus Plan.

10.13+(3) Employment offer letter dated June 6, 2007, as amended, between the Registrant and Dan L.
Halvorson.

10.14+(4}) Amendment to Employment offer letter dated July 23, 2007, between the Registrant and Dan L.
Halvorson.

10.15*(4) License and Distribution Agreement dated September 27, 2007 between the Registrant and Y ahco!
Inc. and its affiliates.
10.16+(4) Amendment to Employment offer letter dated July 23, 2007, between the Registrant and Kevin Hell.

10.174(4) Amendment to Employment offer letter dated November 8, 2007, between the Registrant and Kevin
Hell.
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Exhibit
Number Description of Document

10.18#(5) Share Purchase Agreement dated November 7, 2007 by and among the Registrant, DivX Holdings,

Inc. and each of the shareholders of MainConcept AG.

10.194(6) DivX, Inc. Change in Contrel Severance Benefit Plan.

10.20 Form of Restricted Stock Bonus Agreement under the Registrant’s 2006 Equity Incentive Plan,

10.21 MPEG-4 Visual Patent Portfolio License dated October 1, 2007 by and between the Registrant and
MPEG LA, LL.C

21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered public accounting firm.

311 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a} promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934,

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(A) promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

321 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and Rule 13a-14(b)
promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

322 Cettification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and Rule 13a-14(b)
promuigated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.

*k

(1)

2)
©)

“)
&)
(6)
)

The Securities and Exchange Commission has granted confidential treatment with respect to certain portions
of this exhibit. Omitted portions have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC).

Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to certain portions of this exhibit. Omitted portions
have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Filed as an exhibit to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-133855), originally
filed on May 3, 2006.

Filed as an exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on May 15, 2007.
Filed as an exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 14,
2007.

Filed as an exhibit to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 14,
2007.

Filed as an exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on November 20,
2007.

Filed as an exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on December 6,
2007.

Filed as an exhibit to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on December 20,
2007.

(b) Exhibits
See Item 15(a)(3) above

(c) Financial Statement Schedules

See Item 15(a)(2) above.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 14, 2008

DIVX, INC.
By: /s/ KEVIN HELL
Kevin Hell
Chief Executive Officer

Pursunant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature m 2.'1‘2
/s/ KEvIN HELL Chief Executive Officer, Director March 14, 2008
Kevin Hell {Principal Executive Officer)
/s/  DAN L. HALVORSON Executive Vice President, Chief March 14, 2008
Dan L. Halvorson Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)

fs!/ Frank CREER Director March 14, 2008
Frank Creer

/s/ FRED GERSON Director March 14, 2008
Fred Gerson

/s/ CHRISTOPHER MCGURK Director March 14, 2008

Christopher McGurk
/s/  JERRY MURDOCK Director March 14, 2008
Jerry Murdock
/s JEROME VASHISHT-ROTA Director March 14, 2008

Jerome Vashisht-Rota




DivX, Inc.

Index to Consolidated Financial Staternents

Report of Ernst and Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm ................... F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets . . .. ... ... i it et F-3
Consolidated Statements of INCOME . ... ...t i i i e F-4
Consolidated Statements of Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Equity ......... F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash FIOWs . .. ... .. ... i i i i e et F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . ... .. ... .ttt inanaanns F-7
Financial Statement Schedule Il .. ... . . e e F-33




REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
DivX, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of DivX, Inc. as of December 31, 2006 and
2007, and the related consolidated statements of income, redeemable convertible preferred stock and
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. QOur
audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)(2). These financial
statemnents and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits,

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bozrd
{(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing, the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our apinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidzted
financial position of DivX, Inc. at December 31, 2006 and 2007, and the consolidated results of its operations
and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects
the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, DivX, Inc. adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48
*Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109,” effective
January 1, 2007, and changed its method of accounting for share-based payments in accordance with Statem:nt
of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (revised 2004), on January 1, 2006.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), DivX, Inc.’s internal contro! over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 13, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinton thereon.

fs/ ERNst & YOUNG LLP

San Diego, California
March 13, 2008




DivX, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except per share data)

Assets

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ...............
Restrictedeash ...................c...
Short-term investments ............0v0vin

Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $1,424 and $1,909, at December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively .. ..

Income taxes receivable .................
Prepaidexpenses . .........ccooenvennnnn
Deferred tax assets, current .. .............
Other curtent assets .. ........oovivnnn.n.

Total current assets .. ........covvvens
Property and equipment,net ............ .. ...,
Deferred tax assets, long-term ................
Purchased intangible assets, net ...............
Goodwill ... .
Other assets .. ..o vt e e ceaanneuaans

Total assets . ......ovvvivrrnvarins

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable ......... ... .. 0.
Accrued liabilities .. ... ... .. ... ...
Accrued compensation and benefits ........
Accrued patent royalties .................
Income taxes payable ...................
Deferred revenue, current .. ..............
Current portion of capital lease obligations ..
Notes payable, current portion ............

Total current liabilities ..............
Capital lease, net of current portion ............
Notes payable, net of current portion ...........
Deferred tax liability ...... ... ..o
Deferred revenue, long-term .. ................
Deferredrent ... o ittt

Liability for unvested portion of early stock Option eXercises .. ..ot iiiiiiai i

Totat liabilities ....................
Commitments and contingencies ......
Stockholders™ equity

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 10,000 shares authorized at December 31, 2006 and 2007; 0 shares issued and

ocutstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2007

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 200,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2006 and 2007; 33,032 and
34,723 shares issued and outstanding, excluding 514 and 127 shares subject to repurchase at December 31,

2006 and 2007, respectively ............
Additional paid in capital ................

Accumulated other comprehensive (0SS} INCOME ... v v oot i e

(Accumulated deficit) retained eamings .. . . .
Total stockholders’ equity ............

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes.
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December 31,
2006 2007
$ 86310 3 14,532

270 —
62,331 126,503
6,939 10,397
_— 857
1,419 2,593
937 2,699
615 1,868
158,821 159,449
3,488 5402
1,363 5354
— 14,261
— 11,000
714 5422
$164,386  $200,888
$ 2,189 $ 2,808
1,038 4,574
2,279 4,011
742 1,785
486 616
4,654 7170
36 38

378 37
11,802 21,039
73 3

15 47

— 3.119
768 1,008
461 —
356 114
13,475 25,448
33 35
153,902 171,400
(72) 109
(2,952) 3,896
150,911 175,440
$164,386  $200,388



DivX, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Income
(in thousands, except per share data)

Net revenues:
Technology licensing .. ........ .. ittt e
Media and other distribution and services .. ...... ... ... ... ..

Total netrevenues ... e

Cost of revenues:
Cost of technology licensing .. ... ... .. it i i
Cost of media and other distribution and services(1) . ...................

Total cOSt Of TEVENUES . . ..ot ittt e e it

Gross profit . . ... e e

Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative(1) .. ......... ... .. . oo,
Productdevelopment(1) .. ... . ... . . . i
Impairment of acquired intangibles ....... ..., .. ... . ... ... ... ...,

Total operating expenses ............... e

Income from OPerations . ...........ouiiiuuiiiee et e
ISt IMCOINE . . oottt e e

Income before INCOME taXES . .. .. ..o i i ittt et e et it iee e
Income tax provision (benefit) ... ... ... .. ... i

L= BT oL o) 4.1 L=

Basicnetincome pershare ...... ... ... . . . .. i i i
Diluted net income pershare ........... .. . ... ... .. i
Shares used to compute basic net income pershare ........................
Shares used to compute diluted net income pershare .......................
(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows:

CoSt Of TEVENUES . . ... i e et i e i e
Selling, general and administrative . .......... ... ... ... .. o o
Product development . ... ... .. ... .

See accompanying notes.
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Year ended December 31,
2005 2006 2007
$26,919 $47,324 $06,345
6,128 12,001 iB,517
33,047 59325 84,862
2,767 2,995 3,778

889 993 701
3,656 3,988 4479
29,391 55,337  £0,383
15988 25971 58,315
10,269 15,353 18,738

— — 2,973
26,257 41,324 _80,026
3,134 14,013 357

338 3,060 7,883

(115) (n _ (6)
3,357 17,002 3,234
1,062 562 (974)

$ 2,295 316,440 $ 9,208
S — $ 070 S 027
$ — $ 061 $ 026
7,323 15,231 i‘,939
7,323 17,653 35415
3 1 3 4 % 2
261 1,528 ©.761
141 822 1,995
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DivX, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
B 3+ 0731 OO P
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 2nd AmMOTZAtON . . ... oo vt i i st e in e e e e
Defermed taXES ...ttt e
Impairment of acquired intangibles . ......... .. .. . e
Stock-based COMPENSALUON . ... vttt ittt i in et iria et s rnanaa s
Amortization of discount on short-term investments ..............oiiier i irirnnriarinnns
Tax benefit from stock options exercised ... . it i e
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accountsteceivable . . ... L. s
Prepaid expenses and otherassets . ....... .. ... i e
Accounts payable . .. e e
Accrued liabilities . ... ... ... i e e
Accrued compensationand benefits ... i e e e
Deferred rent . ... et e
Deferred revenue, MEl . ... ... .. ittt ittt ia it e i
Income taxes payable (receivable) . .. ... i i i e

Net cash provided by operating activities . ......... ... oiiiiii i e

Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of short-term investments . ............. . i i i i e
Proceeds from sales and maturities of short-term investments .............. ... ... .0a.a
Purchase of property and equipment ... ... ..o vttt i e
Restricted cash .. ... i e
Cash paid in Corporate Green acquisition . ......... oot iiiaa s
Net cash paid in Main Conceptacquisition .......... . ittt
Cash paid in deviant ART invesIment . ...ttt i rn s
Cash paid in Veatros acquisition . ... ... ... . i i e

Net cash used in INVesUNg CtiVILIES ... ... ittt it aia i rnarar i aanr e

Cash fows from financing activities:

Net proceeds from issuance of preferred stock ........ .. .o i
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of underwriting discounts and commissiens . ........
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants .......... ...l
Proceeds from shares issued under the employee stock purchaseplan ............ ... .. ... ...
Expenses related to initial public offering . ....... ..o i
Excess tax benefit from exercise of stock options ... .......... .. o i
Repurchase of unvested stock . ... e
Payments on capital lease 0bligations .. ..., ... e e
Proceeds frommotes payable .. .. . i e e
Payments onnotes payable . ... ... e

Net cash provided by financing aclivities . ... .. ... .. .. i

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cashequivalents . ................ ... .. o i il
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year ... . ... . i il

Cash and cash equivalentsatend of year ........ ...t iiirin i e iiiiiiae e

Supplementa! disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Issuance of equity in connection with acquisition ... ............ ... ... .. il
Issuance of warrants in connection with format approval agreement .. ........................

Supplemental disclesures of cash flow information:
Cash paid for inCOME tAXES . ...\ttt iiat ittt iai v aiiaraas

Cash paid fOriNETESE . . .. .. ..ot it it i i

See accompanying notes.

F-6

Year ended December 31,

2005

2006

2007

$ 2205 516440 § 9208

1022 1,649 2422
— (23000 (5.797)
— - 2973
403 2,354 11,758

— (134)  (.00M
— (60} (825)
(1.952)  (2,745)  (2,864)
432 (1,786}  (3.379)
(755) 476 £19
(232) 61 1.158
591 1,017 1732
(121) (179) (185)
an 1,530 2,808
14 452 (857
2190 16775 16,874
—  (63.869) (209,825)
- 1,600 147935
(885)  (1,586)  {(3.467)
— — 270
— (3s1) —
- — (20,401)
— — (3,500)
— — (2.250)
(885) (64.206)  (91,238)
16,842 — —_
— 118w —
701 — 1,137
— 1,906

— (2,403) (467)
- 60 825
(20) @® (99)
272) (42) (40)
761 — —
(1.216) (720 (676)
16,796 108,706 2,586
18101 61275 (71,778)
6934 25035 86,310
$25035 $ 86310 § 14532
$ — § — § 1,568
$ — $§ — % 34
$ 1028 $ 2350 $ 6934
$ 115 $§ 68 § 21




DivX, Inc.
Notes te Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Organization and summary of significant accounting policies

DivX, Inc., or the Company, was incorporated in Delaware on May 16, 2000. The Company creates
products and provides services designed to improve consumers’ media experience. The Company’s first product
offering was a video compression-decompression software library, or codec. In addition to its codec, the
Company provides consumer software, including the DivX Player application, from its website, DivX.com. The
Company also licenses its technologies to consumer hardware device manufacturers and certifies their products
to ensure the interoperable support of DivX-encoded content. In addition to technology licensing to consumer
hardware device manufacturers, the Company currently generates revenue from software licensing, advertising,
distributing third-party software and services related to digital media distribution. '

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of DivX, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.
All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial
statements and accompanying notes to the financial statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash, money market funds and other highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase.

Investments with original maturities at date of purchase greater than three months are classified as short-
term investments. The Company manages its cash equivalents and short-term investments as a single portfolio of
highly marketable securities, all of which are intended to be avaitable for the Company’s current operations. As
such, all of the Company’s short-term investments are classified as available-for-sale and are reported at fair
value, as determined by quoted market prices, with any unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, recorded as a
separate component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in stockholders’ equity. The cost of securities sold
is based on the specific identification method. Investments in auction rate securities are recorded, in short-term
investments, at cost, which approximates fair value due to their variable interest rates, which typically reset every
27 to 34 days, and, despite the long-term nature of their stated contractual maturities, the Company had the
ability to quickly liquidate these securities as of December 31, 2007,

Strategic Investments

The Company made an equity investment in deviantART, Inc., or deviantART, a private corporation that
aggregates and distributes art via its web community and facilitates an open forum where artists can exhibit their
artwork and build community around that art in an effort to drive commerce. The Company’s investment
consisted of $3.5 million cash for which it received 146,750 shares of Series A Preferred Stock. As further
consideration for the Company’s investment, deviantART entered into an advertising and marketing agreement
with the Company. The Company has allocated approximately $650,000 of the investment to the advertising and
marketing agreement, based on its estimated fair value, and the remaining $2.9 million is carried as an
investment. The value allocated to the advertising and marketing agreement is being amortized ratably over the
pericd in which the services are being rendered: October 2007 through March 2009. As the Company’s
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DivX, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

ownership is less than 20%, the investment has been accounted for using the cost basis, and will periodically be
reviewed for impairment. The investment and the long-term portion of the advertising and marketing agreement
are included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets. The current portion of the advertising and
marketing agreement is included in prepaid expenses on the consolidated balance sheets.

Investments in equity securities of non-publicly traded companies are accounted for under the cost method.
Under the cost method, strategic investments in which the Company holds less than a 20% voting interest and
does not have the ability to exercise significant influence are carried at the lower of cost or fair value. This
investment is included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets and are carried at fair value or cost, as
appropriate. The Company periodically reviews this investment for other-than-temporary declines in fair value
based on the specific identification method and would write down the investments to its fair values if an other-
than-temporary decline has occurred. No such impairment has occurred to date.

Goodwill and Purchased Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and identifiable
intangible assets acquired in a business combination. Intangible assets resulting from the acquisitions of entities
accounted for using the purchase method of accounting are recorded at the estimated fair value of the assets
acquired. Identifiable intangible assets are comprised of purchased customer relationships, trademarks and trade
names, developed technologies and other intangible assets. Identifiable intangible assets are amortized using the
straight-line method over estimated useful lives ranging from two to eight years. In accordance with Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards, or SFAS, No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, goodwill and other
intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized but tested annually for impairment or more frequently if
the Company believes indicators of impairment exist, The performance of the impairment test involves a
two-step process. The first step involves comparing the fair values of the applicable reporting units with their
aggregate carrying values, including goodwill. If the carrying value of a reporting unit exceeds the reporting
unit’s fair value, the Company performs the second step of the test to determine the amount of impairment loss.
The second step involves measuring the impairment by comparing the implied fair values of the affected
reporting unit’s goodwill and intangible assets with the respective carrying values.

Long-lived assets, such as intangible assets, are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable in accordance with SFAS No. 144,
Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. The Company assesses the value of the assets
based on the future cash flows the assets are expected to generate, and recognizes an impairment loss when the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows that are expected to result from the use of the assets, plus net proceeds
expected from disposition of the assets (if any), are less than the carrying value of the assets. When an
impairment is identified, the Company reduces the carrying amount of the assets to estimated fair value based on
a discounted cash flow approach or, when available and appropriate, comparable market values, During 2007, as
a result of the Company’s decision to shut down its Stage6 operations and the related originally anticipated
reliance of the planned revenue to be generated from Stage6, the Company recorded an impairment of a patented
technology license in the amount of approximately $3.0 million.

In December 2007, the Company executed a format approval fee agreement with Sony Pictures Television,
or SPT. This agreement provides for SPT to allow online retailers to offer SPT’s titles for secure download in the
DivX format for playback on DivX Certified consumer electronics devices. The total consideration paid by the
Company to SPT was a one-time non-refundable fee of $1.5 million and futly vested warrants to purchase
100,000 shares of the common stock of DivX with a strike price of $16.14 and an exercise period of 18 months.
The value of these warrants at the date of issuance was approximately $300,000. The total consideration of
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DivX, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

$1.8 million was capitalized as an intangible asset and is being recorded against revenues generated from Sony
Corporation over the estimated useful life of the format fee approval agreement, which is estimated to be five
years.

Contingent Consideration

In connection with certain of our acquisitions, additional cash consideration will be paid to the former
holders of capital stock and other rights upon satisfaction of certain future performance goals. In accordance with
SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, or SFAS 141, contingent consideration is recorded when a contingency
is satisfied and additional consideration is issued or becomes issuable. In accordance with EITF Issue No. 95-8,
Accounting for Contingent Consideration Paid to the Shareholders of an Acquired Enterprise in a Purchase
Business Combination, the additional consideration issuable to holders of unrestricted commeon stock and fully
vested options as of the acquisition date is recorded as additional purchase price, as the consideration is unrelated
to any employment requirement with the Company, If additional consideration is recorded, such amount will be
allocated to goodwill.

Property and equipment

Long-lived assets, consisting primarily of office and computer equipment, are recorded at cost. Depreciation
is computed using the straight-line method over the shorter of the useful lives of the assets or the remaining
associated lease terms, which are three to seven years.

Concentration of credit risk

A small number of customers account for a significant percentage of the Company’s net revenues as
follows:

Year ended DPecember, 31
Year ended December 31, 2005 2006 2007
Google, Inc. .. .. . o e e 15% 20% 19%
LG Electronics INC. ... .ot ve it et e e e et ® 10 10
Koninklijke Philips Electronics N.V. . ... . o oot nes 13 * *

* {.ess than 10% of net revenue.

As the Company does not ship inventory, credit terms are generally provided given consideration to the
small financial commitment of the Company’s resources to any customer transaction. A cash deposit is generally
not required.

Accounts receivable and allowance for uncollectible sales and accounts

The Company has reflected in its balance sheets, on a net basis, amounts invoiced to customers that are
unpaid when the associated revenue is unearned. The amount of unearned revenue that has been offset against the
related accounts receivable totaled approximately $3.9 million and $3.1 million at December 31, 2006 and 2007,
respectively.

The Company maintains a reserve for estimated uncollectible sates and accounts. The Company estimates
the allowance for uncollectible sales and accounts based on its historical experience. In evaluating the adequacy

of this reserve the Company considers the length of time the receivables are past due, specific customer
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DivX, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

creditworthiness, geographic risk, the current business environment and historical discrepancies in business
volume reports received from customers. In cases where the customer is new and has an undemonstrated atility
to pay, the Company delays recognition of the revenue until such time as the new customer has paid unless
significant and persuasive evidence exists that the customer is creditworthy.

Actual future write-offs may differ from the allowances the Company has estimated, which may have a
material effect on the Company’s futare results of operations and financial condition.

Fair value of financial instruments

Financial instruments, including cash equivalents, accounts receivable, net of applicable allowances,
accounts payable and accrued liabilities, are carried at cost, which management believes approximates fair value
because of the short-term maturity of these instruments,

Deferred rent

Rent expense on noncancellable leases containing known future scheduled rent increases are recorded on a
straight-line basis over the term of the respective leases beginning when the Company takes possession of the
leased property. The difference between rent expense and rent paid is accounted for as deferred rent. Landlord
construction allowances and other such lease incentives are recorded as deferred rent and are amortized on a
straight-line basis as a reduction to rent expense.

Foreign currency translation

The functional currency of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries is generally their respective local
carrency. Assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollars at the rate of exchange existing at the balance: sheet
date. Income statement amounts are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. Translation gair.s and
losses are included as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. Foreign currency transaction gains and (losses) are included in the consolidatesd
statements of income, principally in other income {expense).

Revenue recognition

The Company evaluates revenue recognition for transactions to sell products and services and to license
technology using the criteria set forth by the Securities Exchange Commission in Staff Accounting Bulletin
No. 104, Revenue Recognition, or SAB No. 104. SAB No. 104 states that revenue is recognized when each of the
following criteria is met: persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred or services have
been rendered, the seller’s price to the buyer is fixed or determinable and collectibility is reasonably assurel. In
accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, Issue No. 00-21, revenue from multipie-element
arrangements is allocated among separate elements based on their relative fair values, provided the elements have
value on a stand-alone basis, there is objective and reliable evidence of fair value, the arrangement does not
include a general right of return relative to the delivered item and delivery or performance of the undelivered
item(s} is considered probable and substantially in the Company’s control. The maximum revenue recognizzd on
a delivered element is limited to the amount that is not contingent upon the delivery of additional items.

The Company’s licensing revenue is primarily derived from royalties paid to the Company by licensees of
the Company’s intellectual property rights. Revenue in such transactions is recognized during the period in which
such customers report to the Company the number of royalty-eligible units that they have shipped. Revenue from
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DivX, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

guaranteed minimum-royalty licenses is recognizable upon delivery of the technology license when no further
obligations of the Company exist. Certain of the Company’s license agreements provide for royalties based on its
estimations of the volumes of certain units consumer hardware device manufacturers are estimated to ship during
a given term for which the Company recognizes revenue over the term of the contractual agreement. In certain
guaranteed minimum-royalty licenses and license agreements based on volume estimates, the Company enters
into extended payment programs with customers. In certain guaranteed minimum-royalty licenses and license
agreements based on volume estimates, the Company enters into extended payment programs with customers.
Revenue related to such extended payment programs is recognized at the earlier of when cash is received or
when periodic payments become due to the Company. If the Company receives non-refundable advance
payments from licensees that are allocable to future contract period or could be creditable against other
obligations of the licensee to it, the recognition of the related revenue is deferred until such future period or
creditable ohligation lapses. Royalties and other license fees are recorded net of reserves for estimated losses, and
are recognized when all revenue recognition criteria have been met. The Company makes judgments as to
whether collectibility can be reasonably assured based on the licensee’s recent payment history unless significant
and persuasive evidence exists that the customer is creditworthy. In the absence of a favorable collection history
or significant and persuasive evidence that the customer is creditworthy, the Company recognizes revenue upon
receipt of cash, provided that all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.

The Company has entered into a contractual relationship to license technelogy to a customer and the
Company also obtained format approval for which it provided consideration to a related customer. In situations
where the Company does not receive an identifiable benefit that is sufficiently separable from its customers
purchase of its products or where it cannot reasonably estimate the fair value of the products or services it is
purchasing, the Company records the consideration provided to its customers as an offset to revenues in
accordance with EITF Issue No. 01-9, Accounting for Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Including
a Reseller of the Vendor’s Products).

The Company recognizes revenue in connection with its software products pursuant to the requirements of
Statement of Positien, or SOP, No. 97-2, Software Revenue Recognition, as amended by SOP No. 98-9, Software
Revenue Recognition with Respect to Certain Arrangements. For multiple element software arrangements, the
Company recognizes revenue under the residual method when Company-specific objective evidence of fair value
exists for all of the undelivered elements of the arrangement, but does not exist for one or more of the delivered
elements in the arrangement. Under the residual method, at the outset of the arrangement with a customer, the
Company defers revenue for the fair value of iis undelivered elements and recognizes the revenue for the remainder
of the arrangement fee attributable to the elements initially delivered, such as software licenses, when the criteria in
SOP No. 97-2 have been met. If vendor specific objective evidence does not exist for an undelivered element in a
software arrangement, revenue is recognized over the term of the contractual support period or, if unspecified, 24 to
36 months (depending on the estimated length of the product life cycle, which approximates the support period for
the specific product), commencing upon delivery of the Company's software to the customer. Royalty revenue from
license agreements with independent software vendors, or ISVs, who embed the Company’s products into their own
is recognized upon receipt of reports from licensees stating the number of products implementing the Company’s
technologies on which royalties are due. In the case of prepayments received from an ISV when the Company
provides ongoing support to the ISV in the form of future upgrades, enhancements or other services over the term of
the arrangement, revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the contract, as vendor specific objective evidence
does not exist for future support services to be provided.

So long as all of the other elements of revenue recognition are met, the Company recognizes revenues on
services during the period such services are provided. The Company is paid for distributing certain third-party
software when such software is downloaded or installed via the Company’s website. The related distribution fees
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are recognized based on the number of downloads and installations. The Company is also paid by content providers
and commercial content users to encode content into the DivX media format, and recognizes retated revenues when
such encoding services are provided. Additionally, the Company is paid service fees as a percentage of transaction
revenue for electronically distributing encoded media for content providers, and recognizes related revenues in the
period that third-party reports on such transactions are received by the Company.

Product development costs

The Company includes research and development costs as part of product development. The Company
accounts for research and development costs in accordance with several accounting pronouncements, including
SFAS No. 2, Accounting for Research and Development Costs, and SFAS No. 86, Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed. SFAS No. 86 specifies that costs incurred
internally in researching and developing a computer software product should be charged to expense until
technological feasibility has been established for the product. Once technological feasibility is established, all
software costs should be capitalized until the product is available for general release to customers. Judgment is
required in determining when technological feasibility of a product is established. The Company has determined
that technological feasibility for its software products is reached shortly before the products are available for
general release to customers. Through December 31, 2007, the Company has expensed all sofiware development
costs when incurred because costs incurred after technological feasibility was established and prior to
commercial availability was insignificant. Additionally, the Company incurs website development costs. Such
costs are accounted for in accordance with EITF Issue No. 00-2, Accounting for Web Site Development Costs,
and SOP No. 98-1, Accounting for the costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.
Through December 31, 2007, costs required to be capitalized, such as software acquired or built while in th2 web
site application and infrastructure development stage has been insignificant, and as a result all related
development costs have been expensed in the period incurred.

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes.
Deferred income tax assets or liabilities are recognized based on the temporary differences between financial
statement and income tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which the
differences are expected to reverse. Deferred income tax expenses or credits are based on the changes in the
deferred income tax assets or liabilities from period to period. A valuation allowance is recorded when it is :more
likely than not that some of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Company also determines its tax
contingencies in accordance with SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies. The Company records estimased
tax liabilities to the extent the contingencies are probable and can be reasonably estimated.

Advertising

The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising expenses for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, were approximately $65,000, $500,000 and $700,000, respectively.

Net income (loss) per share data

For periods where the Company had two classes of equily securities, it followed EITF Issue No, 03-6,
Participating Securities and the Two-Class Method under FASB Statement 128, which established standards
regarding the computation of earnings per share, or EPS, by companies that have issued securities other thar.
common stock that contractually entitle the holder to participate in dividends and earnings of the Company. EITF
Issue No. 03-6 requires earnings available to cornmon stockholders for the period, after deduction of preferred
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stock dividends, to be allocated between the common and preferred stockholders based on their respective rights
to receive dividends. Basic EPS is then calculated by dividing income allocable to common stockholders
(including the reduction for any undeclared, preferred stock dividends assuming current income for the period
had been distributed) by the weighted average number of shares outstanding, net of shares subject to repurchase.
EITF Issue No. 03-6 does not require the presentation of basic and diluted EPS for securities other than common
stock; therefore, the following EPS amounts only pertain to the Company’s common stock.

Upon the closing of the Company’s initial public offering, all outstanding shares of preferred stock were
converted to shares of common stock. Since the Company became a public company, the Company has followed
SFAS No. 128, Earnings Per Share, which requires that basic EPS be calculated by dividing earnings available
to common stockholders for the period by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding.
Income for the periods presented was allocated between the preferred and common stockholders on a straight-
line basis over the number of days of the respective periods presented.

The Company calculates diluted EPS under the if-converted method unless the conversion of the preferred
stock is anti-dilutive to basic EPS. To the extent preferred stock is anti-dilutive, the Company calculates diluted
EPS under the two class method.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net income per share (in thousands,
except per share amounts):

Year ended December 31,
2005 2006 2007

Numerator:

L R4 1ot o) 1 (P $2205 $16440 $ 9,208

Income allocable to preferred stockholders ........................... (2,295) (5,704) —

Net income allocable to common stockholders ........................ $§ — 510,736 $ 9,208
Denominator:

Weighted-average common shares outstanding (basic) .................. 7,323 15,231 33,939

Common equivalent shares from common and preferred stock warrants . ... — 587 244

Common and equivalent shares from options to purchase common stock and

unvested shares of common stock subject torepurchase ............... — 1,835 1,232

Weighted-average common shares outstanding (diluted) . ................ 7,323 17,653 35415
Basic net income pershare . ... o e $ — $ 070 § 027
Diluted net income pershare .......... . ccveiininr it $ — $ 061 $ 026

Potentially dilutive securities not included in the calculation of diluted net income per share because to do
so would be anti-dilutive are as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2005 2006 2007

Convertible preferred stock . ... ... . L e 16,642 12,082 —
Common and preferred stock warrants . ......... ... ... ... i 755 — 100
Options to purchase common stock ... ... ... 1,698 124 3,260
Shares of common stock subject torepurchase . ........ ... ... . ... Ll 580 — —
Totals ... i e 19,675 12,206 3,360
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Stock-based compensation

Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for employee stock-based compensation in accordance
with Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, or APB 25, and
Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation, or FIN, No. 44, Accounting for Certain Transactions
Involving Stock Compensation—an Interpretation of APB No. 25, and complied with the disclosure provisions of
SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and related SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation—Transaction and Disclosure. Under APB 23, compensation expense is based on the difference, if
any, on the date of the grant, between the fair value of the Company’s stock and the exercise price of the option.
Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company amortized deferred stock-based compensation using the straight-line
method over the vesting period.

For non-employees, the Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with EITF Issue
No. 96-18, Accounting Recognition for Equity Instruments That are Issued to Other Than Employees for
Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods for Services. Equity instruments awarded to non-employees are
periodically remeasured as the underlying awards vest unless the instruments are fully vested, immediately
exercisable and nonforfeitable on date of grant,

Prior to its initial public offering in September 2006, the Company granted stock options to purchase
common stock to employees with exercise prices equal to the value of the underlying stock, as determined by the
board of directors on the date the equity award was granted. The Company’s board of directors had determined
the fair value of the Company’s common stock based on several factors, including but not limited to, historical
and projected financial results, the risks the Company faced at the time, the preferences of the Company’s
preferred stockhelders and the lack of liquidity of the Company’s common stock.

In connection with the preparation of the financial statements for the Company’s initial public offering and
solely for the purposes of accounting for stock-based compensation for financial stalement purposes, the
Company’s management reassessed the fair value of the Company’s common stock for the equity awards granted
on or after October 1, 2004 (which coincided approximately with the Company’s Series C preferred stock
financing) through December 31, 2005. Based upon this reassessment of the fair value of the Company’s
common stock, the Company recorded deferred stock-based compensation to the extent that the reassessed value
of the Company’s cornmon stock at the date of the grant exceeded the exercise price of the equity awards.
Reassessed values are inherently uncertain and highly subjective. The Company recorded deferred compensation
of $1,244,000 during 2005. For stock options granted prior to September 30, 2004, no expense was recorded as
management determined that the estimated fair value of the Company’s stock at the date of grant did not exceed
the exercise price. Deferred stock-based compensation is being amortized on a straight-line basis over the stock
optien vesting period of generally four years. In 2005, the Company recognized stock-based compensation
expense related to options granted to employees based on the reassessed values of the common stock underlying
the stock option awards. The expense associated with the amortization of unearned stock-based compensation
related to options for which we reassessed the value is classified in the Company’s consolidated statements of
income as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2005 2006 2007

(in thousands)
Total costof revenues . ......... .. ... . i $1 $ 4 % 3
Selling, general and administrative .................................. 252 190 110
Productdevelopment .......... ... ... i i, 141 262 265
Total ... e $394  $456  $378
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In 2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment, or SFAS 123R, which requires all
share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the financial
statements as compensation expense over the vesting period based on their grant date fair values and does not
allow the previously permiited pro forma disclosure-only method as an alternative to financial statement
recognition. SFAS 123R supersedes APB 25 and related interpretations and amends SFAS No. 95, Statement of
Cash Flows. The Company adopted SFAS 123R effective January 1, 2006, prospectively for new equity awards
issued subsequent to January 1, 2006, As the Company utilized the minimum value method prior to January 1,
2006, pursuant to SFAS 123R the Company will continue to recognize compensation expense relating to
unvested awards issued prior to January 1, 2006 using APB 25 which is the same accounting principle originally
applied to those awards. The adoption of SFAS 123R in 2006 and 2007 resulted in the recognition of additional
stock-based compensation expense and a reduction in net income of approximately $1.9 million and $7.4 million,
respectively. Recording this stock compensation expense caused the Company’s basic and diluted earnings per
share for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006 to be reduced by $0.12 and $0.11, respectively and for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2007 to be reduced by $0.22 and $0.21, respectively, net of related tax benefits.

In connection with the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company reviewed and updated, among other things, its
forfeiture rate, expected term and volatility assumptions. The weighted average expected lives of the options for the
years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007 reflects the application of the simplified method set out in SAB No. 107
Share Based Payments, or SAB 107, which was issued in March 2005. The simplified method defines the life as the
average of the contractual term of the options and the weighted average vesting period for all option tranches.
Estimated volatility for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007 also reflects the application of SAB 107
interpretive guidance and, accordingly, incorporates historical volatility of similar entities whose share prices are
publicly available. The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
method with the following assumptions in the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007:

2006 2007
Expected Hfe (I YEars) . ... ..ottt i e e e 625 624
L35 =kt 1< A O 50% 4.6%
VOlat Y . e a e 55% 48%

Dividend yield . . ... ... e e e — —

As of December 31, 2007, there was $33.]1 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to stock
options which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.66 years. The unrecognized
compensation related to the acquisition of Corporate Green (which is described in more detail in Note 11) was
$25,000 and will be recognized during 2008. The Company recorded cash received from the exercise of stock
options of $414,000 and $1.1 million and related tax benefits of $60,000 and $825,000 during fiscal 2006 and
2007, respectively. Upon option exercise, the Company issues new shares of common stock.

The estimated weighted-average fair value of an option to purchase one share of 'common stock granted
during 2006 and 2007 was $7.30 and $8.42, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during
2006 and 2007 was $2.3 million and $10.3 million, respectively.

2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

in July 2006, the Company adopted the 2006 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, or Purchase Plan. A total of
550,000 shares of common stock were initially reserved under the Purchase Plan, such number to be
automatically increased on January 1 of each year, beginning with January 1, 2007, by the lesser of (i) one and
one-half percent of the total number of shares outstanding or (ii} 1,500,000 of common stock, subject to
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adjustment as provided in the Purchase Plan, for issuance and purchase by employees of the Company to assist
them in acquiring a stock ownership interest in the Company and to encourage them to remain employees of the
Company. The Purchase Plan is qualified under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code and permits eligible
employees to purchase common stock at a discount through payroll deductions during specified six-month
offering periods. No employee may purchase more than $25,000 worth of commen stock in any calendar year.

The purchase price of common stock under the Purchase Plan shall be determined as the lesser of (i) én
amount equal to eighty-five percent of the fair market value of the shares of common stock on the offering date
or (ii) an amount equal to eighty-five percent of the fair market value of the shares of common stock on the: last
day of each six-month purchase period.

The fair value of each compensatory share purchase right is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes option pricing medel. The following assumptions were used in estimating the fair value of the purchase
rights during 2006 and 2007:

w05 207
Expected term (i Yars) . ... ......uuuut e 05 0.6
Risk-free interest rate . ... ... ... o e 51% 42%
Expected volatility .. ... ... o e e 39% 4%

Dividend yield .. ... ... e — —-

The weighted-average estimated fair value of each compensatory share purchase right issued during 2006
and 2007 was $4.29 and $5.14, respectively.

Recently issued accounting standards

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, or SFAS 157, which
defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The provisions of SFAS 157 are
effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the impact, if
any, of the provisions of SFAS 157.

In Febroary 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities, or SFAS 159, SFAS 159 provides companies with an option to report selected financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value, Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option
has been elected are reported in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. SFAS 159 is effective for fiscal years
beginning after November 15, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the impact, if any, of the provisions of
SFAS 159.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 141 (Revised 2007)
(SFAS 141R), “Business Combinations”, SFAS 14|R will change the accounting for business combinations.
Under SFAS 141R, an acquiring entity will be required to recognize all the assets acquired and iabilities
assumed in a transaction at the acquisition-date fair value with limited exceptions. SFAS 141R will change the
accounting treatment and disclosure for certain specific items in a business combination. SFAS 141R applies
prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual reporting period beginning on or after December 15, 2008. SFAS 141R will have an impact on accounting
for business combinations once adopted but the effect is dependent upon acquisitions at that time.
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In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 160 (SFAS 160},
“Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements—An Amendment of ARB No, 517. SFAS 160
establishes new accounting and reporting standards for the non-controlling interest in a subsidiary and for the
deconsolidation of a subsidiary. SFAS 160 is effective for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2008.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact of SFAS No. 160 on its consolidated results of operations and
financial position.

In December 2007, the SEC issued SAB No. 110, Certain Assumptions Used in Valuation Methods—
Expected Term (“SAB110”). According to SAB 110, under certain circumstances the SEC staff will continue to
accept beyond December 31, 2007 the use of the simplified method in developing an estimate of expected term
of share options that possess certain characteristics in accordance with SFAS 123R beyond December 31, 2007.
The Company will adopt SAB 110 effective January 1, 2008 and continue to use the simplified method in
developing the expected term used for our valuation of stock-based compensation until sufficient historical
experience exists for which the Company can determine the expected term of its options granted.

2, Short-term investments

The following tables summarize short-term investments by security type (in thousands):

December 31, 2007
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Auction rate Securities . .......... . . ennnn $ 17,700 $— $— $ 17,700
Commercial paper ............. ... ....onr- 30,750 38 3) $ 30,785
Corporatebonds ......... ...l 55,885 32 4D $ 55,876
GOVEITIMENT & ottt ettt et eeaeanns 22,055 87 — $ 22,142
$126,390 $157 $(44) $126,503
December 31, 2006
Gross (iross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Auctionrate Securities ..........cvvirieannn.. $ 9,800 $— $— $ 9,800
Commercial paper .......................... 23,913 —_ 23 23,890
Corporatebonds ......... ... ... ... oLt 26,232 _— 43 26,189
GOVEINIMENE .. ... ..ttt ieienananinentnnns 2,458 — (6) 2,452
$62,403 $—— $(72) $62,331

The following table summarizes the contractual maturities of the Company’s short-term investments (in
thousands):

December 31,
2006 2007
Less than one Year .. .....ovveeeneiioanatenneiinnn. $43284  $ 99,340
Duecinonetofiveyears.......... ... ool 9,247 9,463
Dueafterfiveyears . ... .. .. .. ... .. iviinin. .- 9,800 17,700

$62,331  $126,503
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Asset-backed securities have been allocated within the contractual maturities table based upon the set
maturity date of the security. Realized gains and losses on shori-term investments are included in interest
expense and other, in the accompanying consolidated statements of income, The Company recorded no realized
gains or losses on its short-term investments in 2003, 2006 or 2007.

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had no investments that have been in a continuous unrealized loss
position for a period of 12 months.

At December 31, 2006 and 2007, the Company’s holdings of auction rate securities aggregated
approximately $9.8 million and $17.7 million, respectively, and were included in short-term investments in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2007, the auction rate debt securities have stated
maturities through 2045. Each of these securities has interest rates which typically reset every 27 to 34 days. At
each auction reset, the Company has the option to hold the position, bid for a new interest rate or sell. In the
event of a failed auction rate debt security, the Company may reclassify the auction rate debt security from short-
term to long-term investments based on the actual maturity of the security rather than the auction reset period. In
addition, if an auction fails, the Company’s investment may not be liquid. In the event the Company needs to
access these funds, the Company may not be able to until a future auction on these investments is successful. If
the issuer is unable to successfully close future auctions and their credit rating deteriorates, the Company may be
required to adjust the carrying value of the investment through an impairment charge.

3. Financial Statement Details

Property and Equipment

Property ard equipment consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2006 2007
COMPULET EQUIPIMENT . ..\ttt ittt e e aaaeenes $5215 % 8,137
SoftwWare . ... .. e 1,039 1,339
Leasehold improvements . .......... ... ... ... . . . i iiiiian 1,002 1,119
Furniture and fiXtures - . .. ... oo i i e e 315 427
Officeequipment ........ ... it i 172 173

7,743 11,195
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization .. ............... (4,255) (5,793)

$3488 § 5402

Depreciation and amortization expense was $1.0 million, $1.6 million, and $1.9 million for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007,
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Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of the following (in thousands):

December 31,
2006 2007
Definite Lives:
Developed technologies . ...t iiieaan-s $—  $11,337
CustomEr FStS .. .. it i i it e —_ 1,400
— 12,737
Less accumulated amortization ... ... ...oeininrnenrnaaanniiians — (276)
— $12,461
Indefinite Life:
Trade NAMIE « ... oottt et et et e c et — 1,800
— $14,261

Amortization expense relating to intangible assets was $0 in 2005 and 2006 and $276,000 in 2007 and is
included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of income.

Future estimated amortization expense over the following five-year period is as follows (in thousands):

2008 .t e e e $ 2,116
2000 e e e e e e 2,006
.10 ) 1 2 AU 1,966
13 5 [ M 1,966
.01 3 O 1,894
37 £ 140 oA AU 2,423

$12,461

4. Redeemable Series D convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ equity

Initial Public Offering

On September 21, 2006, the SEC declared effective the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 for
its initial public offering. The Company completed the sale of 7,461,538 shares of its common stock on
September 27, 2006 at a price of $16.00 per share. JP Morgan Securities Inc., Banc of America Securities LLC,
Cowen and Company, 1.LC, Canaccord Adams Inc. and Montgomery & Co., LLC acted as the underwriters for
the offering.

The aggregate purchase price of the offering, exclusive of shares sold by selling stockholders in the offering,
was $119,385,000. The net offering proceeds received by the Company after deducting total estimated expenses,
including the underwriters” discount were $108,158,000. The Company incurred total estimated expenses in
connection with the offering of $11,227,000, which consisted of $2,527,000 in legal, accounting and printing
fees, $8,357,000 in underwriters’ discounts, fees and commissions, and $343,000 in miscellaneous expenses.

Upon closing of the Company’s initial public offering, 5,811,100 shares of outstanding redeemable
convertible preferred stock, and 25,256,370 shares of outstanding convertible preferred stock, converted into
16,649,881 shares of common stock.
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Series A, Series B, and Series C convertible preferred stock

Each share of Series A, Series B, and Series C preferred stock was convertible into .49, | and 1 shares of
common stock, respectively. The Series A, Series B, and Series C preferred stock automatically converted into
shares of common stock upon the closing of the Company’s initial public offering on September 21, 2006. In
addition, the terms included anti-dilution provisions whereby the conversion ratio would have been adjusted due
to stock splits, issuance of a stock dividend on outstanding shares of common stock or the issuance of equity
securities at a consideration per share less than the conversion price in effect immediately prior to such issuance,
subject to certain exceptions.

Dividends on the Series A, Series B and Series C preferred stock were non-cumulative, but if dividends
were declared, each share of Series A, Series B and Series C preferred stock was entitled to $0.1125, $0.02¢ and
$0.1859 per annum, respectively, on a pari passu basis, subject to the prior payment of stated dividends on the
Series D preferred stock and prior and in preference to payment of any dividends on the common stock. Holders
of the Series A, Series B and Series C preferred stock were entitled to vote together with holders of the common
stock on all matters brought before holders of the common stock, and with holders of other series of preferred
stock and separately as a class on certain other matters. Each share of Series A, Series B and Series C preferred
stock was entitled to a number of votes equal to the number of shares of common stock issuable upon conversion.

Subject to prior payment of the liquidation preference on the Series D preferred stock and prior and in
preference to the payment of any amounts in respect of common stock, (i} each share of Series A preferred stock
was entitled to a liquidation preference between $0 and $1.25 per share, depending upon the aggregate
liquidation value of the Company at the time of such liquidation, {ii) each share of Series B preferred stock was
entitled to a liquidation preference between $0 and $0.7252 per share, depending upon the aggregate liquidation
value of the Company at the time of such liquidation and (iii} each share of Series C preferred stock was entitled
to a liquidation preference of $2.3232 per share. To the extent there were proceeds available for distribution in
respect of the Series A, Series B and Series C preferred stock upon liquidation, such amounts would be applied
first to satisfy the Series C liquidation preference in full, then to satisfy the Series B liquidation preference in full,
and finally to satisfy the Series A liquidation preference in full. Proceeds on liquidation remaining after
satisfaction of such preferences would be distributed ratably to the holders of common stock and preferred stock
on an as-if converted basis, subject to certain limits on the aggregate amounts payable to the helders of the
Series C and Series D preferred stock. A liguidation included a merger, consolidation or sale of all or
substantially all of the assets of the Company, subject to certain exceptions,

Redeemable Series D cenvertible preferred stock

Each share of Series D preferred stock was converted into one share of common stock automatically upon
the closing of the Company’s initial public offering on September 21, 2006. In addition, the terms included anti-
dilution provisions whereby the conversion ratio would have been adjusted due to stock splits, issuance of a stock
dividend on outstanding shares of common stock or the issuance of equity securities at a consideration per share
less than the conversion price in effect immediately prior to such issuance, subject to certain exceptions,

Dividends on the Series D preferred stock were non-cumutative, but if dividends were declared, each share
of Series D preferred stock was entitled to $0.2337 per annum prior to and in preference to the payment of any
dividends on the Series A, Series B and Series C preferred stock and the common stock. Holders of the Series. D
preferred stock were entitled to vote together with the holders of the common stock on all matters brought before
holders of the common stock, and with holders of other series of preferred stock and separately as a class on
certain other matters. Each share of Series D preferred stock was entitled to a number of votes equal to the
number of shares of common stock issuable upon conversion. Each share of Series D preferred stock was entitled
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to a liguidation preference of $2.9216 per share prior and in preference to the payment of any amounts in respect
of Series A, Series B and Series C preferred stock and common stock. Proceeds on liquidation remaining after
satisfaction of liquidation preferences payable on the Series A, Series B, Series C and Series D preferred stock
would be distributed ratably to the holders of common stock and preferred stock on an as-if converted basis,
subject to certain limits on the aggregate amounts payable to the holders of the Series C preferred stock and
Series D preferred stock. A liquidation included a merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of the
assets of the Company, subject to certain exceptions.

In accordance with Accounting Series Release 268, Redeemable Preferred Stock, in periods outstanding the
Company has excluded the Redeemable Serics D Convertible Preferred Stock from its caption Stockholders’
Equity because redemption was outside the control of the Company. While the shares were redeemable on or
after a specified date at the option of the shareholder, the shareholder also could have converted into shares of
common stock of the Company at its option and the conversion was considered substantive. As such, the
Company considered the Redeemable Series D Convertible Preferred Stock contingently redeemable.

Stock options

In July 2006, the Company adopted its 2006 Equity Incentive Plan, or 2006 Plan, which became effective
immediately following the closing date of the Company’s initial public offering. A total of 7,577,336 shares of
common stock are reserved under the 2006 Plan as of December 31, 2007, such number is automatically
increased on January 1 of each year by the lesser of (i} five percent of the total number of shares of common
stock outstanding on December 31 of the previous year or (i) 5,000,000 shares of common stock, subject to
adjustments provided in the 2006 Plan, or such smaller amount of shares of common stock as the board of
directors or compensation committee may designate. Generally, options granted under the 2006 Plan are
exercisable for up to 10 years from the date of grant and vest over a four-year period. The Company also has a
2000 Stock Incentive Plan, or 2000 Plan. The Company has reserved 6,579,011 shares of common stock for
issuance under the 2000 Plan. Generally, options granted under the 2000 Plan are exercisable for up to 10 years
from the date of grant and vest over a four-year period. The 2000 Plan allows for early exercise of unvested
options. The Company does not make grants from the 2000 Plan. Upon the exercise of an option prior to vesting,
the Company has a right to repurchase such shares at the original exercise price to the extent that they have not
vested in accordance with the related option agreement. The consideration received for the exercise of an
unvested stock option granted is considered a deposit of the exercise price, and thus is a liability that is recorded
by the Company. The liability associated with this potential for repurchase, and the related shares, are only
reclassified into equity as the option award vests. As a result, the Company has recorded a liability of $356,000
and $114,000 as of December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively, for the unvested portion of early stock option
exercises.
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Following is a summary of all stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007

(in thonsands, except per share amounts):

Weighted Average
Remaining

Weighted-average  Contractual Term

-

Aggregate

Options exercise price {in years) Intrinsic Vale
Balance at December 31,2004 .. ............... 4,146 $ 024
Granted ......... ... . 744 1.12
Exercised ........... ... .. ... .. ..., (2,852) 0.23
Canceled ..... ... ... .. .. it _ﬂ )] 0.4%
Balance at December 31,2005 ,................ 1,697 $ 0.58
Granted ..................... e 999 10.40
Exercised ........ ... uiiiinun... (586) 0.71
Canceled ............ ... ... ... v, ﬂ ) 2.53
Balance at December 31,2006 . ................ 1,983 $ 536 7.7 $35,765
Granted . ...... .. e 4202 16.89
Exercised ............. .. i, {683) 1.68
Canceled ............... . .ccciiivint, (l_,2_5_7_ ) 16.73
Balance at December 31,2007 ................. 4,245 $14.04 8.9 $10,374
Vested at December 31,2007 ...... . ........... 1,000 % 8.70 7.4 $ 6,942
Vested at December 31,2006 .. ................ 898 $ 0.76 5.8 $20,028
Vested and expected to vest at December 31,
2007 e 3,891 $13.86 8.8 $10,124
Vested and expected to vest at December 31,
2006 .. e 1,873 $ 503 7.4 $34,365
Exercisable at December 31,2007 .............. 1,387 $ 7172 7.6 $10,363
73 $35,766

Exercisable at December 31,2006 .............. 1,756 § 270

Additional information regarding options outstanding for all plans as of December 31, 2007, is as follows

(in thousands, except per share data):

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted

Average ‘Weighted
Remaining  Average
Number Contractual  Exercise

Number

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding  Life (yrs.) Price Exercisable Price
$O12-1100 ... 853 6.6 $ 206 543 § 131
2001527 ... e 972 95 1426 150 13.77
SIS 71— 1705 1,215 9.5 16.44 201 17.13
S17.57 = 21,53 e 915 9.7 18.24 41 19.43
$23.60-2705 . ... ..., 290 3.9 25.14 65 25.76
Total ... e 4,245 $14.04 1,000 % 8.70
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The number of shares subject to options outstanding at December 31, 2006 and 2007 includes 452,391, and
122,887 shares at a weighted average exercise price of $0.79, and $0.93, respectively, that were unvested at
December 31, 2006 and 2007.

As of December 31, 2007, 988,530 and 5,946,687 shares were available for future grant under the 2000 Plan
and the 2006 Plan, respectively.

During October 2007, the Company’s former CEO, Jordan Greenhall resigned as an employee of the
Company and at the same time agreed 1o cancel 495,000 of unvested stock options. Due to Mr. Greenhall’s
continued services as a Director of the Company through December 19, 2007, which would not have required
him to cancel his options, the Company treated the cancellation as a modification of the agreement and recorded
a compensation charge of approximately $3.2 million to its statements of income during the fourth quarter of
2007.

Warrants

A summary of warrant activity is as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

December 31,
2005 2006 2007
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average

Number Exercise Number Exercise Number Exercise
of Warrants Price of Warrants Price of Warrants Price

Outstanding, beginning of year ......... 785 $1.30 788 $1.35 583 $ 1.00
Granted ....... ... .00 il 10 4.64 — — 100 16.14
Exercised ..........cooiiiiiinnn... (™M 0.73 (205) 234 {508} 0.73
Qutstanding, endof year .............. 788 $1.35 583 $1.00 175 $10.46

In connection with the execution of a format approval agreement in December 2007, the Company issued
warrants to buy 100,000 shares of common stock to Sony Pictures Television, Inc. These warrants may be
exercised at $16.14 per share at any time up to June 20, 2009. The fair value of these warrants at the date of
issuance was approximately $300,000, which is being expensed over the estimated useful life of the format fee
approval agreement, which is estimated to be five years.

The Company determined the value of warrants at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model based on the estimated fair value of the underlying stock, a volatility rate ranging from 42% to 100%, no
dividends, a risk-free interest rate ranging from 3% to 6%, and an expected life that coincides with the maximum
exercise periods of the warrants.

Shares of common stock reserved for issuance

As of December 31, 2006 and 2007, shares of common stock reserved for issuance were as follows (In
thousands):

December 31,

2006 2007
Common stock options outstanding . ............ ... il 1,983 4,245
Common stock options available forgrant .......... ... ... oo 7,005 6,935
WaImants ... ....iriie it et e 583 175
Total common shares reserved for future issuance ... . ............... 9,571 11,355
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5. Financing arrangement, excluding capital leases

The Company had a loan and security agreement consisting of a $10.0 million revolving line of credit for
working capital purposes and up to $2.0 million to finance eligible equipment whereby the Company could
receive term loans, due in 30 to 48 monthly installments. During 2007 these loan and security agreements
expired. As of December 31, 2006 $393,000 was outstanding under the equipment term loan agreement. Interest
was payable monthly at the bank’s prite rate plus 1.09%, not to go below 5.0%. The interest rate was 7.25% at
December 31, 2000.

The financing arrangement was secured by any and all certificates of deposit, money market accounts,
deposit accounts, investment accounts and/or other accounts held at the bank. The Company was required to
adhere to various reporting and administrative covenants, As of December 31, 2006 the Company was in
compliance with such covenants.

The financing arrangement was subject to events of default, including if (i} a material adverse change occurs
in the Company’s financial condition, (ii} the lender believes the prospect of payment or performance of the
indebtedness is impaired or (iii} the lender in good faith deems itself insecure. If an event of default occurred, all
amounts due under the revolving line of credit and term loan agreement would have become due and payable.

In conjunction with the acquisition of MainConcept, the Company assumed an overdraft facility and a bank
loan for $37,000 and $47,000, respectively, as of December 31, 2007. The overdraft facility bears interest at
rate of approximately 12% per annum and is payable upon demand. The bank loan is payable over a period of
two years ending in September 2009 and bears interest at a rate of 4.75% per annum.

6. Commitments

Leases

The Company has multiple capital and operating leases for facilities and equipment expiring through 2019,
Cost under capital Jeases was $1.9 million at December 31, 2006 and 2007. Accumulated amortization under
capital leases was $1,800,000 and $1,836,000 at December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively. Amortization of
equipment under capital lease obligations is included in depreciation expense. Some of the leases contain renewal
and purchase opticns. Rent expense under operating leases was $359,000, $818,000, and $1.0 million for the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2006, and 2007, respectively.

Future minimum payments under capital leases and non-cancelable operating leases with initial terms of one
year or more consists of the following at December 31, 2007 (in thousands):

Operating Capital

leases leases
2008 . e e $1,193 5 42
2009 . e 210 32
2000 . e e 74 —
-1 3 1 P 74 —
2002 e e 18 —
Total minimum lease payments . ......... .. ... ..cooiiiiian. $1,569 74
Less amount representing interest . . . ... ... .. c.viuutiineennn... (5
Present value of future minimum capital lease obligations .......... 69
Lessamountdue in One Year . .. .. ... .. u.iureneeerr e, (38)
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations .................... 31
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In June 2004, pursuant to an office lease agreement, the Company established a $250,000 letter of credit
which expires in March 2009, but automatically renews subsequent to March 2009 on a yearly basis unless the
Company is notified by the lender.

In January 2007, the Company entered into a lease agreement for approximately 30,000 square feet of
additional office space in San Diego that expires in July 2008. Minimum lease payments are estimated 1o be
approximately $420,000 for 2008, respectively.

7. Contingencies

Legal Matters

The Company has been involved in intellectual property litigation that has the potential to adversely affect
operating results. While the Company prevailed in such matters in the past, it may not prevai! in any such matters
in the future. Although the Company licenses intellectual property from a variety of sources, other owners of
intellectual property rights have sent notifications to the Company indicating that they believe that the Company
may be infringing on their intellectual property rights.

While the Company has filed patent applications, copyright applications and applications for trademark
registrations, these applications may not result in the issuance of patents, registered copyrights or trademarks, and
the Company may not be able 10 obtain all necessary intellectual property rights. Further, even if patents,
copyrights or trademarks are granted, other parties may contest the Company’s intellectual property rights.

On September 6, 2007, the Company filed a lawsuit secking a declaratory relief judgment against Universal
Music Group, Inc. and related entities, or UMG, in the United States District Court for the Southern District of
California. In the lawsuit the Company alleged that UMG has asserted claims of copyright infringement against
the Company arising from the operation of Stage6, its ontine video community service. The Company further
alleged that UMG claimed that the Digital Millennium Copyright Act, including without limitation its
notice-and-takedown procedures, was inapplicable to the activities of Stage6. The Company asked that the court
declare that it is not liable to UMG for copyright infringement based upon the operation of Stage6 or in the
alternative that any potential liability is barred by provisions of the Digital Millennium Copyright Act. UMG
responded by filing a lawsuit against the Company in the Central District of California on October 22, 2007
alleging copyright infringement and seeking monetary damages, and later sought to dismiss or transfer the
lawsuit that the Company initially filed in the United States District Court for the Southern District of California.
On February 5, 2008, the Court in the Southern District of California granted UMG’s motion to dismiss the
Company’s lawsuit. At this time, the parties are waiting for the Court to decide on the Company’s currently
pending motion to dismiss UMG's action in the Central District. The Company believes it has meritorious
defenses to UMG’s claims and will assert them vigorously, but litigation is inherently uncertain and there can be
no guarantee that it will prevail or that the litigation will not have material adverse consequences for the
Company; an unfavorable resolution of these proceedings could materially affect our future operating results or
financial conditions in particular periods.

The Company is also involved in various legal proceedings from time to time arising from the normal
course of business activities, including commercial, employment and other matters. In its opinion, resolution of
these proceedings is not expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s operating results or
financial condition. However, it is possible that an unfavorable resolution of one or more such proceedings could
materially affect the Company’s future operating resulis or financial condition in a particular period.
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8. Income taxes

Income before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 is comprised of the
following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2006 2091_
Domestic .. ..o e $3,357 §17.002 $9,573
Foreign . ... ... o i — —_ (1,359)

$3,357  $17,002 §$ 8,254

The components of the income tax provision were as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2005 2006 2007
(in thousands)
Current:
Federal ...... ... ... . i $ — $ 350 3% (959)
SHae . . 34 —_ 547
Foreign .. ..o e 1,028 2,312 3,400
Total current .. ... ... . e 1,062 2,862 2,993
Deferred
Federal .. ...... ... .. e —_ (1,624) {3,361)
R0 72 - 2 — (676) (523)
Foreigh ....... ... oot e — — (81
Totaldeferred ... ... i s —_ (2,300 (3,967
Total provision forincome taxes . ................. $1062 § 562 § (974)

The following is a reconciliation of the expected statutory federal income tax provision to the Company’s
actual income tax provision:

Year ended December 31, 2005 2006 2007
(in thousands)

Expected income tax provision at federal statutory tax rate ........ $LI75 $5950 $23882
State income tax provision, net of federal benefit ................ 193 977 16
Stock compensation ............ ... .o i, 164 472 320
Foreignincometaxes ......... ... ... ...t 1,028 2,312 3,298
Valuatton allowance . ... ...t e 33 (7,652 (742}
Tax credits . ..o e e (1,884) (3,211) (3,928
Reduction inreserves . ...... ... et iiiennnnaain,. — — (1,744)
Utilization of net operating loss carryforward ................... — — (1,825)
1 T 353 1,714 749
Income tax expense (benefit) .............. ... ... ..o, $1062 % 562 $ (974)
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2006 and 2007, are shown
below:

Year ended December 31, 2006 2007
(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Net operating loss carryforwards . .................. ... oo $ 176 $2,028
Stock based compensation . .......... . i 392 2,806
AcCrued EXPENSES . - .. ... e 388 1,579
AMOTtization EXPENSe ... ..o otirnnr i 150 1,406
Research and development and other tax credits . . ............. 1,288 —
Allowance for uncollectible sales and accounts ............... 580 745
Defertedrevenue .. ...t e 313 432
Deferred TENt . .ottt i e e e et e e 188 112
(715 7<) N 1= A U (107) 415
Total deferred 1aX 8S5€IS . ...ttt vt i ie it e e 3,368 9,523
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets ...................... (1,068} (320)
Netdeferred 1aX assels . ..ot r it ittt et i i ataianenene s $ 2300 $9,203
Deferred tax liabilities:
Purchased intangible assets . .......... .o iiiiii — 4,269
Total deferred tax liabilities . ..........cco . — 4,269
Total netdeferred 1aXeS . ... ... i e e e $2300 $4934

At December 31, 2007, the Company had U.S. federal and California tax net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $1.5 million and $600,000, respectively. The Company also has approximately $4.9 million of
foreign net operating loss carryforwards, which have a full valuation allowance as of December 21, 2007. The
1U.S. federal and California tax loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2021 and 2011, respectively, unless
previously utilized. The foreign net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in five years after the
NOL’s have been utilized. During 2007 the Company recorded an income tax benefit of approximately $1.8
million as a result of the completion of the Company’s Section 382/383 limitation analysis on the Company’s
deferred tax assets related to its net operating loss carryforwards and certain research and development credits. it
was determined that the remaining domestic net operating loss carryforwards will be limited to the utilization of
approximately $350,000 per year under Section 382.

At December 31, 2007, based on the weight of available evidence, including cumulative profitability in
recent years, the Company determined that it was more likely than not that a portion of its U.S. deferred tax
assets would be realized and, at December 31, 2007, eliminated $1.06 million of valuation allowance associated
with its U.S. deferred tax assets. The elimination of valuation allowance resulted in $1.06 million recognized as
an increase in earnings for the year ended December 31, 2007.

As a result of its acquisition of MainConcept AG during 2007 (see Note 11), the Company has recorded a
deferred tax assets of approximately $1.4 million related to foreign net operating loss carryforwards. At
December 31, 2007, the Company maintained a valvation allowance of $1.4 million on this deferred tax assets
due to the uncertainty of the Company’s ability to utilize this asset. Upon the determination of the Company’s
ability to utilize these deferred tax assets, such valuation allowance will be reversed against the income tax
provision as it relates to past acquisition losses. In addition, the Company also recorded a deferred tax liability of
approximately $3.1 million relating to purchased intangible assets.
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The Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48 (“FIN 48™), “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes an interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109,” on January 1, 2007. FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for
uncertain income tax positions recognized in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with Statement
SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” It provides that a company should use a more-likely-than-not
recognition threshold based on the technical merits of the income tax position taken. Income tax positions that
meet the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold should be measured in order to determine the tax benefit to
be recognized in the financial statements, As a result of adoption, the Company increased its accrual for
unrecognized tax benefits by $2.4 million primarily related to research and development credits and a reduction
in retained earnings of the same amount. During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company completed its
documentation process to support its research and development credits previously reserved under the adoption of
FIN 48. After the Company completed the documentation process, it had determined that it was more likely than
not that approximately $1.7 million of the tax benefits for the research and development tax credits should be
recognized and accordingly, the Company recorded a reduction to its FIN 48 accrual of $1.7 million and a
corresponding decrease in current income tax expense.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in
thousands):

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at January 1,2007 ....................... $ 3,151
Increases related to current year tax positions .............c..ceieeiinennn, 135
Reversal of accrued unrecognized tax benefits .. ... ... ... ... ... ... .. ... .... {2,019)
Decrease in unrecognized tax benefits for years priort0 2007 . ................ (641)
Lapse in statute of limitations .. ....... . ... . ... ... . it —
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December 31,2007 . ................... $ 626

All of the unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate. The Company does
not anticipate there will be a significant change in the unrecognized tax benefits within the next 12 months.

It is the Company’s practice to include interest and penalties that relate to income tax matters as a
component of income tax expense. Including the cumulative effect of adopting FIN 48, $12,000 of interest and
$0 of penalties were accrued as of January 1, 2007.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. and various foreign and state jurisdictions. Due to net operating loss
and research and development credit carryovers from earlier years, we are subject to income tax examination by
tax authorities from our inception to date.

Tax benefits of $825,000 and $60,000 for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively,
related 1o employee stock compensation programs were credited to stockholders’ equity.

9. Employee retirement plan

Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted a 401(k) defined contribution retirement plan covering all
employees who have compleied one month of service. Participants may contribute up to 15% of annual
compensation. The Company may, at its sole discretion, match dollar for dollar up to 2% of gross wages. For the
years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, there were no matching contributions made by the Company.
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10. Segment information and concentration of risk

Segment information

The Company’s operations are located primarily in the United States, and most of its assets are located in
San Diego, California. The Company operates in one segment. Our chief operating decision-maker reviews our
operating results on an aggregate basis and manages our operations as a single operating segment. Revenues are
derived from product shipments to different geographies in the following manner:

Year Ended December 31,
2005 2006 2007
{in thousands)
North AMENiCa ...\t iienr s $ 7406 $14.426 $19,140
Europe ... o 6,616 6,597 15,532
ASIA . . 18,596 37,336 49,865
Restofworld ......... ... 0., 429 966 325
Total L. e $33,047 $59,325 $84.,862

Concentration of risk

The Company has historically generated a substantial amount of its revenue from international sales. Any
significant decline in the Company’s international sales could have a material adverse effect on its business,
financial condition and results of operations.

For the years 20035, 2006 and 2007, the Company’s revenues outside North America comprised 78%, 76%
and 77%, respectively, of its 1otal net revenues. In addition, a large number of such consumer hardware device
manufacturers are located in Asia, which comprised 36%, 63% and 59% of the Company’s total net revenues for
2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.

11. Business Acquisitions and Combinations

Corporate Green

In March 2006 the Company acquired all of the assets of Corporate Green, a general partnership that
developed an enline community platform but had not commenced its principal operations and had not generated
any revenue through the date of the acquisition. The total purchase price for the acquisition was valued at
$659.000 and consisted of $431,000 in cash and 34,824 fully vested shares of the Company’s common stock,
valued at $228,000. In addition to the purchase price, the Company issued to the former partners of Corporate
Green 69,651 restricted shares of its common stock which vested upon the occurrence of certain events. Upon the
earlier of December 31, 2006, March 31, 2007 and June 30, 2007 and the occurrence of certain performance
milestones, and subject, in the case of the latter two events, to continued employment, the Company would pay
an aggregate of $104,000, $104,000 and $31,000, respectively, in cash to the three former Corporate Green
partners. At December 31, 2007, these milestones had been completed and the associated 65,798 restricted shares
of common stock vested and the milestone payments of $239,000 had been paid. The remaining 3,853 restricted
shares are expected to vest during 2008. In accordance with EITF Issue No. 95-8, Accounting for Contingent
Consideration Paid to Shareholders of an Acquired Enterprise in a Purchase Business Combination, these
deferred cash payments and the restricted stock were recorded as compensation expense in the period in which
they are earned, as the payment of additional amounts and vesting of shares are directly linked to continued
employment with the Company.
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The total purchase price, including other acquisition related costs was $659,000 and has been allocatecl as
foliows:

Developed Technology . ...t e et erraaeas $ 46,000
Assembled Workforce .. ... ... ... e 613,000

$659,000
The above amounts were amortized to expense over the estimated useful lives of approximately 1.25 vears.

Veatros

In July 2007, the Company acquired all of the assets of Veatros, L.L.C., or Veatros, a limited liability
company engaged in real-time digital video processing for the purposes of producing enhanced video search and
discovery services. At the time of acquisition, the operations of Veatros had been wound down and no
development projects were in-process. The acquisition was accounted for as an acquisition of assets in
accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force 1ssue No. 98-3, Determining Whether a Nonmonetary Transaction
Involves Receipt of Productive Assets or of a Business. The total purchase price for the acquisition is up to $4.3
million comprised of an initial upfront cash payment of $2.0 million, which the Company made in July 2037, and
subsequent cash payments up to $2.3 million upon the achievement of certain technology related milestones. The
Company did not acquire any tangible assets or assume any liabilities as a result of the acquisition. The Company
allocated the initial cash payment of $2.0 million, along with the first two milestones of $1.0 million, and
$31,000 of acquisition related costs, for total purchase consideration of approximately $3.0 million to the one
identifiable intangible asset, a patented technology license. The asset is being amortized over the remaining life
of the patented technology license, approximately 8 years.

In July 2007, subsequent to the asset purchase, the Company’s board of directors approved a plan to
separate its Stage6 operations into a separate private entity, and in early 2008 Stage6 was shut down. As a
significant portion of the benefit from the acquired patented technology license was originally 1o be derived from
Stage6 future activities, the Company evaluated the intangible asset for impairment as of December 31, 2007 in
accordance with Statement of SFAS No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets
based on the projected benefits solely attributable to our core consumer electronics business. Based on the
Company’s revised forecasts excluding the Stage6 future activities and discounting the cash flows attributable to
our core consumer electronics business, the Company concluded that the carrying amount of the asset was not
fully recoverable and an impairment charge equal to approximately $3.0 million was recorded in 2007 in he
consolidated statements of income, as the acquired patented technology license was considered to have a
recoverable value of approximately $60,000.

MainConcept

In November 2007, the Company acquired MainConcept AG, or MainConcept, a German-based provider of
audio and video codec technology. In exchange for all outstanding shares of capital stock, the Company gaid
approximately $22.6 millicn. The purchase price, including acquisition costs of $200,000, was $16.4 million in
cash, 88,940 shares of the Company’s common stock, which was valued at approximately $1.6 million as of the
date of the transaction, and outstanding loans extended to MainConcept by one of its shareholders that the
Company also purchased for an aggregate amount of approximately $4.4 million. In addition, the purchase
agreement provides for additional payments of up to approximately $5.6 million upon the achievement by
MainConcept of certain product development goals and certain financial milestones during 2008. If additional
payments are made, the consideration will be recorded as additional purchase price and allocated to goodwill.
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The purchase price allocations are shown below (in thousands):

Cash and INVestmeNtS . . ... it i i e e e e e $ 433
Accounts receivable ... ... e e 594
OLher CUITENE @S58 . ..ttt ittt et e e ettt et e et e et 162
Property and equipment . ... ... ... .. i e 419
Accounts payable and accrued eXpenses ... ... .........tiiiiiaeie ., (1,120)
Deferred tax liability, net .. . ... ... . i i (3,119)
Long-temdebt .. ... .. ... e (295)
Other long-term labilities ............ .. .. i, (25)
Net tangible liabilities . ...... ... ... ... ... .. . (2,951
Developedtechnologies ......... ... .. o i 11,337
L0 R 0 11l T 1,400
Trade name .. ... ... e e e 1,800
Goodwill ... e 11,000
Total purchase price . ... ... . . i e $22,586

The gocedwill recorded for the acquisition of MainConcept is not currently deductible for tax purposes (see Note 8),
and will be assessed annually for impairment. The identifiable intangible assets will be amortized over the remaining
useful lives of five to seven years for developed technologies, six years for tier I customer lists, two years for tier I1
customer lists. The acquired trade name and goodwill will not be amortized but assessed annually for impairment.

12. Selected quarterly financial data (unaudited)

The following table presents selected quarterly financial information for the periods indicated. This information
has been derived from the Company’s unaudited quarterly consolidated financial statements, which in the opinion of
management include all adjustments necessary for a fair statement of such information. In addition to normal recurring
adjustments, 2006 includes the elimination of $7.7 million of valuation allowance associated with the Company’s
deferred tax assets with the greatest effect occurring in the fourth quarter of 2006. The 2007 quarterly financial results
include the reversal of approximately $4.1 million of tax reserves and the elimination of the valuation allowance on
deferred tax assets in the fourth quarter of 2007 and an impairment charge of $3.0 million in the third quarter of 2007.
The quarterly per share amounts presented below were calculated separately and may not sum to the annual figures
presented in the consolidated statements of income. These operating results are also not necessarily indicative of results
for any future period.
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DivX, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Contimied)

2007
(0] ] Q2 Q3 Q4 Total
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Netrevenues .. ..o vt ir e e c e e ea i e $20,218 $18,279 $21,895 $24470 384,862
Grossprofit . .. ..o vvtt e e 19,109 17,302 20,887 23,085 80,383
Income (loss) from operations ........................ 4,157 (341) (779)  (2,680) 357
Income (loss) before income taxes ..................... 6,060 1,683 1,249 (758) 8,234
NELINCOME & oottt ettt et et e et e et 3,600 1,003 gl16 3,729 9,208
Net income per share:

BaSiC oottt $ 011 $ 003 % 002 3% 011 § 027

Diluted ... 0.10 0.03 0.02 011 0.2¢

2006
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

NEETEVENUES . . .\ ot i ittt e eeaeae et iananaenraaen- $14,099 $13,174 $15395 $16,657 $59,325
Grossprofit . ... ..o e 13,147 12,179 14,427 15,584 55,337
Income from OPerations ................ccvviirerans, 3,993 2,706 3,648 3,666 14,013
Income before incometaxes ... ... ..o, 4,260 3,058 4121 5,563 17,002
NetinCOmE ... . ittt et e i nace e aean 3,279 2,666 3,100 7.395 16,440
Net income per share:

BaSiC v oot e e $ 014 $ 011 $ 012 $ 022 $ 07

Diluted ...... .. e 0.11 0.09 0.10 0.21 0.61

13. Recent Events (unaudited)

In February 2008, the Company shut down Stage6, the Company’s online service that allowed users to
publish and download video content. Based on the board of directors’ plan to separate its Stage6 operations into &
separate private entity in 2007, the Company evaluated the intangible assets associated with Stage6, including the
intangible assets associated with the Veatros acquisition (see Note 11), for impairment as of December 31, 2007
in accordance with Statement of SFAS No. 144, and concluded that the carrying amount of the asset was not
fully recoverable.

The Company’s short-term investments included $17.7 million of auction rate securities as of December 31,
2007. Through March 11, 2008, the Company had 13 issues fail at auction with a par value of $20.2 million. The
Company believes the auction rate securities are not currently impaired as the underlying assets are substantially
backed by the federal government. The Company has the ability to hold these auction rate debt securities until
maturity. Based on the Company’s ability to access its cash and other short-term investments, its expected
operating cash flows and other sources of cash, the Company does not anticipate the lack of liquidity on these
investments to affect its ability to operate our business as usual.
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DivX, Inc.
SCHEDULE II—VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 (in thousands)

Balance at Deductions

beginning Charged to from Balance at
Allowance for Uncollectible Sales and Accounts of year operations  allowance  end of year
For the year ended December 31,2005 ..................... $1,041 $ 898 $ (976) $ 963
For the year ended December 31,2006 ..................... 963 1,685 (1,224) 1,424
For the year ended December 31,2007 ... .................. 1,424 968 (483) 1,909
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
[, Kevin Hell, certify that:

I, T have reviewed this Annua! Report on Form 10-K of DivX, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; :

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are respongible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this repont is being prepared;

b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal contro} over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the reglstrant s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2008 By: s/ KEVIN HELL
Kevin Hell
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Dan L. Halvorson, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of DivX, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state
a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such
statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the
registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4, The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procecures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant,
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly
during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal contro! over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over finzncial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end
of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board
of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal conirol over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

b} Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have @
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 14, 2008 : By: /s DaN L. HALVORSON
Dan L. Halvorson
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION %06 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted), Kevin Hell, the
Chief Executive Officer of DivX, Inc. (the “Company’), hereby certifies that, to the best of his knowledge:

1. The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2007, to which this
Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.1 (the *Annual Report™), fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Annual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition of the Company at the end of the period covered by the Annuval Report and results of
operations of the Company for the period covered by the Annual Report.

Dated: March 14, 2008

By: /8! Kevin HELL

Kevin Hell
Chief Executive Officer

THIS CERTIFICATION “ACCOMPANIES” THE ANNUAL REPORT, IS NOT DEEMED FILED WITH THE
SEC AND IS NOT TO BE INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE INTO ANY FILING OF THE COMPANY
UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934, AS AMENDED (WHETHER MADE BEFORE OR AFTER THE DATE OF THE ANNUAL REPORT),
IRRESPECTIVE OF ANY GENERAL INCORPORATION LANGUAGE CONTAINED IN SUCH FILING. A
SIGNED ORIGINAL OF THIS CERTIFICATION HAS BEEN PROVIDED TO THE COMPANY AND WILL
BE RETAINED BY THE COMPANY AND FURNISHED TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION OR ITS STAFF UPON REQUEST.




Exhibit 2.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted}, Dan L.
Halvorson, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of DivX, Inc. (the “Company™), hereby certifies
that, to the best of his knowledge:

1. The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2007, to which th:s
Certification is attached as Exhibit 32.2 (the “Annual Report™), fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a} or Section 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

2. The information contained in the Arnual Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition of the Company at the end of the period covered by the Annual Report and results of
operations of the Company for the period covered by the Annual Report.

Dated: March 14, 2008

By: /s/ DAN L. HALVORSON

Dan L. Halvorson
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

THIS CERTIFICATION “ACCOMPANIES” THE ANNUAL REPORT, IS NOT DEEMED FILED WITH THE
SEC AND IS NOT TO BE INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE INTO ANY FILING OF THE COMPANY
UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, OR THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934, AS AMENDED (WHETHER MADE BEFORE OR AFTER THE DATE OF THE ANNUAL REPORT),
IRRESPECTIVE OF ANY GENERAL INCORPORATION LANGUAGE CONTAINED IN SUCH FILING. A
SIGNED ORIGINAL OF THIS CERTIFICATION HAS BEEN PROVIDED TO THE COMPANY AND WILL
BE RETAINED BY THE COMPANY AND FURNISHED TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION OR ITS STAFF UPON REQUEST.
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